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Our History / Welcome

Moriah College is an independent, co-educational modern
Orthodox Jewish school, which prides itself on providing the
highest standard of Jewish education.
Offering Preschool, Primary, Middle and High School
education, Moriah aspires to achieve consistently excellent
academic standards. Year after year, our HSC results are up
there with the best.
Moriah College also embraces the belief that education does
not stop at academic learning. A knowledge of our Jewish
traditions, ethics and family values, a positive commitment
to modern Judaism and a love for the State of Israel help to
ensure our young people become caring, active, responsible
members of the community.

HISTORY
Founded in 1943 by the Late Mr Abraham Isaac Rabinovitch,
Moriah College is an independent, co-educational modern
Orthodox Jewish Day School, providing the highest standard
of secular and Jewish education from Preschool through to
H.S.C level.
In 1951, when Moriah opened its Vivian Street, Bellevue Hill
campus, it was a Primary School of 26 students and four
teachers. Today Moriah, with a total enrolment in excess of
1800 is one of the leading Jewish Day schools not only in
Australia, but of the English speaking world.

On 13 April, 1994, Moriah College’s High School moved from
its Vivian Street, Bellevue Hill premises to the new High School
constructed at Queens Park. On the same day, our Primary
School (Years 3-6) also moved in to the Queens Park site and
in so doing, the Late Abraham Rabinovitch’s dream that one
day Sydney would have a Jewish Day School “which would
rival any in the wider Community”, was realised.

MISSION STATEMENT
“Moriah College aspires to achieve excellent academic
standards by promoting the intellectual, spiritual, moral,
social and physical development of the students. We strive
to foster critical thought, cultural interests, tolerance, social
responsibility and self-discipline. The total development of all
our students remains our overall concern - helping them to
proudly realize their full potential as Jews, and as Australians.”

ENROLMENT POLICY (K-12)
Qualification for Enrolment - Moriah College (“College”)
is a co-educational Modern Orthodox Zionist Jewish Day
School committed to teaching the love for and knowledge of
Orthodox Jewish philosophy and practice, and encouraging
their implementation. The College has a longstanding policy
of only accepting for enrolment, any child who is Jewish
in accordance with halacha (Jewish Law) and the rulings of
the Sydney Beth Din, or a child who is, or whose mother is,
undergoing a conversion process supervised by the Sydney
Beth Din.
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WELCOME

EDUCATIONAL GOALS
Moriah not only aspires to achieve excellence in academic
standards, but maintains and promotes among its students
an awareness of and a feeling for Jewish traditions and ethics,
an understanding of and a positive commitment to Orthodox
Judaism and identification with and love for Israel.
Moriah creates a stimulating and caring environment for each
student, provides a rich Jewish social and cultural experience
and offers wide-ranging support services for its students,
including counselling programs for children with special
needs and careers information and advice.

DUAL CURRICULUM
Moriah College offers a dual curriculum of Secular and
Jewish Studies. It provides secular education which exceeds
the standards required by the various New South Wales
authorities. At the same time, it provides a comprehensive
and enriching Jewish Studies curriculum, faithful to the
College’s founding philosophy.
Both curricula are compulsory and the College views the dual
system as embodying the totality of the learning experiences
to which the student is exposed.
The educational program at Moriah College recognises the
individual needs and interests of the students as well as the
needs of the Community – maintaining a balance between
the need to preserve and the need to respond to social,
economic and cultural change.

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
Moriah College is operated by the Moriah War Memorial
College Association and The Moriah War Memorial Jewish
College Association Limited.

Under its constitutions, the Associations’ Board of
Management is responsible for the direction, control, decision
making and development of the College. Membership of the
Associations is available to any person of the Jewish faith,
other than teachers employed by the Association.
In broad terms, the Board of Management is required to
formulate and develop College policy, arrange funding of the
College’s operations, present the College to the Community
at large and to make known the ethos, aims and objectives of
the College.
The Board of Management comprises an executive, members
of the Board and the President of the P & F Association. The
College Principal and the Head of Corporate Services attend
meetings of the Executive and the Board. Life Patrons can
attend meetings of the Board.
There are three general areas of responsibility of the Board of
Management:

r The responsible management of the College on behalf
of Members of the Associations and the realisation of
the objectives of the Associations.

r Development and assessment of overall policies.
r The selection of the College Principal, Dean of
Jewish Life and Learning and the Head of Corporate
Services, and also representation in the selection and
appointment of Heads of Schools.
Delegated to the College Principal is the responsibility for
interpreting and implementing the aims and objectives
consistent with the ethos of the College and the policies
formulated by the Board. The College Principal is given
authority, inter alia for:

r The operation of the College within a policy framework
set down by the Board and within the budgets
approved by the Board.

r Engagement and dismissal of teaching staff and
providing them with direction, management, guidance
and supervision.

r The determination of the teaching practices which
are to be applied in addition to the educational
opportunities to be offered.

r Spiritual and pastoral care of and overall guidance to,
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students and the disciplinary practices which are to
apply.

r Generally maintaining high morale and school spirit of
both pupils and teaching staff within the College.
Further information regarding the school context that is
publicly available including student background, school
staff, enrolments, senior secondary outcomes and VET can be
found at the My School Website www.myschool.edu.au
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President’s Report

INTRODUCTION

PRIMARY SCHOOL ENROLMENTS

It is with much pride that I present my first report on the
College’s activities for the 2012/2013 year on behalf of the
Board of Management.

We are facing increasing competition from the public
school sector, which is having a significant impact on our
enrolments. Our Year K intake of 70 in 2013 is less than our
average intake of over 95 students. The College Principal
is undertaking a strategic review of the Primary School
to enable us to better articulate the benefit of a Moriah
K-12 education and to find opportunities to improve our
product.

Late last year, Moriah underwent a change of leadership.
Firstly, the Board unanimously supported the appointment
of John Hamey as Principal of Moriah College. The Board
appointed John to this critical role, firm in the belief that he
would lead Moriah from being a good School to becoming
a great School, and improve the level of both Jewish and
Secular education within the constraints of being an
affordable School.
Shortly thereafter, I took on the role of President. When
I assumed the role of Presidency I shared with the Board
my thoughts and ideas on leading the Board, particularly
as it related to the Board’s role in assisting and enabling
the realisation of John Hamey’s vision of Moriah as a great
school.
John and I shared the view that in order to achieve a school
of greatness we needed to change the culture within the
school, and to create a culture that has the appropriate
balance of Co-operation, Inspiration, Achievement and
Consistency. While maintaining the core values of our
history, we need to shift the culture of the College by
becoming an organisation that can evolve and adapt. I
believe that the tone and culture of the College is set and
led by the Board, and thus the Board needed to set the
example and lead the school down this path.
In the context of this view, I asked the Board to determine
our top three priorities. There was significant agreement
on the following:

GOVERNANCE
It has been the responsibility of the Board, both past and
present, to ensure that the Board operates and is governed
by the most appropriate and up to date Governance
model. With this in mind, the Board agreed that it was
necessary to refresh and modernise the Governance model
on which the Board operates. .
The Board is now preparing for the stage of the College life
and has been working on bringing a new Constitution to
its members. Our current Constitution has served us well
and has successfully brought us to where we are today.
The school over many decades has evolved and adapted to
take on the challenges of the time.
To achieve this, the Board has also agreed that it needed
to change from being a Board of Management, dealing
with operational issues, to a Board, focussing on strategy
and oversight. The Board wanted to ensure that it is
focussed on Evolving, Adapting and Inspiring, rather
than Complying, Constraining and Controlling. The Board
took the step to rewrite the Constitution to be more
aligned with modern, best practice Governance principles
contextualised for a Jewish communal educational
organisation. Such a Constitution will enable Moriah to
continue to attract the best possible leadership for the
College Board, which in turn will create and maintain the
optimal culture for our School.
To ensure that we drew upon best practice in Communal,
Corporate and Educational governance, the Committee
was comprised of the following people, all of whom have
extensive experience in the area of communal and/or
corporate governance:
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Giora Friede – College President

AFFORDABILITY

r Chair: Mr David Balkin AM [former Moriah Vice
President, JCA President, led JCA review of communal
governance]

The Board is completely aware that many families are
struggling to pay the rising costs of school fees. Our
challenge as a Board is to manage and balance the
inherent tensions that exist in the Triangular Paradox
below. I borrowed this from Adrian Gore, the recent past
Chairman of King David Schools in South Africa. There is
a tension that exists between being a community school,
a school that is affordable and a school that achieves
excellence. I believe that that we cannot compromise on
being a school of excellence.
Triangular Paradox – Inherent tensions
Community (subsidies)

r Mr Giora Friede [President]
r Dr Sue Morris [Vice President]

Aff
ord
ab
ilit
y

ess
Acc

r Mr Robert Goot AM SC [Chair of Trustees, Board
Member, Life Patron, former President]

r Mr Robert Simons OAM [ Life Patron & Trustee,
former President]

r Mr Steven Glanz [former Vice President]
r Mr Brian Schwartz [former Moriah Treasurer, Chair of

Excellence

Mr Robert Gavshon (Trustee and former President) was
also asked to assist in reviewing the “objects” of the
Constitution.
After several meetings and many hours of discussion
and debate, the Constitution Committee presented its
key issues and recommendations to the Board for its
consideration.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express sincere
thanks to Members of the Constitution Committee and, in
particular, to Mr Balkin AM for chairing the Committee.
The entire Board has worked together with great goodwill
and commitment, often agreeing, sometimes respectfully
differing, always united in a common dedication to Moriah.
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The Board intends to bring a new Constitution to the
members in June or July 2013. As a new Constitution
requires the support of 75% of members voting in order to
be accepted, I urge you to support this exciting initiative,
which will enable Moriah to adopt a modern Constitution.

(fees)
Mediocrity

the Moriah Foundation]

r Mr Steven Lowy AM [CEO Westfield, Major Patron]

Sustainability

(results)

We have established a special Sub-Committee to focus
on this critical area of affordability consisting of Board
members Joey Fridman (Chair), Giora Friede, Stephen
Jankelowitz, Mark Schneider, Gavin Sher and Simon
Wilkenfeld. Co-opted members of the Affordability SubCommittee include Mr Daniel Goulburn (Trustee, past Vice
President and Treasurer) and parent Mr Darren Miller. The
task of this sub-committee is to examine the cost structure
of the school and how to ensure that school fee increases
remain a minimum, without impacting the quality of
education for which Moriah is renowned.

BOARD MEMBERS
At the AGM in May 2012, we farewelled Vice President
Mr Tony Ryba who retired from the Board having made
substantial contributions over a long period of time.
Tony was a Member of the Board from 2000 to 2006, and
2008 to 2012, including terms as Honorary Treasurer
(2005-2006) and College Vice President (2011-2012). Tony
was an important member of the team that successfully
negotiated the purchase of the Land from the State
Government. Tony continues to remain involved as a coopted member of the Building & Infrastructure Committee,
as well as having recently being appointed to the
Foundation Board.
We also farewelled Board Members Mr Mark Friedgut,
Mrs Monica Saunders-Weinberg and Mrs Linda Kugel,
the President of the P&F. Special thanks to Linda Kugel
for her five years of service and for leading the P&F in the
outstanding manner she did. I thank them all for the time
and commitment that they gave to Moriah.
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My appointment to the position of College President
followed the resignation of Mr Mark Schneider on 31
October 2012, due to external commitments. Mark
continues to assist the Board through his role as Immediate
Past President, and focus his involvement in the areas of
Jewish Life and Finance.
On behalf of the Board of Management, I wish to extend
thanks and gratitude to Mark for his hard work and
numerous achievements over many years as President,
Treasurer, Vice President and Immediate Past President.
Mr Roger Kaye, formerly the Immediate Past President, was
appointed to fill the role of Vice President. I would like to
thank Roger for stepping back into an executive role.
I would like to thank all members of the Board for their
dedication and hard work during the year. I especially
would like to thank this Board for having the courage
and strength to drive the adoption of a new and modern
constitution and the cultural changes it will bring both the
Board and the School.

THE MORIAH FOUNDATION
I am really proud to report that the Moriah Foundation is
gaining traction and already adding much value to the
Moriah Community.
In 2012, the Foundation raised money to help students
who wanted to participate in the Israel Study Tour, but
could not afford to do so. The Foundation provided several
bursaries and interest free loans for families that applied.
The Foundation is now focused on raising funds for our
Bursary program. We have already raised seven Primary
School bursaries for Years K to 5 and one full Bursary for
Years K to 12.
I would like to express my sincere thanks to the Foundation
Board, in particular the Foundation Chair, Mr Brian
Schwartz AM and Foundation President, Mrs Judy Lowy for
their total commitment to building Moriah’s Foundation
and thereby ensuring the sustainability of the College. I
commend to you the Report of The Moriah Foundation.

GOVERNMENT FUNDING
There has been a lot of press on the Gonski Report and
the effect it will have on Private schools. Moriah works
closely with the Australian Council of Jewish Schools who
represent all Jewish Day Schools at Government level on
an ongoing basis in relation to consultations, the lobbying
process and submissions provided to the Government and
the bureaucrats.
The following is the advice we currently have received from
the Executive Director, Mr Len Hain:
The Gonski Report proposes funding to each school (whether
government or non-government) based on student need
and educational and other measured disadvantages. The
ACJS supports those funding principles. The Gonski Report
proposes a base funding level based on socioeconomic status
(a measure of parent income, educational attainment and
occupation) plus loadings for each student with a disability,
exceptionally low income levels, higher than average
numbers of indigenous students, a home language other than
English, and the size of a school. Schools that are assessed
and would not gain from the introduction of the Gonski
proposals are classified as “transitional”.
The Education Department has produced models that have
changed significantly over time. Even the latest of those
models, in our view, provides an insufficient proportion of the
available funding to base funding (as against the loadings)
and an inequitable allocation to non-government schools. We
also take the view that the definitions being used to measure
disadvantage for which the loadings are paid are too narrow.
We are hopeful that Jewish schools, including Moriah, will
be able to deal with these issues through the agreed appeals
process. The Government has already agreed on an appeal
and we are currently working on the details.
The ACJS notes most of the Jewish Day schools, including
Moriah, will be “transitional schools” under the Gonski
models. If the current Bill is enacted, we understand from the
commitments given by the Government, that Moriah, along
with other transitional schools, will receive the value of their
2013 funding plus annual indexation of at least 3% each year
for the next funding period (6 years) and beyond. The ACJS,
on behalf of Moriah and other Jewish schools, is continuing to
advocate to ensure that present funding levels continue, with
real cost indexation, as well as ensuring that a robust appeal
process is also implemented so that disadvantage where
identified and acknowledged can be considered.
On behalf of the College, I wish to extend our sincere
thanks to Co-Chairs, Justice Stephen Rothman AM and
Mr Daniel Goulburn, and Executive Director, Mr Len Hain
for their representation.
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Dr Sue Morris and I were appointed as the new Vice
Presidents, with Mr Oliver Freedman taking on the role of
Honorary Secretary. We welcomed, Mr Gavin Sher, Mrs Miri
Sonnabend and Mr Robert Goot AM SC (Life Patron and
Trustee) to the Board, together with Mrs Lauren Ehrlich, in
her role as the new President of the P&F. The continuing
Board Members, Mrs Tara Ende, Mr Joey Fridman, Mr Alex
Gelman, Mrs Judy Lowy, Dr Sam Roberts, Mrs Terri Solsky
and Mr Simon Wilkenfeld have all continued to take on
important responsibilities on the Board.

LAPIN ESTATE
During 2012 the College received an interim distribution
from the Estate of the Late Norman Lapin amounting to
just under $800K. Mr Norman Lapin was a Board Member
from 1967 to 1969. We are very appreciative of the
commitment that former Board Members, Moriah parents
and grandparents show by bequeathing amounts in their
Estate to assist education, at Moriah, in to the future. We
are hopeful that this generous commitment will be the
forerunner of future bequests to the College by members
of our community.

TRUSTEES
In May 2012, Mr Philip Simons resigned as Chairman of
Trustees. A presentation was made to Mr Philip Simons
by the Moriah College Associations at its Annual General
Meetings held in May 2012, in recognition of his dedication
and commitment to the College from 1967 to 2012,
notably as: a Vice President from 1984 to 1989; a Trustee
from 1987 to 2012; a Life Governor from 1997; and as
Chairman of Trustees from 2004 to 2012.
Mr Robert Goot AM SC was appointed to the position of
Chairman of Trustees. We wish Robert B’Hatzlacha Raba
and congratulate him on his appointment as Chairman.
At the same Annual General Meetings, the appointment of
Mr Graham Einfeld OAM as a Trustee of the Moriah College
Building Funds was confirmed. Graham is a Life Governor
of the Associations and Past Vice President and Honorary
Treasurer of the College. This is a significant honour that
is richly deserved. I am sure you would wish to join me in
extending a hearty Mazal Tov to Graham.

APPOINTMENT OF JOHN HAMEY TO THE
POSITION OF COLLEGE PRINCIPAL

Our School

In September 2012, the Board of Management was
delighted to announce the appointment of Mr John
Hamey as Moriah College Principal.
John has been an Executive member of staff at Moriah
for more than five years and during this time has truly
become a much loved and highly respected member of
the Moriah Family. It is an extraordinary feeling to be able
to make an announcement of this sort, knowing that staff,
students and parents alike will universally embrace it. This
is a testament to the qualities and capabilities that John
brings to his appointment, which have already been amply
demonstrated at Moriah. John’s transition into the role is a
natural one as it builds on his already extensive experience
in educational leadership.
We congratulate John on his achievements at Moriah and
on his appointment as College Principal. We look forward
with confidence to Moriah continuing to grow from
strength to strength under John’s leadership.
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APPOINTMENT OF RABBI BENJI LEVY TO
THE POSITION OF DEAN OF JEWISH LIFE &
LEARNING
Following the resignation of Mr Brett Kaye from his
position of Head of Jewish Life and Learning, the
recruitment and appointment of a Dean of Jewish Life and
Learning became a key task of the College Principal and
Board of Management.
An interim structure – the Jewish Life & Learning
Management Team - was established to maintain and grow
the Jewish Life and Learning at Moriah while the search
was being conducted. This was comprised of Ronnen
Grauman, who was appointed Acting Director of Jewish
Studies, Rabbi Benji Levy, who was appointed Acting
Director of Informal Jewish Education together with Rabbi
Solomon, Debbie Conn (Director of Ivrit), Itzik Sztokman
(Director of Jewish Studies), Sandy Koonin (COS Ivrit) and
Sally Weiser (Coordinator of Jewish Life & Learning Middle
School). This team has met fortnightly and is chaired by the
College Principal.
A Dean of Jewish Life & Learning Selection Committee
(DJLLSC) was formed, chaired by Vice President, Dr Sue
Morris and Members of the Board, Mr Oliver Freedman,
Mrs Judy Lowy, Mr Mark Schneider and Mrs Terri Solsky.
Co-opted members were Mr Michael Benstock (Jewish
Studies teacher), Dr Hilton Immerman OAM and Rabbi
David Freedman. The College President and College
Principal were ex-officio members.
The Committee employed the services of Darren Challis,
a recruitment specialist, to ensure that the process was
run professionally. After an extensive global search and
rigorous recruitment process, at its February 2013 meeting,
the Board endorsed the DJLLSC’s recommendation to
appoint Rabbi Benji Levy to the position of Dean of Jewish
Life and Learning at Moriah College and Kehillat Moriah.
Rabbi Levy is already a valued and respected member of
our Moriah Community having held the position of Acting
Director of Informal Jewish Education since June 2012, and
assuming full responsibility for all Counterpoint Seminars,
the Israel Study Tour, and ensuring the integration of
our Informal Jewish Education staff at the College. He
has already had a significant impact on the College,
particularly through his positive and inclusive interactions
with students in a variety of contexts over a number of
years.
Working with, and supported by, the Jewish Life and
Learning Management Team, Rabbi Levy has responsibility
and accountability for enhancing and implementing a
strategic and holistic plan for formal and informal Jewish
programs and outcomes, foremost of which will be to
ensure that students demonstrate a high standard of
Jewish literacy and knowledge.

To fulfill the role of Dean of Jewish Life and Learning, Rabbi
Levy and his wife Renana, have relocated to Sydney from
Alon Shvut, Israel and are eagerly anticipating the arrival of
their first child.

The College Principal, in consultation with the Board,
decided to delay the departure of our group from Poland
to Israel, while we consulted with our Israeli tour operators,
communal leaders and parents of our IST group.

Please join me in welcoming Rabbi Levy to this new role;
I am confident that he will continue to be an inspirational
leader for our students and staff to build on the strong
foundations of Jewish Life & Learning at the College and
Kehillah. We look forward to the enormous contribution he
will make to our community and the visionary leadership
he brings to this role.

A meeting was held with all IST parents who expressed
overwhelmingly their desire for the group to continue on
to Israel.

It was a fitting opportunity to involve Mr Michael Benstock
in this critical appointment. Mr Benstock retired from the
College after more than 40 years of dedicated service.
I would also like to acknowledge and thank the
contributions of our Trustees Mr Robert Goot AM, SC,
Mr Robert Gavshon, Mr Daniel Goulburn, Mr Graham
Einfeld OAM and Mr Robert Simons OAM for participating
in part of the recruitment process.
The Board acknowledges and greatly appreciates the work
undertaken by Mr Darren Challis, who led the recruitment
process efficiently and professionally. It is noted that
Darren’s services were generously provided to the College,
pro-bono.

ISRAEL STUDY TOUR
Fifty-two Moriah College students, along with teachers
Mrs Evie Apfelbaum, Ms Renana Berman, Mr Ilan Lavan,
Mrs Mandy Meltz, Ms Leora Rudansky, Rabbi Johnny Sack,
Mrs Sandy Koonin and Acting Director of Informal Jewish
Studies, Rabbi Benji Levy participated in this year’s Israel
Study Tour (IST) program.
Part way through the Poland section of the IST program,
a heightened security alert was issued for Bethlehem,
Ramallah and Jericho, Gaza Strip and surrounding areas,
and the remainder of the West Bank and although our
students were not scheduled to go into these areas, the
College was faced with making a decision on whether the
IST group who were in Europe should continue onto / into
Israel in light of the situation. Our Children’s well-being and
Safety was our number one priority.
The College Principal and the Board consulted with other
Australian Jewish Day Schools who also had programs
to Israel on the verge of commencement. Most of these
schools’ IST programs had not yet started, so Moriah faced
a very different decision to these schools.

This was a great moment in the history of Moriah, as
our support for the State of Israel that we teach in the
classroom was able to be acted upon in a palpable manner.
The students reflected that arriving in Israel was an
incredibly moving and meaningful event, made even more
so by the deliberations that had preceded it.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Mr John
Hamey and Rabbi Benji Levy and his IST team, for their
commitment to the IST program, and for ensuring the
safety and well-being of our students and staff on the
program.

BUILDING & INFRASTRUCTURE
During 2012 the Building & Infrastructure Committee,
ably led by Mr Simon Wilkenfeld and consisting of Board
Members Mrs Tara Ende, Mr Alex Gelman, Mr Robert Goot
AM SC, Mr Tony Ryba (co-opted member), and Head of
Corporate Services, undertook a number projects. The
College President and College Principal are ex-officio
members.

r John I Einfeld AM Preschool Campus, Randwick
During the 2012 April holidays, the softfall play area,
overhead shade covering and related perimeter
drainage works were totally upgraded and refurbished.
This, together with improvements in the grounds
landscaping provides a refreshed environment for our
Preschool children at the King Street Campus.

r Baronga Play Space Awning
As a result of the review of facilities that highlighted
significant structural issues within the awning at
Queens Park Campus, the Building & Infrastructure
Committee recommended to the Board that the
current Baronga Play Space Awning (BPSA) required
replacement. Various options were reviewed and a new
design by the College’s Architect, Gardner Wetherill
was adopted. Construction commenced during the
December 2012 holiday break and is scheduled to be
completed during the April 2013 holiday period.
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On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend sincere
thanks to the co-opted DJLLSC members namely;
Rabbi David Freedman, Dr Hilton Immerman OAM and
Mr Michael Benstock for their work and input into the
process. I extend sincere thanks to Dr Sue Morris, who
Chaired the Committee and to the College Principal,
John Hamey for all his hard work and efforts in securing
this appointment.

The College Principal, Mr John Hamey and Acting Director
of Informal Jewish Studies, Rabbi Benji Levy, spent many
hours discussing, monitoring and assessing the situation,
often into the early hours of the morning. A decision was
made, by the College Principal and supported by the
Board, for students to continue the onward journey to
Israel.

r Rammed Earth Wall
At the same time as the BPSA works were proposed,
it was identified by the Building & Infrastructure
Committee that remedial building works were required
on the external Rammed Earth Wall, on the permitter
of the Design and Technology kitchen. We were
fortunate to coordinate this activity with Northcliffe
Constructions, who also were the sub-contractor that
performed the building works on the BPSA.
On behalf of the Board, I wish to thank the entire
Building & Infrastructure Committee for all their hard
work and dedication, ensuring completion of the above
projects, on time and on budget, the College’s Architect
Gardner Wetherill and Northcliffe Constructions for their
commitment and efforts with both of these projects.

r Master Plan
The College is in the process of preparing a Master
Plan for the potential of the Queens Park Campus site,
given that the current buildings and infrastructure are
approaching 20 years in age. We are hopeful that the
presentations and the recommendations of Gardner
Wetherill, who are coordinating this activity, will
provide the Board with a platform to ensure that the
Queens Park Campus provides an appropriate learning
environment for the future students of Moriah in the
coming decades.
A special thanks to Mr Simon Wilkenfeld for his dedication
and exceptional hard working in leading this subcommittee. Simon has stepped up in this role and has
done an outstanding job.

COMMITTEES
Board sub-committees offer a unique forum for staff and
lay leaders of the College to come together to address
specific aspects of the running of the College. I would like
to thank all Committee members for their contributions.
Chairing a committee, as a number of Board Members
have done, requires a significant amount of additional
work. I offer special thanks to all those who have chaired
committees this year.
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The following Committees assisted the Board on a
continuing basis. The President and the College Principal
were ex-officio members of all the Committees.

Affordability
J. Fridman*, S. Jankelowitz, M. Schneider, G. Sher, S.
Wilkenfeld, (Co-opted Daniel Goulburn and Darren Miller)
Building & Infrastructure
S. Wilkenfeld*, T. Ende, A. Gelman, R. Goot AM SC (Co-opted
Tony Ryba, Head of Corporate Services and Facilities &
Maintenance Manager)
Corporate Governance
O. Freedman*, J. Fridman, R. Goot AM SC, S. Morris, S.
Roberts, M. Sonnabend.
Dean of Jewish Life and Learning Selection
S. Morris*, O. Freedman, J. Lowy, M. Schneider, T. Solsky
(Co-opted Michael Benstock, Rabbi David Freedman, Dr
Hilton Immerman OAM)
Debtors
S. Jankelowitz*, M. Schneider (Co-opted Head of Corporate
Services and Financial Controller)
Education
S. Morris*, L. Ehrlich, O. Freedman, J. Lowy, T. Solsky, M.
Sonnabend, (Co-opted Head of Jewish Life & Learning,
Head of Curriculum 6-12, Heads of High, Middle and
Primary Schools, Director of Preschools, Director of
Professional Learning and Co-ordinator of Studies
Computing/ICT Integration)
Enrolment
O. Freedman*, L. Ehrlich, J. Lowy, S. Morris, G. Sher, T.
Solsky, S. Wilkenfeld, (Co-opted Head of Jewish Life &
Learning, Heads of Middle and Primary Schools, Director
of Preschools, Director of Development and Enrolment
Officer)
Finance & Audit
S. Jankelowitz*, O. Freedman, J. Fridman, G. Sher, S.
Wilkenfeld, (Co-opted Head of Corporate Services and
Financial Controller)
Financial Assistance
T. Ende**, S. Jankelowitz**, L. Ehrlich, J. Lowy, S. Morris (Coopted Head of Corporate Services and Financial Controller)
Information Technology
A. Gelman*, J. Fridman, G. Sher, (Co-opted Heads of High
and Primary Schools, Director of Preschools, Head of
Curriculum 6-12, Head of Corporate Services, Director of
Development, IT Manager, COS Computing, IT Systems
Implementation & Project Manager and ICT Coordinator)
Jewish Life & Learning
G. Friede*, O. Freedman, R. Goot AM SC, J. Lowy, S. Morris,
S. Roberts, T. Solsky, (Co-opted College Rabbi, Head of
Jewish Life & Learning)
Security & Traffic
T. Ende**, S. Jankelowitz**, M. Sonnabend, S. Wilkenfeld,
(Co-opted Liran Lahav (CSG Representative), Linda Tate
and Richard Pajor*** (Heads of PSG), Head of Corporate
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* Chair
** Co-Chair
*** Resigned March 2012
I would also like to thank Mr Sam Samuels our Head of
Corporate Services, for his effort in working with the Board
on the various Sub-Committees.
The following were other areas of specific responsibilities
or requirements for liaison/representation with outside
organisations, associations or instrumentalities:
Association of Independent Schools
S. Morris and M. Sonnabend
Community Reference Group
College Principal and Head of Corporate Services
Jewish Communal Appeal (“JCA”) (Fundraising)
L. Ehrlich, J. Lowy and M. Sonnabend
NSW Jewish Board of Deputies
G. Sher and S. Wilkenfeld
NSW Co-ordinating Committee of Jewish Day Schools
S. Jankelowitz
Yedid–Moriah Alumni Association (Old Collegians)
L. Ehrlich and S. Wilkenfeld
Preschools Liaison Group
J. Fridman and T. Solsky
Queens Park Precinct
College Principal and Head of Corporate Services

HSC RESULTS
I commend to all Members of the Association that you
refer to the Graduating Class Reports issued by the
College Principal. I would like to express my thanks and
appreciation to the educational leadership and staff for
their efforts. Our magnificent results reflect admirably, not
only on the HSC teachers, but all the other teachers and
support staff, from Preschool through to Year 12, who have
contributed to the development and education of the
Graduating Class.

END-OF-YEAR STAFF DINNER
At our end-of-year Staff Dinner a number of staff were
recognised for their years of service. It was especially
wonderful to acknowledge the many staff who celebrated
their 1st full year of service, some their 5th, some close
to 10 and especially those five members of staff who
have been with us for 25 years namely; Gary Cobbin,
Roberta Goot, Rochelle Goulburn, Agnes Lloyd and
Louise Messenger. No thanks is big enough to accurately
articulate our gratitude to those teachers.

When I considered what 25 years of teaching and
contributing to Moriah must mean, I decided to try and
quantify the magnitude of that - not in hours, or days or
months or years, but in the lives that you touched and
how as a result of your dedication, the community has
been shaped. To the best of my calculations, teaching for
25 years at Moriah, you would have graduated some 2,600
children who today help shape our proud Sydney Jewish
community. Testimony to your success is that many of
these graduates have returned as parents of students or as
teachers and Board members.
Special mention needs to be made to of Mr Michael
Benstock. Michael began his career at Moriah in Term
3, 1965 with no formal teaching qualification. He went
back to London to complete his university degree and
returned in 1972 as headmaster of Masada. At the end of
1975, he decided to return to Moriah where he has been
ever since. Michael has taught Jewish Studies, Jewish
History in both Primary and High School – and Classical
Hebrew Continuers and Extension, an area in which he has
specialised over the last 30 years or so. Michael has also
held the position of Head of Department for a number
of years at Moriah. Year after year it is the students from
Michael’s classes who top the state in Classical Hebrew
and I am sure he must hold a record for this. Michael also
happens to be a real ‘mensch’ and has a wonderful sense
of humour and an infectious laugh which can be heard all
over the school. Michael is also very worldly and is able to
enter into a discussion on almost any topic and it is this
that has allowed him to forge close relationships with so
many of the staff from different departments. Michael was
also the founder of the Benstock minyan, which is now
flourishing and they too will miss him dearly. Although
Michael is leaving as a member of staff, he will still
maintain a close connection with the College as a proud
grandparent and we look forward to his regular visits.
I am especially sad to be saying goodbye to a great man,
role model, teacher at Moriah for 40 years and may I say,
sage, Mr Michael Benstock. I experienced first-hand your
incredible passion, energy and enthusiasm for your work
and students, when you taught my daughter Britt, Tanach
for HSC. You left such a huge imprint on her life and on the
lives of many of her friends and countless others.
I believe the lives you have touched, the futures you have
enhanced, the confidence you have instilled, the manners
and morals you taught, the civic and Jewish values you
have formed and the smiles you have created are the most
valuable irreplaceable gifts that you will take with you!
We were privileged to have you in our midst. The standing
ovation you received today at Middle School Prize giving
speaks for itself.
We wish you B’Hatzlacha Raba in this next chapter of your
life and know that you will remain in close contact with us
always!
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Services, Heads of High and Primary Schools, Facilities &
Maintenance Manager and Security Manager

SECURITY
Safety and Security all campuses remained a high priority
throughout the year. Effective September 2012, the
College in conjunction with the Communal Security Group
has been able to secure the services of an experienced and
very dedicate Security Manager. Over the last six months,
the College has benefited greatly from his contribution
and we anticipate that a number of security enhancements
will be put in place in the coming school year to improve
safety and security at the main Queens Park Campus and
Preschool Campuses, under our control.

LAPTOP PROGRAM
As part of the Digital Education Revolution Program of the
Australian Government, the College was funded to provide
its nominated Year 9, 2011 students with laptops at no cost
to each student or parent. This provided the College with
an entree to its parent funded laptop program for High
School students. At the beginning of Term 2, 2012, a laptop
program for students in Years 7 to 9, inclusive commenced.
This program was extended in 2013 to include the current
Year 7. The feedback from students, parents and teachers
about the program, its objectives and operation is
extremely positive and it augurs well for its continuation
and expansion in 2014.

The Parents’ & Friends’ Association is a vital institution
in the Moriah Family. The P&F does wonderful work in
maintaining grass-root relationships with our parents
under the leadership of the President Mrs Lauren Ehrlich. I
thank the P&F all for their valuable work. I commend to you
the Report of the Parents’ & Friends’ Association.

YEDID-MORIAH ALUMNI ASSOCIATION

KEHILLAT MORIAH

The Yedid-Moriah Alumni Association, ably led by
immediate Past Co-Presidents Ruth Forman and Michelle
Mekler-Peled is an important component of the Moriah
family. I commend to you the Report of the Yedid-Moriah
Alumni Association.

During 2012, Kehillat Moriah was involved in the following
activities:

MORIAH TRUSTEES & LIFE PATRONS

r Bar and Bat Mitzvah celebrations.
r Bar Mitzvah anniversaries and simchas.
r Purim celebrations as well as a gift of Shmura matzah
on Pesach to both Kehilla and the College.

r On Shabbat of April 28th, the members of the Lowy
family and the College Board attended a special
Shabbat service in memory of the late Hugo Lowy
Alav haShalom in whose memory the Hugo Lowy
Synagogue is named.

r On Sunday night April 29th, the Kehillah hosted a

Our School

PARENTS’ & FRIENDS’ ASSOCIATION

special memorial service for the Shloshim of the late
Sam Fisher AM Alav haShalom who served as President
of Moriah College and as a member of the Board of
Management prior to making Aliyah. This service was
attended by community leaders who paid tribute to Mr
Fisher’s contribution to Kashrut in Sydney, the Central
Synagogue and the Chevra Kadisha.

r Shavuot, Rosh Hashana and Yom Kippur services.
r A Simchat Torah BBQ following the services.
r An adult education program called Jewish Learning
Institute held for Kehillah members at Hamakom. The
six-week course was delivered by Rabbi Solomon and
called “The Kabbalah of You: A Guide to Unlocking Your
Hidden Potential”.
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I would like to acknowledge the dedication and
commitment of the Moriah Trustees and Life Patrons to the
College. I would like to thank the Chairman of Trustees,
Mr Robert Goot AM SC and his colleagues for their work.

JCA
This year we received an allocation of $1,059,330 from the
JCA. The College expresses its gratitude to the JCA and
the community at large for this allocation. This donation is
allocated to Special Needs education and to the provision
of Financial Assistance. I urge all parents of the College,
not just to donate to the JCA, but to get involved with the
JCA, as function hosts or in some other capacity. The work
of the JCA is vital to many organisations in our community,
Moriah included.

MOUNT ZION
Mount Zion Trust and Moriah College are partners in
running our Preschools and the Early Childhood Centre
(ECC) for children aged two to three years, using the
premises leased from Mt Zion. I would like to thank
Professor Leon Simons and his fellow Trustees, Mr Michael
Greenfield and Dr Liliane Goodman for their cooperation.
I would also like to thank the Mt Zion Trustees for their
generous offer to assist the Moriah Foundation in
launching their Bursary program with a significant annual

SIR MOSES MONTEFIORE HOME
The College continues to lease property at Randwick
for one of its Preschools from the Sir Moses Montefiore
Home (the “Home”). The Home has generously agreed
to donate part of the rental back to the College for the
sixth successive year. We are deeply appreciative of the
generosity of the Home and are encouraged that its
support is recognition of the role our Preschools play in the
community. This community spirit shown by the Home is a
fine precedent.
Our Preschool has a very precious relationship with our
neighbours at the Montefiore Home, who have become a
vital part of our weekly Kabbalat Shabbat ceremonies. Our
friendship with our neighbours brings much reciprocal joy
and tenderness to us all.

MOUNT SINAI COLLEGE
Moriah continues to enjoy a warm and constructive
relationship with our feeder school, Mt Sinai College
(“Mt Sinai”). The ongoing participation of Mt Sinai students
in Moriah’s Band Camp continues to be very successful.
I would like to pay tribute to the President of Mt Sinai, Tony
Snoyman, and to their Principal, Phil Roberts for working
so cooperatively with our College.

TRIBUTES
r The Late Sam Fisher AM
On the 29 April 2012, Moriah College and The Central
Synagogue held a Commemorative (Shloshim) Service for
the Late Sam Fisher AM, of blessed memory.
Mr Fisher AM was President of both Moriah College
and The Central Synagogue and an extraordinary and
inspirational community leader whose positive influence
and dedicated involvement touched a multitude of
community organisations.
Tributes to Mr Fisher AM were made by Rabbonim and
Communal Leaders.

r Mrs Edith Hausman
In July 2012, the College was informed of the passing
of Mrs Edith Hausman, who was a much loved former
Librarian of Moriah College from 1967 until 1995. Her
funeral was attended by current and former staff and
students of the College. We wish the Hausman family Long
Life.

r The Late Mr Max Naumburger
In January 2013, we were advised of the tragic and sad
passing of Mr Max Naumburger. Max was a Member of the
Moriah Board from 1953 to 1981. He was Vice President
from 1973 to 1981 and appointed a Life Patron of the
College on the 22nd September 1981.
Max was survived by his wife Ingrid, children Rodney (and
his wife Sharon) and Karen Midalia (and her husband
Neil), and grandchildren Eliott (2007 graduate), Zac (2004
graduate) and Ariella and Zoe (2011 graduates). Max’s
daughter Michelle (Kessler) was a capable and popular
Mathematics teacher at the College. She sadly passed
away in 1990. Max was also survived by his son-in-law
David Kessler (former Moriah Board member) and his wife
Michelle’s children including Ronnie Kessler, Natalie Zoldan
(and her husband Josh) and Jodie Kessler, all of whom
were graduates of Moriah College.
Mr Naumburger’s family have been strong supporters of
the College over many years.
We wish them Long Life!

CONCLUSION
While we have many challenges facing the School this year,
I am excited about the year ahead given the dynamic and
committed leadership at Moriah.
I wanted to especially thank all our staff for their dedication
and hard work this past year. I also wanted to thank
Mr John Hamey for his commitment and enthusiasm in
driving the College forward to becoming a great School.
I wanted to acknowledge and thank Mrs Daisy Sultana,
Executive Officer to the Board, for her assistance and
incredible dedication to Moriah. Daisy’s help and guidance
has made my job much easier.
I also wanted to pay a special thanks to Vice President,
Dr Sue Morris for her total dedication and wonderful
support during my Presidency. Sue has taken on many
important projects and most recently has driven the
process to bring a new Constitution to our members.
Throughout my time on the Board, and especially
during my Presidency, I have been fortunate to have the
unconditional support of my wife Ilana and children Ricki
and Britt. They have been very understanding; knowing
the importance of Jewish Education and the pivotal role
Moriah plays in the community. I truly appreciate and
thank all of them.
I wish the incoming Board of Moriah B’Hatzlacha Raba in all
its work for the coming year.
Giora Friede
President
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contribution. While details are still to be finalised, we are
grateful to the support and the spirit in which we work
with Mt Zion Trustees.

Our School

John Hamey – College Principal

College Principal’s
Report

In 2012, the College Strategic Plan (2011-2103) continued
to drive the operational and educational priorities of the
College. The key strategic drivers or ‘Mission Strengthening
Pillars’ of the Strategic Plan are:

r Parents noted a high overall satisfaction score of 79%

1.

Excellence in Teaching and Learning

r Parents noted high levels of satisfaction with the

2.

Student Growth and Wellbeing

3.

True to our Jewish Ethos (Hashkafa)

4.

Parent and Community Partnership

These pillars are supported by activity and development in
the following ‘Mission Supporting Foundations’:
1.

Professional and engaged staff

2.

Sustainable practices to support our mission

3.

Good governance in decision-making

I commend to you the section on ‘Our Achievements and
Goals’ that identifies our school determined improvement
targets and achievements in each of these areas.

Our School

Moriah College is committed to listening to the views and
expectations from key stakeholders and commissions
annual and bi-annual independent parent, student and
staff satisfaction surveys to provide performance feedback
on a wide range of related education topics and service
standards. The feedback from these surveys greatly
assists the College with its operational planning and
determination to continually improve the College’s value
proposition and educational experience offered to our
students. In 2012 the following surveys were conducted:

r Year 12 Exit Survey
r Service Standards Survey (Enrolments)
r Staff Professional Learning Survey

for teaching standards in the College

r 86% of parents’ expectations were met/exceeded in
relation to student welfare
accessibility and approachability of teachers

r Parents noted a significant upward trend in the quality
of student welfare in the College

r Parents noted a high overall satisfaction score of 72%
and upward trend in satisfaction for the management of
bullying in the College

r Parents noted a high satisfaction score with the quality
of facilities and resources

r Parents noted a very high satisfaction score with the
College Principal and a high satisfaction rating with the
Deputy Head of High School.
In relation to Year 12 students in 2012, a selection of the
top-level findings in the Exit Survey are detailed below:

r 99% of students’ expectations were met/exceeded in
relation to HSC results

r 83% of students’ expectations were met/exceeded in
relation to the Creative and Performing Arts (Drama and
Music) program of the College

r Students noted a high overall satisfaction score of 84%
for teaching standards in the College

r 84% of parents’ expectations were met/exceeded in
relation to student welfare

r Students noted high levels of satisfaction with the
accessibility and approachability of teachers

In relation to Year 12 parents in 2012, a selection of the
top-level findings in the Exit Survey are detailed below:

r Students noted a significant upward trend in the quality

r 94% of parents’ expectations were met/exceeded in

r Students noted a high overall satisfaction score of 79%

relation to HSC results

r 93% of parents’ expectations were met/exceeded in
relation to the Creative and Performing Arts (Drama and
Music) program of the College
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of student welfare in the College
in relation to the school providing a safe and caring
environment

r Parents noted a very high satisfaction score with the
College Principal and a high satisfaction rating with the
Deputy Head of High School.

r Co-curricular, House and sport program
r Communication between the school and home
r Balancing academic demands and expectations with
co-curricular responsibilities

r Aspects of Jewish Life and Learning
r Year 12 Mentor program
r Consistency in academic standards across sub-schools,
subjects and teachers
Statements from parents relating to what they most valued
about the College include:
“I value the high level of academic achievement my child has
attained while at the same time cultivating a close sense of
community, leaderships, yiddishkite and charity. I also very
much like the school environment and the feeling I have when
I visit the school.”
“Some staff are beyond amazing and they have instilled both
the importance of striving to do your best, while still being
caring and kind towards your fellow students.”
Statements from students relating to what they most
valued about the College include:
“I very much value the Jewish community and values the
school has given me, plus relationships with teachers and the
lasting friendships I have made.”
“The incredibly high standard of teaching staff is what I have
valued most and is what continues to make Moriah a top
school.”
“The music program has been the most incredibly rewarding
experience - and must be encouraged for all students more
than it is!”
As benchmarked with 17 other comparable independent
schools, Moriah scores well above the average satisfaction
score in the following areas:

r
r
r
r

Religious education
Student welfare
College leadership
Academic program

In developing a high performance culture the College
commenced in earnest the implementation of the NSW
Quality Teaching model - a pedagogical framework that
directs teacher practice and evaluation in three key
domains:

To complement this, the first phase of Teacher
Development and Review was rolled out for teachers
with positions of responsibility. This review process is
built around “action learning cycles” and requires teachers
to research, implement and evaluate their teaching or
leadership practice and measure its impact on student
learning or teacher effectiveness. The first teacher
evaluations are due in 2013.
During 2012 we bid farewell to the Head of Jewish Life and
Learning, Mr Brett Kaye. Mr Kaye returned to Melbourne
after two years at the College to pursue other professional
opportunities. During his time at the College, Mr Kaye
was instrumental in bringing a coordinated and coherent
approach to Jewish Life and Learning at the College from
Preschool through to Year 12. With Mr Kaye’s departure,
Mr Ronnen Grauman was appointed as the Acting
Director of Jewish Studies and assumed many additional
responsibilities. I would like to thank Mr Grauman for the
quiet and diligent manner in which he undertook these
tasks, alongside an already demanding teaching load and
his existing leadership responsibilities.
Following an extensive recruitment process, the College
was excited to appoint Rabbi Benji Levy in March 2013. The
appointment comes after an extensive global search, from
which Rabbi Levy emerged as the top candidate amongst
a substantial number of excellent local and international
applicants.
The role of Dean is integral to providing the students of
the College with a rich and diverse Jewish experience
that is grounded in excellence, and fosters a sense of
connectedness and collective responsibility within
the school community. The Dean serves as the key
guardian of Moriah’s Modern Orthodox Zionist ethos,
and is responsible for raising levels of Jewish literacy and
knowledge, as well as fostering a love for Jewish living.
The Dean has prime responsibility, accountability
and authority for the leadership, management and
implementation of a holistic Jewish life and learning
strategy for all formal and informal Jewish programs and
their outcomes at the College. The Dean is responsible
for the ongoing evaluation of these programs and their
effectiveness in meeting the desired outcomes. The Dean
will consult with the Rabbi of the College, who is Mara
D’atra on matters of Halacha, in line with the College ethos.
The role of Dean includes leadership in the following key
areas of responsibility:
1.

Overall leadership of Jewish Life and Learning (formal
and informal), including of the Kehilla

1.

Intellectual quality of the curriculum

2.

Curriculum Leadership

2.

Quality of the learning environment

3.

Teaching

3.

Significance to students

4.

Pastoral Care
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Both parents and students noted the following area as
requiring review and this will inform our planning for 2013:

Rabbi Levy is already a valued and respected member of
our Moriah Community having held the position of Acting
Director of Informal Jewish Education since June 2012, and
assuming full responsibility for all Counterpoint Seminars,
the Israel Study Tour and ensuring the integration of our
Informal Jewish Education staff at the College. He has had
a significant impact on the College, particularly through
his positive and inclusive interactions with students in
a variety of contexts over the past few years. We look
forward to the enormous contribution he will make to our
community and the visionary leadership he brings to this
role.
Moriah College, in conjunction with Waverley College,
was invited by The Spirit of Australia Foundation and
General Sir John Monash Foundation to host the Monash
Commemorative Service on Wednesday, 9 May, 2012.
Sir General Peter Cosgrove was the guest speaker at
this service and he commended the students at the
College for their confidence, politeness and hospitality.
The Symphonic Winds Ensemble and Vocal Ensemble
performed at this event. The College was proud to host this
event and to demonstrate its commitment to civic events
and Australian citizenship.

Our School

At the end of 2012, the College also bid farewell to one of
our longest serving teachers, Mr Michael Benstock – also a
dedicated and loyal parent and grandparent at the College.
Mr Benstock taught at the College for over 40 years in the
Jewish Studies department and during this time instilled
in thousands of students a love for learning and the
Torah. He brought a rare intellectual quality and humour
to his teaching that both inspired students and left them
thirsting for more. He will be long remembered for his
retorts such as “red hot” and “TGIF (Thank God it’s Friday)”,
but more remarkably for his love and care of his students,
“Benstock’s Prayers” and paternal presence. Mr Benstock,
without doubt, fulfilled the College’s mission of instilling in
our children a knowledge of our Jewish traditions, Torah,
mitzvot, the Jewish people and its history, ethics, family
values, a positive commitment to Judaism, the Modern
Hebrew language and a love of and support for, the State
of Israel.
Sadly, in 2012 and 2013 respectively, two of the College’s
strongest supporters and founding members, Mr Sam
Fisher AM and Mr Max Naumburger passed away. Mr
Fisher’s contribution to Moriah expanded over more than
five decades, commencing with his election to the Board
in 1952 and remained active in Moriah until his retirement
as a Trustee of the College in 2005. Mr Naumburger was a
Member of the Moriah Board from 1953 to 1981. He was
Vice President from 1973 to 1981 and appointed a Life
Patron of the College on the 22nd September 1981.
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I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Executive
team and staff at the College for their professional
endeavours throughout the year and ongoing support
of me as I assumed the role of Acting College Principal in
January 2012 until my appointment as College Principal
by the Board in October 2012. Moriah College is blessed
to have a team of committed and dedicated teachers,
administrators, IT and maintenance staff who give many
hours above and beyond what is expected or required. Our
success as a school is attributable to their expertise and
desire to excel as we continue to build a high performing
culture characterised by discipline, collaborative effort,
independent learning, community engagement and
innovation.
I do want to single out my PA, Gail Hansen, who always
goes the extra mile and seems to know what needs to be
done and how best to do it, before either occurs to me.
Thank-you Gail for your commitment and dedication!
In conclusion, I would like to thank the Board of
Management, Trustees and Life Patrons for their support
of the College and Executive team throughout the year.
In particular, I would like to thank the Immediate Past
President, Mr Mark Schneider and College President, Mr
Giora Friede, for their invaluable support and guidance
during my first twelve months as Principal at this
extraordinary school. The Board and Trustees’ belief in what
we do as a school is a source of great encouragement and
guidance in all that we undertake for our students and
the Jewish community. I look forward to bringing strong
leadership to the College as Principal and articulating a
vision that drives the College forward as one of the most
important organisations in the continuity of Jewry in
Australia and the education of its children. I feel privileged
to be vested with the mantle of leadership in a school that
truly sits at the heart of the community it serves.
John Hamey
College Principal
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Cathy Milwidsky – Director of Preschools

Director of
Preschools Report

Throughout the course of the year, the Preschools and
Early Childhood Centre focused on ensuring our practice
and service best meets with new national requirements,
raising awareness and implementing recommendations
to ensure compliance of the standards and regulations
articulated in the National Quality Framework.

Throughout 2012 Moriah College Preschools and the
Early Childhood Centre focused on developing Quality
Improvement Plans, mandatory reporting documents
considered by the Regulatory Authorities during
assessment and ranking of the individual services. This
self-assessment tool drives collaborative reflection on
quality education and care of each centre, encouraging
educators to engage in regular review and assessment of
their practice, recognising strengths and identifying areas
for improvement.
Australian Children’s Education and Care Quality Authority
(ACECQA) attribute the most effective improvements to
service delivery are initiated from within the service, rather
than being imposed from the outside, and recommend
that services guide their reflections in accordance with the
18 standards and 58 elements outlined in the seven quality
areas of the National Quality Standard. Further to this,
ACECQA advises that the success of the process relies on
reflection on specific practices to determine the:

r Effectiveness of practice for all children and families
r Relevance of the practice to the service and its
stakeholders

r Equity and fairness of the practice for all children,
families and educators.” (refer ACECQA website http://
www.acecqa.gov.au)

and thereby develop reflections into quality improvement
strategies which are noted and included in the document.
Furthermore, as part of the Preschool’s efforts to meet
with the National Regulations, and so as to operate in
compliance with the National Standards, all educators have
commenced or completed training, ensuring that across
the centres, all educators have a minimum approved
qualification.
Throughout 2012 all mandatory and additional Preschool
and Early Childhood Policies were reviewed and where
required re-written, making them relevant and reflective
of their connection to and endorsement of the National
Quality Standard, and Early Years Learning Framework
across our Preschool centres. The policies are currently
being formatted and collated into a comprehensive Policy
Document that, once published, will ensure best practice
across all the Preschool Centres based on current and
contemporary research and guidelines.
At the start of 2012 the Preschools commenced a
revised mentoring program for all newly employed and
recently qualified educators who joined the Preschool
teaching teams. The weekly sessions facilitated by Dalia
Ottensooser, included:

r Reflections of the past week and sharing of anecdotal
experiences

r Preparation and planning of the week ahead including
expectations around Jewish life and learning

r Visits to classrooms and outdoor settings to observe
teaching and learning in action

r Target thinking for the week/s ahead
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In 2012 the Moriah College Preschools and Early Childhood
Centre developed and published a Service Philosophy
that best reflects the Preschool’s core values and current
pedagogical approaches to teaching and learning in the
early years (refer to the College’s website www.moriah.
nsw.edu.au). This document supports the premise that the
early years are most critical for a child’s present and future
development and wellbeing.

were successful in receiving the Federal Secure Schools
Funding that will allow the Centres to upgrade and
develop high security measures and strategies over the
next 18 months.

The mentoring program offered support, encouragement
and guidance and proved to be an effective and valuable
component in ensuring a quality delivery of the Preschool
program across the centres.

Our School

In August 2012 Moriah College Preschools were
approached by the Department of Early Education
at the Randwick TAFE to nominate a candidate to
accompany them on a learning tour to Denmark in
September. They indicated to us that our Preschools
had become recognised as model Preschools, and our
educator’s leaders in demonstrating the transfer of
contemporary pedagogy into practice within our daily and
weekly programs. Jodi Cohen (early childhood educator
at Dover Road) was nominated to join their study tour.
Jodi travelled around Denmark where she visited a wide
range of Preschool settings and engaged in the thinking
and practice of the centres, particularly around developing
resilience, responsibility and respect in the early years. Jodi
presented her thoughts, reflections and learnings with the
rest of the Moriah and Mt Zion Preschool educators on her
return, and there are plans to integrate and develop some
of her ideas across the Preschool centres.
In December Cathy Milwidsky together with consulting
early childhood clinical psychologist, Belinda Blecher,
presented a paper at accredited arm of the Australian
Psychology Society, POPIG (PsychoanalyticallyOriented Psychology Interest Group) –on “The Preschool
environment, a therapeutic setting” which detailed
the work with children and families that we had done
collaboratively over the past eight years. The paper offered
a combination of anecdotal observations together with
rich theoretical based thinking, and detailed the successful
outcomes in reducing outside referrals, and attending to
children and families holistically through ensuring safe
and containing relationships that would support and
offer children experiences they might not otherwise have.
The presentation was met with much positive feedback,
and subsequently we have been approached to work on
developing a model for practice that can be replicated in
schools across Australia.
Through the assistance and guidance of the Communal
Security Group, the Moriah College Preschools and Early
Childhood Centre, as well as the Mt Zion Kindergarten
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In addition to this, Moriah College engaged TJS Fire and
Safety Services to develop new and improved emergency
and evacuation plans and procedures as well a detailed
training program across the five Preschool Centres. New
floor plans were produced, which included emergency
evacuation assembly points and procedures for each
site, together with a Master Manual with appropriate
documentation of procedures and material to ensure
delivery of the same approach across the Centres.
Training sessions were held at each Centre where all
educators attended so as to best understand and practice
appropriate responses and the required evacuation
procedures in the event of fire, medical and other
emergency situations.
In response to the growing communal pressure for longer
hours and more days of childcare, the Mt Zion Board of
Trustees embarked on a pilot program to offer a Long Day
Care model to families attending the Mt Zion Rabinovitch
Kindergarten, Bondi Road for the start of 2013. Careful
thought and consideration was given to this pilot program
through the second half of 2012, and new systems and
strategies were implemented for the start of the year.
In 2013, the College will explore the viability of moving our
Preschools to Long Day Care Centres in 2014, running a
parallel Preschool and holiday care provision.
Through the advice and encouragement of Nicole
Lewis, a parent at the College, a full water and energy
audit was carried out at the Queens Park Campus by
Waverley Council. The audit delivered a report with
recommendations and strategies, which the College
agreed to implement, resulting in more appropriate use
of energy and water-saving strategies across the campus.
Audits will be carried out across the five Preschool Centres
in 2013. A determined target area is to develop an all-ofCollege commitment to sustainable practices including
approaches to education around waste and responsible
actions throughout the College. A sustainable school
committee will be developed in 2013 that will help to drive
this process.
The Preschools consolidated much thinking and practice
around teaching Hebrew in the early years, as an important
component of our Preschool program. Throughout the
year, a group of Preschool educators under the guidance
and supervision of Debbie Conn (Head of Primary School
Ivrit) developed a detailed and realistic approach to
teaching Hebrew in the early years. The model developed
through the course of the year, was presented by a group
of our early years Ivrit and secular teachers at the Zionist
Federation Conference in Melbourne in July 2012. The
presentation combined a demonstration lesson as well

as a video showcasing of the work done in our Preschool
settings by both our Hebrew teacher and classroom
teachers every week. The presentation was very well
received, affirming for us, that our approach is achievable
and valuable, and one that many other Jewish Day Schools
would like to embrace. Further development of the
Preschool Ivrit program will continue into 2013, as these
learning opportunities have become integral component
parts of the daily Preschool program.

Moriah College’s Transition to Primary School Program
was further enhanced during 2012 – a collaborative effort
that has demonstrated a clear and carefully thought
through approach for children moving out of Preschool
and into their first year of Primary School. The program,
considered as being a successful partnership between
the Preschool and Primary School educators, offers
the children and their families a smooth and effective
transition during one of the most challenging times of a
child’s school career. Through the creation of the Year K
Open Days, College Tours and a School-Readiness Forum
parents are able to make informed decisions, being
actively involved in the process and understanding the
different considerations required to make the best choices
for their child.

Throughout the course of the year Professional and
Personal Development focused on developing a strengthbased, wellbeing model for educators. “Using Inside
Reactions to Inform Outside Responses”, were a series of
interactive workshops presented by Clinical Psychologists
Elana Leigh and Joleen Lasker in Term 2 and 3. It became
well understood that when educators are emotionally
well supported, then their capacity to support and attend
to children and their families positively and effectively is
strengthened and increased. Further development of this
approach will be continued into 2013.
The Preschool Parent Club joined efforts in 2012 with
the Moriah College Parents’ and Friends’ Association in
hosting the annual Big Breakfast and bi-annual Spring
Fair, as well as the City to Surf end-of-the-road brunch.
The Big Breakfast, hosted at Hamakom, invited parents
and grandparents to enjoy a morning in conversation with
two Moriah parents, Pnina Jacobson and Judy Kempler,
who shared their journey of working together on their
multi- award winning international best-seller cookbook,
“One Egg is a Fortune”. Later on in the year, the Parent
Club and P & F co-hosted the Moriah College Spring Fair
at the Queens Park Campus, where family and friends
enjoyed a morning of entertainment, food and fundraising. All families who participated in the annual City to
Surf were able to celebrate their achievements at the Shya
Redelman Preschool, Glenayr Ave over bagels and coffee.
All these events complemented the efforts of the parents
throughout the year in supporting the Preschool festival
celebrations, encouraging our families to experience
the benefits of parent and family partnerships with their
children’s school.
Every month, throughout the year, a group of mothers,
who have children with special needs from Preschool to
Year 12 at Moriah College, meet to share their experiences,
resources and challenges. The group, known as Beyachad,
has developed a solid network of support through regular
newsletters, e-mail correspondence and monthly face to
face meetings. Through 2012 the group consolidated its
place within the College, and proved to be an important
opportunity for mothers to share their challenges and
successes in a safe and meaningful environment.
Cathy Milwidsky
Director of Preschools
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As the outdoor setting in all our Preschool centres is a
critical component of the overall learning environment
and forms a part of the daily and weekly programming
and planning of each classroom, the outdoor playground
at the John I Einfeld AM Campus, in Randwick, was
renovated during 2012, ensuring that the Centre maintains
compliance with the current National Regulations. There
is on-going evaluation and consideration of how to better
increase learning opportunities in the outdoor areas of
all the Preschool Centres, and this then, forms one of the
key improvement areas targeted by the early childhood
educators. Through detailed consultation with Macquarie
University expert Janet Robertson, a master plan for the
outdoor areas is being developed for all Moriah College
and Mt Zion Centres. The development of these plans
will continue in 2013, relying on current teaching teams
and other stakeholders (such as parents, members of the
Boards of Management and local council representatives)
to participate in the process.

Our Achievements and Goals
In accordance with the College’s Strategic Plan, the school determined improvement targets and major achievements for
2012 were as follows:

Strategic Pillars

2012 Goals, Priorities & Major Achievements

Excellence in Teaching
and Learning

r Implementation of the NSW Quality Teaching framework Years K-12
r Implementation of leadership development program for teacher leaders to
enhance their ability to implement NSW Quality Teaching framework

r Implementation of 1:1 Laptop program Years 7-9
r Development of new timetable structure for Years 6-12 to enhance innovative
teaching and learning practices

r Development of Integrated Studies program for Year 6, 2013
r Development of coherent and comprehensive student transition processes for
Middle School entry points (Years 6 & 7)

r Review and enhancement of academic tracking procedures and record
management for students Years K-12

r Implementation of new Science curriculum (Years K-5) ‘Science in a Box’ in
accordance with Australian Curriculum and NSW Quality Teaching framework

r Implementation of ‘Springboard Comprehension’ program (Years 1 – 5) to enhance
literacy development as determined by NAPLAN analysis in 2011

r Investigation and development of Synthetic Phonics program (Years K-2) for
implementation in 2013 in readiness for Australian Curriculum requirements
Student Growth and
Wellbeing

r Identification and application of Positive Psychology strategies through professional
development opportunities, professional learning communities and teacher
leadership programs

r Promotion of student voice and participation in decision-making processes

Our Achievements and Goals

through the Student Leadership Council, Middle School ‘Student Forums’ and
other appropriate forums including review of policies and procedures relating to
students

r Implementation of student leadership programs of excellence including the ‘Yitzak
Rabin Leadership Program’ for Year 9 students, ‘Hadracha Program’ for Year 10
students, and ‘Jewish Advocacy Program’ for Year 11 students

r Enhancement co-curricular, leadership and enrichment programs in the Middle
School

r Investigation of opportunities for student participation in New Zealand Association
for Intermediate and Middle Schooling Games (NZ AIMS), 2013 to enhance
competitive sport in the Middle School

r Implement and evaluate The Rite Journey program for Year 8 students
r Implementation and evaluation of integrated Sport program within the Middle
School curriculum

r Introduction of Lighthouse Program for students with learning difficulties (K-5)
r Implementation of student mentor program between High School (Years 10&11)
and Primary School (K-3) students

r Implementation of ‘Bus Stop’ program in Primary School to facilitate student
connections and friendships

r Development and implementation of Quality Behaviour program (K-5)
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Strategic Pillars

2012 Goals, Priorities & Major Achievements

True to our Jewish Ethos

r Implementation and evaluation of Ulpan Or Hebrew curriculum Years 6-12
r Implementation of Year 11 Jewish Advocacy program with Auburn Girls’ High
School and Brigidine College, St Ives

r Evaluation of Year 11 Modern Israel Studies program
r Development and implementation of Shabbaton programs for Middle School
students

r Ongoing review and development of Counterpoint Seminars modelled on best
practice in experiential learning

r Introduction of Jewish Music and Singing program in Years 5 & 7
r Integration of Jewish themes into the secular curriculum (Years 6 to 10) as
appropriate

r Implementation of enquiry-based approach to Project Heritage Week in Year 6
r Enhanced Jewish content of Year 7 Orientation Camp and Year 6 Canberra
Excursion with inclusion of Torah Mitzion Kollell boys and Sherut Leumi girls as
Madrachim

r Implementation and evaluation of integrated Year 3 Jewish Studies and Hebrew
curriculum for possible extension into Year 4, 2013

r Completion of draft Jewish Studies program for Years 4 & 5
r Implementation of inaugural Staff Yom Limmud Program to be run bi-annually
Parent and Community
Partnerships

r Implementation of a parent education program on contemporary issues relating to
child and adolescent development

r Review of reporting timelines and parent-teacher evenings to facilitate regular and
timely feedback on student progress

r Promotion of intercultural understanding through Service Learning and Cultural
Exchange programs with Holroyd High School, Auburn Girl’s High School, Mary
MacKillop College, Brigidine College, Yiparinya School, Northern Territory, and
Cambodia

r Increased participation and representation of students in Jewish communal events,

Our Achievements and Goals

celebrations and commemorations

r Increased participation by senior students in civic events (e.g. ANZAC Services)
r Introduction of online community portal for parents – ‘eLY’ to enhance schoolhome communication through the use of class and grade pages for homework,
assessments, excursion notices and online reports

r Introduction of Grandparent’s Day in Years 2 & 5 to enhance sense of ‘family’ and
importance of Jewish continuity

r Introduction of Year K Parents BBQ to facilitate community and parent connections
r Partnership with the ‘Anthony Goodridge Swim School’ to enhance Learn to Swim
and Squad programs in the College
Professional and
Engaged Staff

r Introduction of collaborative teacher professional learning through Professional
Learning Communities

r Development of greater understanding of the School’s Mission Statement and
Ethos through in-service programs and Staff Yom Limmud Day

r Focus on integration of ICT into the curriculum through the appointment of three
dedicated ICT Integrators to work with teachers in developing new pedagogical
approaches

r Introduction of Quality Teacher Development and Review process for teachers with
positions of responsibility across Primary, Middle and High School

r Implementation of Quality Teaching framework in partnership with Dr Jill Forster,
Education Consultant.

r Two-day Leadership Development Conference held for teachers in positions of
responsibility, facilitated by Dr Bob Carbines and Dr Suzy Green.
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Our Performance
MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2013
r Moriah was ranked 14th in the State overall as well as
the 3rd best school in all English courses and 22nd in all
Mathematics courses.

r Twenty-six students achieved a mark of 90 or more in at
least 10 units placing them on the HSC All Rounders list.

r The top ATAR was 99.9, with a further 20 students
gaining an ATAR over 99 which equates to 15.9% of our
candidates. Overall 59.1% of students gained an ATAR
over 90.00 with 86.4% gaining an ATAR over 80.00.

r Two students gained 1st place in two subjects. Modern
Our strong academic performance is due largely to our
dedicated staff who encourage students to be confident,
independent thinkers and who carefully monitor each
student’s progress ensuring their individual learning needs
continue to be met. The following 2012 results from Year 7
to 12 are evidence of our academic strength.

HIGHER SCHOOL CERTIFICATE RESULTS
2012
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In 2012, 138 students completed Year 12 sitting for the
NSW Higher School Certificate examination in 42 courses six of these students included a TVET qualification as part
of their HSC with one student completing the HSC as a Life
Skills candidate. In addition there were 15 students from
Year 11 who sat for a course as an acceleration student.
Three in Dance, three in Modern Hebrew Continuers, one
in Biology and eight in Mathematics Extension 2. All 13 of
the 15 accelerated students gained a Band 6 for the subject
in which they sat. As can be seen by the table on the next
two pages, in all courses bar five, students scored Band 3 or
above and in 14 courses all students scored Bands 5 and 6.
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Hebrew Continuers and Legal Studies.

r Thirteen students gained places (as published in the
press) in 10 subjects in the state. Business Studies 10th,
Classical Hebrew Continuers 4th, Classical Hebrew
Extension 1 (2nd & 5th), English Advanced (5th & 9th),
Legal Studies 1st, Mathematics 9th, Mathematics
Extension 1 3rd, Modern Hebrew Continuers
1st, Modern History 6th and Software Design &
Development (3rd & 8th).

r Numerous students were nominated for Encore, Call
Back and Design Tech with selections in both Call Back
and Design Tech.

r For specific details of each course, refer to the table on
the next two pages.
Refer to 2012 HSC Results Booklet on the College’s website
www.moriah.nsw.edu.au for further information.

Table: Higher School Certificate Test Results
Subject

No of
students

Performance band achievement by number and (%)
Bands 6 & 5

Bands 4 & 3

Bands 2 & 1

29 (67.43)

12 (27.9)

2 (4.65)

15020

Ancient History

43

15030

Biology

10

7 (70)

3 (30)

0

15040

Business Studies

41

34 (82.91)

7 (17.06)

0

15050

Chemistry

12

10 (83.32)

2 (16.66)

0

15080

Design & Technology

11

4 (36.36)

7 (63.63)

0

15090

Drama

8

6 (75)

2 (25)

0

15110

Economics

27

25 (92.58)

2 (7.4)

0

15130

English: Standard

34

18 (52.93)

15 (44.11)

1 (2.94)

15140

English: Advanced

103

98 (95.13)

5 (4.85)

0

15160

English: Extension 1

20

20 (100)

0

0

15170

English: Extension 2

10

10 (100)

0

0

26401

Entertainment

7

1 (14.28)

6 (85.71)

0

15180

Food Technology

9

3 (33.33)

5 (55.55)

1 (11.11)

15190

Geography

5

4 (80)

1 (20)

0

15210

Information Processes &
Technology

10

10 (100)

0

0

15220

Legal Studies

22

21 (94.63)

1 (4.54)

0

15230

Mathematics: General

25

11 (44)

13 (52)

1 (4)

15240

Mathematics: 2 unit

68

53 (77.93)

15 (22.05)

0

15250

Mathematics: Ext 1

59

58 (98.29)

1 (1.69)

0

15260

Mathematics: Ext 2

28

28 (100)

0

0

15270

Modern History

16

16 (100)

0

0

15280

History Extension 1

8

8 (100)

0

0

15290

Music Course 1

6

6 (100)

0

0

15300

Music Course 2

6

6 (100)

0

0

15310

Music Extension 1

2

2 (100)

0

0

15320

PDHPE

35

25 (71.42)

10 (28.56)

0

15330

Physics

7

6 (85.7)

1 (14.28)

0

15340

Senior Science

4

4 (100)

0

0

15350

Society & Culture

5

5 (100)

0

0

15360

Software Design & Development

3

3 (100)

0

0

15380

Studies of Religion II

43

36 (83.71)

7 (16.27)

0

15400

Visual Arts

24

22 (91.66)

2 (8.33)

0

15600

Classical Hebrew Cont

16

12 (75)

4 (25)

0

15610

Classical Hebrew Ext 1

12

12 (100)

0

0

16000

Modern Hebrew Cont

26

26 (100)

0

0

44020a**

Sport, Fitness & Recreation

1

No External Examination

43340a**

Property Services

1

No External Examination

43582a**

Music Industry - Introduction

1

No External Examination

35021

Computing Applications

3

No External Examination

15070#

Dance

3

1 (33.33)

2 (66.66)

0

26299a**

Construction

1

0

0

1 (100)

43531A**

Community Services

1
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Course No

Courses Studied External to the School / or non ATAR based

No External Examination

Please note that the courses marked: # were studied at an external Dance Studio and ** were studied at TAFE.
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In 2012, 5% of the Year 12 cohort undertook a VET Course.
Year 12 attending a certificate/VET qualification:
Year 12

Qualification/
Certificate

Percentage of
Students

2012

HSC *

100%

2012

VET qualification

4.35%

*please refer to HSC Results 2012 above.

TRENDS IN STUDENT PERFORMANCE IN
THE HIGHER SCHOOL CERTIFICATE

2012 HSC POST SCHOOL DESTINATIONS
Of the 132 students completing Year 12 in 2012, 122 (93%)
received an offer to University. Those not taking up an offer
followed other tertiary pathways including overseas study
and study at TAFE or other private tertiary providers. See
the two tables below for more detail of destination within
the University option.
COURSE STATS
VOCATION

TALLY

%

Business / Legal

56.5

46.3

Medical / Health / Science

20.5

16.8

Arts / Education / Literary

17

13.9

Creative Arts

5

4.1

9.5

7.8

Psychology / Welfare

10

8.2

Computing

3.5

2.9

122

100

Our Per for mance

Engineer / Building

Total
UNI

TALLY

%

UNSW

58

47.5

Sydney

23

18.9

UTS

23

18.9

Macquarie

12

9.8

Other
Total

24

6

4.9

122

100

Overview of Moriah performance: Means / Top Band
results (Year 7 – Band 9 / Year 9 – Band 10)
Overall, both Year 7 and Year 9 results showed that
Moriah is significantly above the State and Association of
Independent Schools (‘AIS’) combined schools’ mean in
all areas of literacy and numeracy. When looking solely
at the percentage of students in the top band, Moriah is
above the State and AIS school for Reading, Writing, and
significantly above in all areas of Numeracy. While Moriah
was above the State in percentage of students in the top
band for Grammar and Punctuation, it was on par with
other AIS schools in this area.
Spelling, however, has proved to be an area of concern,
with Moriah below the State and AIS percentages in
the top band. This has resulted in an increased focus on
spelling across the curriculum in all Key Learning Areas.
Interesting note on gender comparison in Literacy
While both boys and girls at Moriah (total students)
achieved greater than the Mean for the State and other
AIS schools across all literacy areas, the Mean for Moriah
boys in Year 7 was higher than the Mean for Year 7 girls
in all areas. The opposite was true for Year 9. While both
boys and girls at Moriah (total students) achieved greater
than the Mean for the State and other AIS schools across
all literacy areas, the Mean for Moriah girls in Year 9 was
higher than the Mean for Year 9 boys in all areas. This
was referred to the Literacy and Numeracy Professional
Learning Community for further exploration.
Using data to inform practice
Students who have shown notable positive and negative
growth in each area of literacy and numeracy have been
identified. Teachers for 2012 and 2013 were informed
so they can set targets for their students, with a view to
promoting growth and, where necessary address areas of
concern. A closer assessment of areas of concern will be
facilitated by staff access to the SMART data.
Furthermore, an English skills book has been added to the
2013 booklist, anticipating that each student in Years 6 –
10 will complete regular short tasks from this skills book
to allow for ongoing informal assessment and tracking of
student skills. This year in English, Reading Comprehension
was targeted as a faculty goal and this will remain an
ongoing commitment to address a downward trend in the
number of students “at proficiency”.

Teachers in the English Department have undertaken an
analysis of the general trends surmised from the NAPLAN
data and discussions have begun to investigate ways
that Spelling may be improved, particularly in light of the
fact that our brightest students have consistently shown
a deficit in this skill. Writing continues to be an area of
significant strength in the top band.
In Mathematics, looking at comparisons we can draw from
the data available, it is evident that the results compare
very favourably with AIS schools – especially Year 9 and in
the higher bands. In Year 7 – 52.4% of students achieved
Band 8 or 9 compared with 43.1% of NSW AIS schools. In
Year 9 – 57.4% achieved Band 9 or 10 compared to 40.5%
of NSW AIS schools.
In order to address a downward trend in “at proficiency”
levels, the Maths Department have focused on teaching
fluency with mathematical algorithms in Years 6 and 7 and
discouraged the overuse of a calculator in Year 8, as well
as working harder to promote the understanding of size,
proportion and percentages rather than teaching students
to learn mechanically with a calculator. All Mathematics
programs in Years 6, 7 and 8 have been reviewed to
address these issues.
The Mathematics faculty is currently re-writing the Year 7
program in readiness for the Australian Curriculum and to
accommodate the longer teaching periods in 2013. They
have used this as an opportunity to start each lesson with
20 minutes of “number work” and each lesson will have
two themes, one of them being a number theme. Whilst
there is a general reluctance to practice specifically for
the NAPLAN tests, Mathematics has reinstituted a noncalculator test along with Yearly Examinations in each year
group to address the identified issues.
An analysis of the NAPLAN data has identified the highlight
of Moriah’s NAPLAN tests for 2012 as the Mean for Year
7 boys (53 students) who improved significantly from
2011 in the test aspect of Grammar & Punctuation. It also
identified an area for investigation being the Growth for
Year 7 Girls (70 students) who showed on average less
growth in Numeracy than the boys, although still well
above the State average.
Refer to http://www.myschool.ed.au for further
information on the College’s performance in NAPLAN

25

Our Per for mance

NAPLAN: YEARS 7 & 9, 2012

Table: NAPLAN Results – Year 7
Percentages in Bands Summary Number of Students: 2012: 122

Numeracy
(%)

Data, M,S&
Geometry
(%)

55

38

25

31

44

34

31

51

26

25

43

40

28

26

31

27

13

9

31

15

31

19

25

19

18

24

21

24

29

23

8

2

4

4

6

14

5

2011

7

6

14

8

9

9

9

2012

4

1

0

0

0

0

0

2011

3

0

3

1

2

4

4

2012

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2011

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

Reading
(%)

Writing
(%)

2012

39

33

37

2011

47

21

30

2012

29

54

29

2011

23

56

2012

21

2011
2012

Year 9
Band 6
Band 5
Band 4
Band 3
Band 2
Band 1

2011: 119

Spelling
(%)

Grammar &
Punctuation
(%)

Number,
Patterns &
Algebra (%)

NB Numbers are rounded to nearest zero
Table: NAPLAN Results – Year 9
Percentages in Bands Summary

2011: 132

Reading
(%)

Writing
(%)

Spelling
(%)

Grammar &
Punctuation
(%)

Numeracy
(%)

Data, M,S&
Geometry
(%)

Number,
Patterns &
Algebra (%)

Band 10 2012

14

20

3

12

37

31

41

2011

19

20

11

13

24

25

31

2012

27

21

36

28

21

25

18

2011

16

23

32

21

26

23

22

2012

32

30

34

30

23

20

24

2011

33

33

30

41

29

30

29

2012

20

18

21

18

16

15

12

2011

22

12

23

16

15

17

10

2012

8

8

4

11

3

8

3

2011

9

9

4

6

4

4

6

2012

0

5

1

1

1

1

2

2011

2

4

0

3

2

2

2

Year 9

Band 9
Band 8
Band 7
Band 6
Band 5
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Number of Students: 2012: 155

NB Numbers are rounded to nearest zero
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Year 3 performed well in 2012, with no apparent areas of
weakness evident which had been the case in previous
years.
In Reading, a smaller number of students scored Band 6
than in 2011, however, more students scored Bands 4 and
5 than in 2011.
In Writing, thirty-three students scored Band 6 compared
to 21 in 2011, which is pleasing. A similar number of
students scored Band 5 as in 2011. Fewer students
achieved Band 4 this year, however, only two students
scored Band 3 compared to six in 2011 so the results are
moving in the right direction.
In Spelling, students scored better than in 2011 in Bands 5
and 6, while only four students scored Band 4 (compared
to fourteen in 2011) and no students scored Band 1 or 2.
These results are positive, as spelling had been identified
as a weak area in previous years. So strategies put in place
over the past year are working.
In Grammar and Punctuation, there has been an upward
trend in performance. Fifty-five students scored Band 6
compared to forty-four in 2011. Results in other bands
were also pleasing with no students scoring Band 1 or 2.
Another positive result for an area that had been identified
as needing to improve in previous years.
In Data, Measurement, Space & Geometry and Number,
Patterns & Algebra a significant number of students scored
less in Band 6 than in 2011. However this is reversed in
Band 5 and is not a source of concern. Fewer students
scored Band 2 than in 2011 and no students scored Band 1.

In Writing, more students scored Band 8 than in 2011
(twenty-nine compared to twenty-one). Results were
similar in Bands 6 and 7 to 2011 and less students scored
Band 5 (eight compared to thirteen). Teachers are satisfied
with these results, as writing had been identified as a weak
area in the past, so strategies put in place appear to be
working.
In Spelling, more students scored Bands 6, 7 and 8 this
year and less students scored Band 5 (eight compared to
twenty-four) so, overall, improvement has been made in
spelling.
In Grammar & Punctuation, significantly more students
scored Band 8 than in 2011 (forty-two compared to
twenty-three), although this is offset by less students
scoring Band 7 this year and six students scoring Band
4 compared to one in 2011. Teachers will analyse the
way they teach grammar and punctuation and adjust as
necessary to prevent any downward trends.
In Numeracy and Data, Measurement, Space & Geometry,
results remained consistent with previous years.
In all areas, the number of students who scored results in
the lowest bands was negligible.

STUDENT GROWTH YEAR 5 2010 – 2012
No of students: 97
From 2010 to 2012:

r In Reading, 93% of students showed growth
r In Writing, the growth was not measureable as the text
type tested changed.

r In Spelling, all students showed growth

In all areas, the number of students who scored results in
the lowest bands was negligible.

r In Grammar & Punctuation, 95% of students showed

Year 5 performed well in 2012, with no apparent areas of
weakness evident which had been the case in previous
years.

r In Numeracy, 100% of students showed growth In Data,

In Reading, the same number of students scored Band
8 as in 2011 and more students scored Band 7 this year.
Two students scored Band 4 and three students scored
Band 3 compared to zero students in 2011. Teachers will
analyse the Reading results further but they are not unduly
alarmed as they realise that results will fluctuate from year
to year depending on the cohort.

growth
Measurement, Space & Geometry

r In Number, Patterns & Algebra, 95% percent of students
showed growth
Teachers will continue to examine the results and look for
ways to further enhance Reading in English and Number,
Patterns and Algebra in Mathematics.
Refer to http://www.myschool.ed.au for further
information on the College’s performance in NAPLAN.
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NAPLAN: YEARS 3 & 5, 2012

Table: NAPLAN Results – Year 3
Percentages in Bands Summary Number of Students: 2012: 86
Reading
(%)

Year 9
Band 9
Band 8
Band 7
Band 6
Band 5
Band 4

2011: 93

Writing
(%)

Spelling
(%)

Grammar &
Punctuation
(%)

Numeracy
(%)

Data, M,S&
Geometry
(%)

Number,
Patterns &
Algebra (%)

2012

21

17

11

23

26

22

30

2011

15

19

11

16

27

28

37

2012

25

31

37

30

26

25

21

2011

34

26

26

16

25

21

19

2012

35

25

38

31

28

35

30

2011

26

28

37

37

27

28

26

2012

15

16

10

14

14

16

12

2011

21

19

20

29

14

16

12

2012

5

11

3

3

5

3

6

2011

4

7

6

2

8

8

5

2012

0

1

2

0

1

0

2

2011

0

1

1

1

0

0

1

NB Numbers are rounded to nearest zero
Table: NAPLAN Results – Year 4
Percentages in Bands Summary

2011: 102

Reading
(%)

Writing
(%)

Spelling
(%)

Grammar &
Punctuation
(%)

Numeracy
(%)

Data, M,S&
Geometry
(%)

Number,
Patterns &
Algebra (%)

Band 10 2012

14

20

3

12

37

31

41

2011

19

20

11

13

24

25

31

2012

27

21

36

28

21

25

18

2011

16

23

32

21

26

23

22

2012

32

30

34

30

23

20

24

2011

33

33

30

41

29

30

29

2012

20

18

21

18

16

15

12

2011

22

12

23

16

15

17

10

2012

8

8

4

11

3

8

3

2011

9

9

4

6

4

4

6

2012

0

5

1

1

1

1

2

2011

2

4

0

3

2

2

2

Year 9

Band 9
Band 8
Band 7
Band 6
Band 5

Our Per for mance

Number of Students: 2012: 102

NB Numbers are rounded to nearest zero

ACADEMIC REPORTING
In the Primary School years parents receive two formal
written reports, one at the end of Semester 1 and one at
the end of Semester 2. The reports in 2012 were based
on the strands of each Key Learning Area of the Board of
Studies NSW Syllabus documents. Students were graded
according to their level of achievement within each strand.
The report also includes a comment for each subject
which indicates students’ strengths, challenges and, where
appropriate, strategies for improvement. Each student’s co
curricular activities and absences are also recorded.
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In Years 6 – 10, parents receive two formal written
reports, one at the end of Semester 1 and one at the
end of Semester 2. The report in each subject indicates
achievement across a range of assessment tasks, grades for
a range of learning outcomes and indicators of a student’s
approach to learning, as well as an extended comment
which acknowledges students’ strengths, challenges and
where appropriate, strategies for improvement. The report
also includes a course mark, mean, standard deviation,
range of marks with quartile distribution.

A pastoral report is also included outlining a student’s
co-curricular involvement, performance in Well Being
Programs as well as days absent (explained, unexplained
and late).

use of Information Technology is the combination that
provides the desired results. The implementation of the
NSW Quality Teaching model and a focus on Differentiation
supports this approach.

Years 11 and 12 differ from the junior school in the
following way:

To support our 1:1 program in 2012 a new Learning
Management System (eLY) was implemented across the
College (Preschool to Year 12). The main focus of eLY was
to provide a learning environment where student and staff
have access to learning and teaching, and are also able to
personalise their learning spaces with customised tools to
recognise individual and developmental differences. eLY
has provided a platform for our Parent community to be
more involved in the learning experiences of their children
and facilitating better communication.

r Year 11 receives a full academic report at the end
of Semester 1 as described above and at the end of
Term 3 when Year 11 concludes they receive a Result
Notification for all courses with an indication of their
cumulative rank in that course

r Year 12 receive Result Notifications at the end of each
Assessment Period in the lead up to the Trial HSC
examinations. These contain the mark, mean, standard
deviation and rank for each course assessed during
that assessment period. After the Trial HSC in August,
students receive a formal written report which contains
the marks and ranks for those courses assessed at the
Trial examinations.

FORMAL PARENT-TEACHER INTERVIEWS
Formal interviews are organised twice a year for all
students from Years K to 5. All school reports invite
parents to ring the school and make an appointment if
they wish to discuss their child’s progress at any time.
Formal parent-teacher interviews are conducted twice
a year for Years 6 to 8 and once a year for Years 9 to 12.
Parents are invited to electronically book times for teachers
via the schools e-learning interface.
Open, two-way communication between the school and
home is encouraged at all times throughout the year
across K – 12

Our Action Research with iPads in Special Education
throughout 2012 provided us with valuable data and
resources in implementing iPads to the rest of the College.
2013 is showing a seamless integration of Laptops in our
teaching and learning programs. Staff in both Middle
School and High School are experiencing the benefits of
eLY to enhance their teaching and learning programs. The
College recognises the benefits that are obtained from
ongoing staff training and development in this area, in
order to achieve the maximum benefit from this exciting
program.
In 2013, the Jewish Studies Department started a language
lab with iPads and both the Music and Special Education
Departments have been provided with iPads as part of
their technological requirements for their programs.
The Primary School embarked on a “pilot” project, in
partnership with Samsung, on the use and effectiveness of
hand held devises in the Primary classroom.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
2012 was a significant in terms of further progress in
the area of Information Technology. Having successfully
launched the first phase of our 1:1 Laptop program with
the Year 9 students in 2011, funded by the Commonwealth
Government (DER program), it was decided that we
were ready to implement the next phase of the Laptop
program for Middle School and High School. This second
implementation included parent funded Laptops for Year
7, 8 and 9 in 2012. The feedback from students, parents and
teachers concerning this roll-out was extremely positive
and it augurs well for the continuation and expansion of
the Laptop program in 2014.
To complement the Laptop program, the College
recognised the need for appropriate staff professional
development in their use of the Laptops by improving their
technical skills, but also by the way teachers approach their
lessons in the classrooms. Good teaching requires more
than technology alone. Quality pedagogy and the effective

1.

Create dynamic learning environments, to develop
engaged, focused and independent learners. This will
involve creating learning spaces that promote 21st
Century Learning.

2.

Experiment to determine the benefits of a Flipped
Classroom model, utilising the vast online resources
from Khan Academy and other websites.

3.

Use Video conferencing tools for educational
purposes (e.g. to experience virtual field trips from
organisations such as the Powerhouse Museum).

4.

Provide resources and create opportunities for
blended learning, which combines teaching and
learning methods from both face-to-face, mobile
and online learning, including elements of both
synchronous and asynchronous online learning
options.
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Moving forward, the College seeks to:

Our Staff

Professional Learning and Teacher Standards
EXCELLENCE IN TEACHING AND LEARNING

Primary School

The development of quality teaching and learning
practices for the 21st century continued to be our focus in
2012. Teacher programs, practice and professional learning
centred on:

College based professional learning in 2012 was directed
at supporting:

r differentiation as an integral part of classroom practice
in preparation for a new timetable structure of four,
eighty minute periods to be introduced in 2013;

r the development of ICT skills for our lap-top
environment;

r promotion of high levels of intellectual quality focussed
on deep understanding of important, substantive skills
and ideas within a quality learning environment:

r a connectedness between what is already known, the
contexts of other learning disciplines alongside the
ethos and culture students are immersed in at the
College;

r Initiatives and programs undertaken at the College
in 2011 that require participation by staff including
introduction of the learning management system eLY
and Springboard Comprehension

r Addressing significant aspects of professional learning
that support improved student learning outcomes.
This includes professional learning associated with
pedagogy and student wellbeing

r Building leadership potential and capacity at the
College
The following table is a breakdown of the Professional
Learning attended by Primary School staff with external
providers throughout 2012:

r an emphasis on leadership capacity; teacher review and
teachers as learners.

PERCENTAGE STAFF
ATTENDING

SUBJECT CONTENT

44%

Middle and High School Staff

LEADERSHIP

15%

The following table is a breakdown of the Professional
Learning attended by Middle and High School staff with
external providers throughout 2012:

STUDENT WELFARE

18%

PEDAGOGY

15%

ICT

11%

FIRST AID

6%

ADMIN

1%

PD CATEGORY

Our Staff

PD CATEGORY

PERCENTAGE STAFF
ATTENDING

SUBJECT CONTENT

39%

LEADERSHIP

17%

STUDENT WELFARE

15%

PEDAGOGY

15%

ICT

8%

FIRST AID

3%

The increase from 2011 in the percentage of staff attending
professional learning in pedagogy can be attributed to the
introduction of a process where members of the College
Executive were asked to identify and invite teachers to
develop capacity in pedagogical practice. The successful
introduction of the 1:1 lap-top program in combination
with a strong College based program to develop ICT skills
at a faculty appropriate level may account for the decrease
in staff professional learning associated with ICT.

The increase from 2011 in the percentage of staff attending
professional learning in subject content can be attributed
to the introduction of the new Australian Curriculum and
in this case Science

PROFESSIONAL LEARNING AS COLLEGE
BASED STAFF DEVELOPMENT 2012
High and Middle School
College based professional learning in 2012 was directed
at supporting:

r Initiatives and programs undertaken at the College
in 2011 that require participation by staff including
introduction of the learning management system eLY
and the 1:1 lap-top program

r Addressing significant aspects of professional learning
that support improved student learning outcomes.
This includes professional learning associated with
pedagogy and student wellbeing

r Building leadership potential and capacity at the
College
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PROFESSIONAL LEARNING AS COLLEGE BASED STAFF DEVELOPMENT 2012
Preschool – Year 12
STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 1
Friday, 27 January
2012
Tuesday, 31 January
2012

r Presentation ‘College ethos and values’ by Rabbi Dr. Aryeh Solomon, College Rabbi and
Acting College Principal, John Hamey

r Key-note address by Acting College Principal, John Hamey
r Key-note addresses by Dr Jenny Gore (University of Newcastle) and Dr Jill Forster
(Education Consultant) ‘Supporting the ongoing introduction of the Quality Teaching
Model’

r Faculty meeting time to facilitate staff collaboration in the ongoing implementation of
the quality teaching model and differentiated teaching and learning practices that are
context specific

r Training in support of the implementation of ‘eLY’ to support implementation of 1:1
Laptop program

High and Middle School
STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 2
Leadership Conference: Dr Robert Carbines
FOR LEADERS
Sunday, 22 April
2012 –
Monday, 23 April
2012

Presentation of current evidence-based research supported by a series of interactive
leadership workshops concerning:

r
r
r
r
r

Contemporary Educational Leadership
Middle Leadership and the College Strategic Plan
Key Leadership Behaviours
Building Effective Teamwork
Initiating and Sustaining Cultural Change

Presentation of current evidence-based research supported by a series of interactive
leadership workshops concerning:

r How to have the hard conversations
r Managing the change process
Introductory presentation to Positive Psychology led by Dr Suzy Green:

r Positive Psychology, Leadership and Creating Positive Teams
r Self Awareness and Self Management for Leaders
r Educational Audit: Where are we now? Where to from here?

Monday, 23 April
2012

Key-note address by Tony Ryan: What’s New and Exciting in Education and How to Survive
It All.
Tony Ryan provided staff with practical workshops on student engagement and resources
for engaging students. The workshops rotated with College-based workshops delivered by
the ICT Integrators on ICT skills for teachers in support of the 1:1 lap-top program.

FOR TEACHERS

Teaching staff participated in a series of rotating College-run workshops in support of:

Tuesday, 24 April
2012

r Faculty Based ICT Integration
r eLY training
r Synergetic training

Our Staff

FOR TEACHERS

STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 3
Friday, 29 June 2012

The focus for staff development was Student Wellbeing through:

r College-based program of presentations by the Heads of Middle and High School
connecting student wellbeing to academic achievement

r Presentation by the Positive Psychology Institute on the link between positive
psychology and student academic performance
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High and Middle School (continued)
STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 4
Monday, 16 July 2012

The focus for staff development was the College’s ethos through:

r A Yom Limmud program for staff involving various workshops and presentations to
enhance their understanding of the Mission and Ethos of the School. The keynote
speaker was Rabbi James Kennard, College Principal, Mt Scopus, Melbourne who
delivered an address on “What differentiates a Jewish Day School?”

STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 5
Friday, 14 December 2012

College-based program including:

r Practical skills workshops for tutor teachers in preparation for extended Tutor time
in the four period day

r Faculty planning and programming for the four period day and/or the
implementation of Phase 1 subjects in the Australian Curriculum

r Mandatory training: Emergency Care
Primary School
STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 1
Friday, 27 January 2012

r Presentation on College ethos and values.
r Keynote address by Dr Jenny Gore and Dr Jill Forster supporting the ongoing
introduction of the Quality Teaching Model.

Monday, 30 January 2012
– Tuesday, 31 January 2012

r Science in-service, including the planning of topics from the new National
Curriculum.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 2
Monday, 23 April 2012

r Guest speaker, Sue Larkey, presented to all staff about Autism and how to manage
children with Autism in the classroom.

Tuesday, 24 April 2012

r Training in support of the implementation of eLY.
r Provision for staff to program for Science and include the quality teaching model in
their programs.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 3
Friday, 29 June 2012

r The focus for staff development was on English planning and programming with
specific emphasis on Springboard Comprehension - a new program bought by the
school to develop specific comprehension skills.

r Jewish Studies staff focused on the development of the Jewish Studies curriculum.
STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 4

Our Staff

Monday, 16 July 2012

First Aid training for all staff K-5 (mandatory requirement).

STAFF DEVELOPMENT – SESSION 5
Friday, 14 December 2012

College-based program including:

r Grade planning and programming for 2013
r Transition meetings for students
r Completion of record cards
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ONGOING PROFESSIONAL LEARNING IN ICT
High and Middle Schools
The College continued to support and enhance ICT
training for staff in 2012 using the following delivery:

r Targeting individual staff to attend ICT Conferences
r Using Friday Assembly time to rotate staff through
a series of workshops in support of the 1: 1 lap-top
program:

r
r
r
r
r
r

Mac orientation and software training

Learning Communities 2012
Learning Enhancement – G&T Learning Community
ICT Integration
Quality Teaching
Staff Wellbeing
Coaching and Mentoring

Classroom management

Literacy and Numeracy

Changing pedagogies

Effective Middle Schooling

Sample lessons
Ongoing after school Interactive Whiteboard training
Individual Faculty-based ICT training as part of the
Monday Meeting schedule

Primary School
The College continued to support and enhance ICT
training for staff in 2012 using the following delivery:

r Targeting individual staff to attend ICT Conferences
r Synergetic training
r Using Interactive Whiteboards effectively
LEARNING COMMUNITIES
Learning communities were introduced to the rotating
meeting schedule for teaching staff on Mondays as a
way to develop a culture of collaborative learning at the
College.
As part of the Moriah College Strategic Plan the College is
seeking to build a learning organisation with a culture for
innovation that is sustained through ongoing professional
learning. In building the professional capacity of teachers
the College aims to:

r Secure ongoing improvement in student learning

Support of College Ethos Across Faculties
Cyber Safety

TEACHING STANDARDS
Category (Years 6 – 12)

No. of
Teachers

Teachers who have teaching qualifications
from a higher education institution
within Australia or as recognised within
the National Office of Overseas Skills
Recognition (AEI-NOOSR) guidelines, or

94

Teachers who have qualifications as
a graduate from a higher education
institution within Australia or one
recognised within the AEI-NOOSR
guidelines but lack formal teacher
education qualifications, or

0

Teachers who do not have qualifications
as described in (a) and (b) but have
relevant successful teaching experience
or appropriate knowledge relevant to the
teaching context

0

outcomes

r Engage educators in continuous professional
development in instruction for learning

r Build a reflective culture where teaching practice is
examined with a focus on building the capacity in staff
to deepen professional knowledge and refine skills

r Provide a basis for developing future competence

WORKFORCE COMPOSITION
Moriah College has 264 teaching staff (Preschool – Year 12)
with the full time equivalent being 215.6. There are 92 non
teaching staff with the full time equivalent being 58.9.
There are no indigenous staff members.

including the knowledge and skills necessary for future
work

Our Staff

r Inspire/encourage collective, challenging, collaborative
team work

r Support a culture that encourages innovation in
teachers

33

Our Students
STUDENT ATTENDANCE RATES
For whole school student attendance rates, please refer to the
school’s data on the My Schools website:
http://www.myschool.ed.au
Year Level

Annual Absence Rate %

Kindergarten

95.88

Year 1

95.84

Year 2

95.98

Year 3

96.05

Year 4

95.84

Year 5

95.57

Year 6

97.74

Year 7

96.88

Year 8

96.13

Year 9

96.78

Year 10

96.96

Year 11

98.13

Year 12

99.23

Overall

96.82

MANAGEMENT OF NON-ATTENDANCE
The school implements policy and procedures for the
management of student non attendance. An email
notification is sent to parents of students who are absent.
The school follows up where written explanation of
an absence is not received from parents. Absences are
monitored and parent and student conferences are held
to resolve patterns of non attendance or unexplained
absences. Mandatory reporting procedures apply where
absences are extended or the student may be at risk.

Our Students

All Attendance policies were updated to include
amendments to the Attendance Codes and the Exemption
policy, as provided by the NSW Department of Education
and Training.

STUDENT RETENTION RATE AND POST
SCHOOL DESTINATIONS
100% of the 2010 Year 10 cohort completed Year 12 in
2012. 88% of students who left school at the end of Year
12 following the completion of their school education
continued on to University. Those not taking up an offer
followed other tertiary pathways including overseas study
and study at TAFE or other private tertiary providers.
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The Primary School implements policy and procedures for
the management of student non- attendance. Teachers
notify Primary Reception by 9.00am each day of any
absences. The receptionist telephones parents/guardians
who have not called the school absence line to confirm
the child is away. The parent or guardian sends a letter
explaining the absences the following day and the school
follows up where written explanation of absences has
not been received from parents. Absences are monitored
and parents are contacted or a meeting held to resolve
non- attendance.
Mandatory reporting procedures apply where absences are
extended or the student may be at risk.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE STUDENT BODY
Within the ethos of a Modern Orthodox Jewish Day School,
Moriah College attracts a wide range of students – from
the traditional to the very observant. Whilst predominantly
Australian, many students are first generation Australian
with parents from South Africa, Russia, Israel, America and
the UK. In addition, many students are immigrants from
those countries.
The diversity of the student body has enriched the College
and the experience of all its pupils. Students learn from
each other, respect differences and honour their shared
Jewish Identity.
The College has a total number of full time enrolments
Year K- Year 12 of approximately 1504 students with a
close ratio of boys to girls; 747 boys and 757 girls. Eighty
six percent of our student body has English as their first
language with the balance of 14% speaking Hebrew or
Russian.
Further information regarding the school context that is
publicly available including student background, school
staff, enrolments, senior secondary outcomes and VET can
be found at the My School Website www.myschool.edu.au
Refer to the College’s website www.moriah.nsw.edu.au for
further information regarding enrolment at the College.

The College undertakes a variety of Initiatives that promote
respect and responsibility for our students in the Middle
and High School. These two characteristics form the key
elements of our Behaviour Management Policy and as such
the College seeks to provide a variety of opportunities
for our students to develop these qualities through the
following:

r Counterpoint Seminars and Informal Jewish Learning
programs

r
r
r
r
r

Wellbeing Programs
Leadership Programs
Service Learning Programs
Co-curricular and Sport
Music

STUDENT LEADERSHIP REPORT
Wellbeing Programs
Wellbeing programs, delivered through extended Tutor
sessions, continue to address issues relating to respect
and responsibility. All programs from Years 6 to 12 explore
age specific issues with the underlining development of
respect and responsibility. In Year 8 this year, the ‘Rite
Journey’ program was implemented to further enhance
student learning in this area.
Leadership
The development of Student Leadership is a great platform
for students to develop respect and responsibility. In Year
8, students are elected into leadership portfolios where
they are given responsibility to create awareness of their
portfolio and work with respect for and with their peers. In
the High School there are a number of formal and informal
leadership programs, which provide avenues for students
to develop respect and responsibility.
The formal Leadership programs include:

r Year 9 – Itzik Rabin Leadership Program – all students
in their Tutor Group are given the responsibility to come
up with an initiative and then create, publicise and
create an awareness for their initiative.

r Year 10 Hadraha Leadership Program – students
nominate to be part of this program. This program
provides students with leadership opportunities both
within our own Junior School and local partner Junior
schools.

r Year 11 Jewish Advocacy Program – students
nominate to be part of this program. This program
provides students with the skills needed to be leaders in
the community and advocates for their faith. Students
create a presentation on Judaism and then go to other
faith based schools to have interfaith dialogue.

r Year 12 Student Leadership Council – students are
elected onto this Council by staff and students. Similarly
to the Middle School, students take responsibility for
developing their portfolio.
The informal Leadership programs include:

r Safe School’s Committee – students nominate to be
part of this Committee where they aim to create a safe,
respectful and inclusive school. Students put on various
events to build a positive and supportive environment
that embeds respect and tolerance.

r Lighthouse program – Year 12 students’ volunteer to
work with the Special Education unit in Junior School.

r Pink Breakfast – A committee of students, lead by
Year 12 students take responsibly for putting on a Pink
breakfast fundraiser to raise awareness and money for
Breast cancer.
Service Learning – Chesed in Action
Our service learning program relies on our students to
take responsibility to make the world a better place with
respect. Our program forms part of the fabric that binds
our school.

r Middle School runs service learning days, each
semester, to allow students to take responsibility and
give back to the community.

r Year 9 students are expected to complete a minimum
of 20 hours community service each year. Our students
involvement in organisations such as Our Big Kitchen
during school time, enable them to mix with others and
develop respect and responsibility.

r Year 10 students are expected to complete a minimum
of 30 hours community service each year. The College
provides a variety of experiences during school time
to assist in developing their civic responsibility. This
includes:

r
r
r
r

Clean up Australia Day
Legacy Day
International Day
Teaching/interacting Year 3 classes at the College

r Year 10 students have the opportunity to develop a
greater understanding of the Australian indigenous
culture and respect for their faith and heritage by
participating in our partnership program with Yipirinia
School, an indigenous school in Alice Springs.

r Year 10 students have the opportunity to connect with
other cultures whilst on the Israel Study Tour (IST)
and learn about the responsibility they have as future
leaders in developing positive global relations and a
commitment to Israel.
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Our Students

INITIATIVES PROMOTING RESPECT AND
RESPONSIBILITY

r Year 10 participate in Australian Business Week with
Holroyd High School, a school in western Sydney,
which has a high intake of refugees. The College has
formed a positive relationship with Holroyd High.
Ten students from Holroyd High spend two days
with our Year 10 students during Australian Business
week. This experience provides both schools with
a greater opportunity to develop a mutual respect
and understanding for one another and their varied
backgrounds.

r Year 11 students are expected to complete a
minimum of 30 hours community service each year.
Students utilise their study lessons for this purpose by
participating in activities such as:

r Mentoring younger students in the Middle School
and Primary School

r Working with students in our Education Support
unit

r Year 11 and 12 students have the opportunity to
participate in an international service learning program
in Cambodia and participating in school exchange
programs such as the Jewish Advocacy program and
Interfaith seminar programs.

CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES
Through a range of curricular and co-curricular
experiences, all students are encouraged to discover,
explore and extend their talents. Healthy competition of all
kinds encourages the children to develop their strengths
and abilities.
Activities such as Da Vinci Decathlon, Philosophy, HICES
G&T Camp, Drama, Chess and Debating are designed to
build articulate, independent thinkers. Team activities,
such as sporting events foster confidence, self-esteem,
organisational and leadership skills and above all the
importance of being a team player.

SPORT

Our Students

Middle School and High School
The Interhouse Swimming, Athletics and Middle School
Cross Country events provide the pathway for the more
talented students to participate in association, state and
national competitions. In addition students may nominate
to trial for their chosen sports to represent at Association
level.
Year 6 Pathway in competitive sport
ASISSA > CIS > NSW ALL SCHOOLS > NATIONALS
In addition Year 6 compete in HICES Swimming and
Athletics Carnivals
Years 7-12 Pathway in competitive sport
CDSSA >AICES > CIS > NSW ALL SCHOOLS > NATIONALS
A number of Moriah students were successful in
representative sports including, Swimming, Athletics, Cross
Country, Basketball, Tennis, Rugby, Soccer, Netball, Touch
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Football. Several of these students also represented in 2-3
different sports. Individual results in CDSSA Swimming,
Athletics and Cross Country were rewarded with Moriah
students winning their respective age division in each of
these events.
Students are also supported in representative sports
not offered by the College. This year we had a student
represent Australia in Ireland in Ultimate Frisbee and
another in Interschools Equestrian events.
The popularity of the Gala Days for Years 7-12 students in
Tennis, Basketball, Soccer and Netball was rewarded with
Moriah collecting a number of winning trophies in the
Soccer and Touch Football Competitions.
Moriah also entered the CIS Schools Soccer Cup with both
the Boys and Girls teams progressing to the semi finals.
This knock out competition provides very competitive
opposition drawing from a large pool of Independent
Schools.
The Open Boys’ Soccer team were successful in winning the
Ian Gray memorial trophy against Emanuel.
Following on from the success of the College Biathlon at
Clovelly Beach, Moriah entered six teams in the All Schools
Triathlon at Penrith.
Our Open Boys’ Rugby team made history progressing
to the finals of the Peninsula Cup. Their greatest victory
however was their dominance in the annual Masada
Moriah match, which drew a large crowd to witness Moriah
win back the Roy Steinman Trophy.
Moriah excelled in both the Jewish Interschools
Snowsports and Maccabi Championships in Victoria
winning a number of individual results in both Skiing
and snowboarding. This was complemented with Moriah
winning the Senior School Trophy in the Interschools
division.
The opportunity for students in attend a more recreational
ski trip was introduced in 2012 with 10 students electing to
attend a ski camp in conjunction with Masada College on
the NSW slopes at Thredbo.
Thirty Year 10 students participated in a Sydney based
Program for three days which included camping on
Cockatoo Island, Surfing at Manly and Kayaking on Sydney
Harbour.
ASISSA Sport on Thursday afternoons provided
competitive opportunities for our Year 6 students to
compete in a variety of team sports. The Years 7 & 8 Sport/
Recreation Program allowed for the students to choose
from a number of activities using outside providers for
more specialised sports.
The Goodridge Swim School has expanded to include
Adult swim sessions in addition to the squads for Moriah
Students and other students in the Community.
Numbers have progressed steadily with greater attendance
in the warmer months.

The Duke of Edinburgh scheme (Years 9-12) has continued
to growth in strength throughout 2012 with students
completing their Award requirements as follows:

Other Co-curricular Sports on offer in the Primary
School in 2012:

Primary School

r
r
r
r
r
r
r
r

Moriah offers an extensive range of sporting opportunities
for all students in Years K–5.

MUSIC

(i) Gold

10 students

(ii) Silver

45 students

(iii) Bronze

80 students

Students are able to choose from competitive and noncompetitive activities. Competitive activities are grade/
ability based.
Moriah Primary is a member of the All Suburbs
Independent Schools Sports Association (ASISSA), Heads
of Independent Co Educational Schools (HICES) and the
Independent Primary School Heads of Australia (IPSHA).
These three associations administer Inter-Schools’
competitions for Primary members.
Highlights of the 2012 Co-curricular Sports Program

r U10 Boys Futsal team State Champions
r Michaela Smith represented ASISSA at the CIS
Gymnastics Championships
2012 Inter-School Competitions
Competition

No. of students

Term 1
ASISSA Volleyball

Years 5 and 6 (14 teams)

ASISSA Swimming

32

HICES Swimming

25

CIS Swimming

10

Term 2
ASISSA Netball (girls)

Years 5 and 6 (9 teams)

ASISSA Soccer (boys)

Years 5 and 6 (8 teams)

CIS Tennis

3

ASISSA Cross Country

51

CIS Cross Country

23

Term 3
ASISSA Oz Tag

Years 5 and 6 (18 teams)

ASISSA Athletics

67

HICES Athletics

36

CIS Athletics

15

Term 4
ASISSA T Ball

Years 5 & 6(17 teams)

ASISSA Cricket

Years 5 & 6 (1 team)

IPSHA Gymnastics

30

Gymnastics
Badminton
Rugby League
Rugby Union
Tennis
Moriah to Manly Swim
Moriah to Manly Marathon
Duathlon

Middle School and High School

r Encouraging Musical Excellence in Composition
The Composer in the Classroom programme is in its 3rd
successful year with Dr Peter Marshall working with our
students from Year 10-12 to facilitate the development
of outstanding HSC Compositions. Students enjoy the
sessions afforded them in this area and the opportunities
that are created by having professional performers play
and critique their work.

r Music Enrichment Classes in Years 7 and 8
Taking account of the many students playing instruments
at advanced levels in the College the introduction of these
classes has been a very successful innovation. Students
are able to work collaboratively with students of similar
musical experience. This provides a more intellectually
stimulating environment.
Primary School
A newly established and popular Percussion Ensemble has
started for Year 2 children and has a membership of 45. The
Infants Choir is also a very popular activity with numbers
exceeding 40 children.

r Musica Viva and SSO
Years 3-5 on July 22nd and Year 5 attended Sydney
Symphony Orchestra in August.

r “Singing Together”
An exciting and new activity in 2012 has been the
introduction of “Song a Month”. Years 3-5 learn a song
in class over the month and then come together as a
community to sing it in assembly at the end of each
month. This has encouraged boys to sing as well and the
whole school is generally singing much better. These songs
reflect the dual curriculum alternating between secular
and traditional Jewish songs.

r Choir in the Primary Department
There are now 80 students who are members of the
Primary Choir. The “Singing Together” programme has
assisted in creating a great interest in singing across the
Primary School.
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Duke of Edinburgh

INSTRUMENTAL/VOCAL MUSIC

r Assembly Performances

Moriah musicians/vocalists have continued to make
important contributions both inside and outside the
College. The Instrumental Music Programme currently has
5 Concert Bands, Symphony Orchestra, 5 String Orchestras,
Senior and Junior Jazz Band and several small Ensembles.
It continues to offer varied performance opportunities for
students. Our Vocal Programme comprises 3 Vocal Groups
and an Open Mixed Vocal Group in the Middle School.
Most of our students have performed at a number of
events and activities that are part of our school calendar.
A comprehensive programme of opportunities has been
provided for Primary and Secondary musicians by the large
team of permanent and part-time staff. This has resulted in
an increase in the number of students participating in the
Music program at the College.

Several performances have taken place at High School
Assemblies. These include HSC performances and
performances by the Symphonic Winds.

YEAR 1 STRING PROGRAMME
Each year every student in Year 1 spends some time
learning the Violin. This gives the children a small taste
of what it is like to play an instrument and also gives the
Music Staff an insight into those who show an innate
ability for String playing. Several students then elect to
continue with Strings and are allocated a Violin, Viola or
Cello. Our String Programme continues to grow under the
watchful eye of Beth Porter our Head of Strings.

PERFORMANCES WITHIN THE COLLEGE
r Staff Development Day
Two of our students ranging from beginner Jack Springer
to more accomplished Michael Seeff performed for
the entire staff as a way of demonstrating a tangible
representation of the vision Moriah has for the students
it produces. The students delighted audiences with
performances of music in the Klezmer.

r High School Prize Evening
HSC students Michael Seeff performed one of his HSC
pieces in a Klezmer style at the High School Prize Evening
held in February.

Our Students

r Michael Benstock Assembly
Both the Symphonic Wind Ensemble and the Senior Jazz
Band performed at this special Assembly honouring
Michael Benstock for his 40 years of service. The students
and Staff of the Music Department were happy to be
able to perform some of Michael’s favourites as a way of
thanking him for his support over many years.

r New Parent Mornings
As part of a visit to the College by new parents the
Symphony Orchestra rehearsal was open for viewing. This
meant that potential parents could listen to and observe
the rehearsal first hand appreciating a small part of what
Moriah Music has to offer.
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r Yom Ha’aztmaut
Some of our more senior students formed a “rock” band
to perform at the College Yom Ha’atzmaut celebrations.
Repertoire consisted of material that the students had
learnt at Counterpoint and attracted an appreciative
audience. The group comprised Aaron Meyer, Michael
Seeff, Sophie Levy, Ben Kaufman and Daniella Haber.

r Symphony Orchestra Concert
Members of the Symphonic Winds, Wind Orchestra,
Concert Band, Intermediate Strings, Senior Strings and
Symphony Orchestra provided entertainment for this
event. Both the Concert Band and the Symphonic Winds
were able to use this concert as a rehearsal for the City Of
Sydney Eisteddfod later in the month.

r John Monash Commemoration
For the second year Moriah College has co hosted this
Commemoration in honour of Sir John Monash with
Waverley College. This year the Symphonic Winds
performed I Still Call Australia Home and Highlights from
the film Tin Tin.

r Vocal and Jazz Band Showcase
An evening of great music was heard at our Annual Vocal
and Jazz evening. Groups performing were, Senior and
Junior Jazz Ensembles, Open Vocals, Senior Mixed and
two Senior Girls Vocal Ensembles and a number of HSC
performances.

r HSC On Show
This evening showcases our HSC Music students providing
them with a “rehearsal” for the HSC performance exams
in the same conditions and with the same musical
accompaniment that they will use on the day of the
examination. The evening is very well attended and
appreciated by parents, families and friends. The standard
of the performance covering voice and a full range of
orchestral instruments is impressive.

r Instrumental Showcase Concert
A selection of some our most diligent players auditioned
for a place at our Annual Showcase Concert that is
designed to give students the opportunity for solo
performance with accompaniment. The personal musical
milestones of the youngest and newest participants, and
the outstanding performances of the most experienced
musicians are acknowledged and applauded.

r Middle School Showcase

r Idea of North vocal performance at The Kings School

The annual Middle School Showcase attracted several
hundred performers interested in showcasing their
talents in a number of categories - House-based Dance,
Curriculum-based Drama Group Performances and Drama
by audition. The Design and Technology also displayed
the work they had been doing and the Art Department
exhibited their work in the Foyer with musical ensembles
featuring.

Internationally renowned vocal Group The Idea of North
were guest artists at a combined High School vocal day
held at The Kings School. Students performed prepared
works in a large massed choir and each school was given
the opportunity to perform prepared pieces for the group
and audience. Moriah stood out and the members of
The Idea of North commented on their musicianship and
professionalism.

Prior to the evening commencing, students were selected
to busk on the walkways and in the entrance areas to the
various exhibits creating a festive atmosphere.

r City of Sydney Eisteddfod

MUSIC CAMP 2012
Music Camp continues to be a highlight of the musical
year at Moriah with numbers at the Camp escalating. The
Concert, which takes place on the final evening of the
Camp is well received, with almost 1000 people attending.

Two Moriah groups will represent the College at this
prestigious event this year. Both the Concert Band
comprising mostly Middle School and some Primary
students and the Symphonic Winds comprising High
School students will compete.

INSTRUMENTAL/VOCAL MUSIC TUTORIAL
PROGRAMME
Hundreds of Primary and Secondary School students
continued to enjoy weekly vocal and/or instrumental
lessons, provided by outstanding music tutors during the
school day. A comprehensive programme of successful
instrumental and vocal Soirees provided regular
opportunities for students to perform for family and
friends. Congratulations to all tutors and students who
prepared these students for performances.

DEBATING

Under the guidance of our experienced Music Convenors
houses competed for the coveted Music Festival Trophy.
Held over 2 nights to capacity audience the Festival
once again provided a great evening’s entertainment.
Adjudicators are never short of superlatives to describe
the contributions made by arrangers, performers,
choreographers and performers in all areas. The 2012
trophy was awarded to Ezra and the winners in the various
categories are follows:
1st in Ensemble – Ezra
1st in Original Song – Hillel
1st in Dance – Ezra
1st in House Song – Herzl

PERFORMANCES OUTSIDE THE COLLEGE:
r Australian Chamber Orchestra
The Senior String Ensemble played with the ACO in a
Concert held at the Great Synagogue. The Concert was
a great opportunity for our young string players and
gave them the opportunity to attend a Workshop prior
to the Concert with some of the ACO players. This was an
invaluable opportunity.

The HICES Competition was a rigorous competition
that involved more than 40 schools around NSW. For
this competition Moriah entered six teams from Middle
School and High School. While the teams did not reach
the quarterfinals two of the senor debaters, Tamar Jacobs
and Joshua Kirsh received Best Debater Awards for the
Preliminary Rounds, a prestigious individual award. Moriah
College also was a host school for the fourth round of the
HICES Competition, meaning that more than 100 people
from around the Southern Region of Sydney came to the
school to compete.
Moriah College also hosted and competed in the Jewish
Inter-School Debating Competition. This was a competitive
tournament between Moriah College, Emanuel, Kesser
Torah and Masada. Moriah entered five teams from both
Middle School and High School with the Senior Girls team
reaching the finals as well as the Middle School Boys.
By the end of the year the Moriah College Debating team
consisted of 30 students in total, which grew from 10
students in the previous year.

39

Our Students

MUSIC FESTIVAL 2012

Moriah College participated in two Debating Competitions
in 2012.

Our School Policies
STUDENT WELFARE
The School seeks to provide a safe and supportive
environment which:

r minimises risk of harm and ensures students feel safe
and secure;

r supports the physical, social, academic, spiritual and
emotional development of students; and

r provides student welfare policies and programs that
develop a sense of self worth and foster personal
development

STUDENT DISCIPLINE
The College’s Behaviour Management Policy is based on
the notions of Respect, Responsibility and Resilience,
particularly as they are manifested in the Jewish principles
of Kavod, Derech Eretz and Midot. We expect every
member of the Moriah College community (students,
teachers and parents) to demonstrate these qualities in
ways appropriate to their age and role in the community.
We see it as our responsibility to support and assist all
members of the Moriah College community to develop
and implement these qualities.
The Policy has three main components:

r A Midot program
r Recognising good behaviour
r Managing negative behaviour
Students are required to abide by the school’s rules and
to follow the directions of teachers and other people with
authority delegated by the school. Where disciplinary
action is required, consequences imposed vary according
to the nature of the breach of discipline and a student’s
prior behaviour.

All disciplinary action that may result in any sanction
against the student including suspension, expulsion or
exclusion follows processes based on procedural fairness
as outlined in the Suspension, Expulsion or Exclusion of
Students Policy.
There is a separate discipline policy for the Primary School,
Middle School and High School. The full text of the school’s
discipline policy and associated procedures is provided to
staff members through the Staff Policy folder and school
intranet. An outline of the policy and procedures is also
provided to members of the school community in the
Student Diary and The Parent Information Booklet.
The school expressly prohibits corporal punishment
and does not explicitly or inexplicitly sanction the
administering of corporal punishment by non-school
persons, including parents, to enforce discipline at school.

POLICIES FOR COMPLAINTS AND
GRIEVANCES RESOLUTION
Moriah’s policies for dealing with complaints and
grievances include processes for raising and responding to
matters of concern identified by parents and/or students
and staff. These processes incorporate appropriate
principles of procedural fairness.

Our Policies

The full text of the school’s policies and processes for
complaints and grievances resolution is provided in the
Staff Policy folder and an information folder for the Board
of Governors. An outline of the policies and processes
is also provided in the Parent Information Booklet, the
Student Diary and on the school’s intranet.
The policies were revised during 2011 for Registration and/
or reviewed in 2012.
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Policy
Reporting Policy:

r Procedures for completing academic reports
r Staff roles as part of the reporting process
r Style and grammatical guidelines for writing

Revised during 2011
and/or reviewed in 2012

Access to full text

Reviewed in April 2012 for the
start of the academic reporting
season.

Policies Folder, eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration

Policies Folder, eLY, Sick Bay
and Staff Common Room

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. No changes made
in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration and 2012. Each
year level has comprehensive
assessment tools which track
student progress and identify
students for Learning Support
and G&T enrichment.

Policies Folder and eLY

Amended in accordance with
new Attendance codes resulting
from changes to Education Act.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. No changes made
in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. Investigation
procedures updated in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

reports
Accident / Incident Policy encompassing:

r Procedures if a child has an accident or is
involved in an incident

r Steps directing staff how to handle
r Procedure for specific head, neck and spinal
injuries

r Reporting
Anti-Discrimination Policy encompassing:

r
r
r
r

Definitions of the Anti Discrimination Act (1977)
Responsibilities
How complaints are dealt with
Difference between formal and informal
complaints

Assessment Policy K-5 encompassing:

r
r
r
r
r
r

Rationale
Forms of assessment
Assessment and reporting
Student reports
Reporting guidelines and procedures
Procedures for testing

Attendance Policy K-12 encompassing:

r Policies and procedures when dealing with
whole day, partial and prolonged absences

r Truancy and withdrawal from school
Bullying Policy K-5 encompassing:

r Definition of bullying
r How Moriah primary combats bullying
r Code of Conduct, infringements and
Child Protection Guidelines and Procedure
Manual K-12 encompassing:

r
r
r
r

Definitions

Our Policies

consequences

Legislative requirements
Preventive strategies
Reporting and investigation “reportable
conduct”

r Investigation procedure
r Staff Code of Conduct
r Documentation
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POLICIES FOR COMPLAINTS AND GRIEVANCES RESOLUTION (Continued)
Policy
Class Allocation Policy K-5 encompassing:

r
r
r
r

Process of allocating students
Time process

Access to full text

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. No changes
made in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. Updated 2012
to reflect new management
structure in Primary School.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration.

Policies Folder and eLY

Parent requests
Changing of class placement

Communication Policy K-5 encompassing:

r Formal and informal mechanism in place
for facilitating communication between
the school and those with an interest in the
student’s education and well being
Discipline Policy K-5 encompassing:

r
r
r
r
r
r
r

Revised during 2011
and/or reviewed in
2012

Acceptable and appropriate behaviour
Unacceptable and inappropriate behaviour
College behaviour expectations
Discipline Program K-2
Discipline Program 3-5

Reviewed K-2 Discipline
program in 2012 and
included statements on
Corporal Punishment and
Procedural Fairness.

Corporal Punishment
Procedural Fairness

Drug Policy K-5 encompassing:

r Arguments for and against zero tolerance and
harm minimisation approaches

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. No changes
made in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

Updated in 2012 due to staff
changes and feedback on
practice drills.

Policies Folder and eLY

Policy reviewed
in 2012 to update
procedures pertaining
to risk management and
supervision and include
changes in new Workplace
Health and Safety Act.

Policies Folder and eLY

r Guidelines of responses to specific
infringements

r Code of Conduct, infringements and
consequences
Evacuation Guidelines and Procedure Manual
K-5 encompassing:

r
r
r
r

Fire Evacuation
Threat Evacuation
Lockdown
Checklists

Our Policies

Excursions, Incursions and Special Events
Policy K-5 encompassing:

r
r
r
r
r
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Purpose of the excursion or incursion
Staff conduct
Student behaviour
Role of parent helpers
Procedures for Excursions, Incursion
and Special Events Policy including Risk
Assessment

POLICIES FOR COMPLAINTS AND GRIEVANCES RESOLUTION (Continued)
Policy
Grievance Policy and Procedures (Parents and
Staff) K-12 encompassing:

Revised during 2011
and/or reviewed in
2012

Access to full text

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. No changes
made in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. No changes
made in 2012.

Policies Folder and eLY

ICT – Student Computer Use and Staff Code of
Use Policies K-12 encompassing:

Updated in 2011 for
registration.

Policies Folder and eLY

r Agreement about student use
r Staff responsibilities
r Permitted and prohibited uses of College

Social media guidelines
developed in 2012.

r
r
r
r
r

Procedural Fairness
Principles
Procedures
Reportable Conduct
Definitions

Homework Policy K-5 encompassing:

r Statement about Homework
r Procedures
r Times allocated for K-5

systems

r Dealing with emails
r Intellectual property
r Privacy
Pastoral Care Policy K-5 encompassing:
Principles and procedures
Responsibility for the safety of students
Responsibility for Pastoral Care

Updated in 2011 for
registration. Updated 2012
to reflect new management
structure in Primary School.

Policies Folder and eLY

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. Changes made
in 2012 to facilitate more
effective yard supervision.

Policies Folder and eLY

Roles of staff
Specialist pastoral care resources

Student Health Care Policy K-5 encompassing:

r
r
r
r
r

Policies Folder and eLY

Staff responsibility
Procedures for sick child
Procedures for an accident or incident
Protocol for dispensing medication to students
Procedures for sun protection

Supervision of Students Policy K-12
encompassing:

r Staff responsibilities
r Playground supervision
r Supervision prior to the commencement of

Our Policies

r
r
r
r
r

Reviewed in 2011 for
registration. Updated 2012
to reflect new management
structure in Primary School.

classes

r Supervision following the completion of
classes
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POLICIES FOR COMPLAINTS AND GRIEVANCES RESOLUTION (Continued)
Policy
Suspension, Expulsion or Exclusion of Students
Policy and Guidelines K-12 encompassing:

Revised during 2011
and/or reviewed in
2012

Access to full text

No changes in 2012.

Policies Folder and ELY

No changes in 2012.

Policies Folder and ELY

r Principles
r Procedural Fairness
r Guidelines for Suspension, Expulsion and
Exclusion

r Weapons prohibited in the school
r Unauthorised entry on to school premises and
persons behaving offensively in or near school
premises
Staff Swimming Pool Policy K-12
encompassing:

Our Policies

r Procedures for staff to use the swimming pool
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The Parents’ and Friends’ Association works closely with
parents and staff and we encourage the involvement of the
wider community. We meet every second Monday during
the school term.
The Chesed program was in full force from the beginning
of the year with traditional Hamentashen baking for
Purim at Our Big Kitchen. Volunteers worked to bake and
distribute 750 Hamentashen to all the Primary School
(Years K-5) students and staff.
The New Parents’ Evening was remodelled into a cocktail
evening, which was well received by new parents and
attended by the College Principal, Heads of Schools, Board
members, the Leadership Council and the P and F. The
school showcased the Instrumental Program through
Music items.
The P and F was busy organising the class parents for
each class, covering and labeling books and running the
uniform shop.
The P and F supported the Jewish Studies Department
in the coordination, preparation and catering for the
Sederim and Pesach activities that were held in each class
throughout the entire iPrimary School as well as those
for the Middle and High School. Many parents came in to
volunteer their time to help. The Year 11 Studies of Religion
Seder remains a well-received activity also fully catered by
the P and F.
Our connection continued to grow with Our Big Kitchen
with our “cook off days” coordinated by the P and F. One
was held each term to cook and distribute meals for
families within our community who were in need or going
through difficult times.
The AGM was held in May and we welcomed many new
volunteers from the parent body on to the committee.
Mothers’ Day, Fathers’ Day, School Orientations, Open
days, tours, Hot dog days and fundraising breakfasts were
just some of the amazing activities the busy committee
participated in throughout the year to raise funds which in
turn are regenerated to the school.

For the very first time, the newly formed “Grandparents’
Club” was invited to attend the annual “Big Breakfast” held
at Hamakom. A sumptuous buffet breakfast was served
and it was well attended and hugely successful. The guest
speakers were enthralling with their anecdotal stories of
their wonderful book –“One Egg is a Fortune”.
Much energy and effort was placed into finishing the
year on a high note with the Spring Fair and Artbeat’12.
Hundreds of hours and hundreds of people pulled
together to make these events the most successful
ever. The wider community was invited to attend the
opening night and the prize giving as well as to enter the
competition itself. The Spring Fair was embraced by the
entire Primary School and Preschool staff and children. The
day was a smashing success both in terms of friendship
raising and fundraising.
The P and F continues to run the uniform shop and over
the last two years, has coordinated the implementation
and changeover of a new uniform K-12. The old uniform
was collected and was donated to a needy African
community. This initiative was jointly organised by the
school and the P and F.
Monies that were raised in 2012 have been allocated to the
following areas:

r The Art Department;
r The establishment and regeneration of the Community
gardens;

r A new bus;
r Primary School Departments, K-5; and
r Preschools
Projects to be addressed for the 2013 year are the Primary
School and Middle/High School canteens, with the
importance on nutrition and wellbeing, and an upgrade of
canteen facilities as well as the continuation and growth of
the herb, vegetable and community gardens around the
College.
Lauren Ehrlich
P and F President
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Lauren Ehrlich – P&F President

Parents’ and Friends’
Report

Our Community

Karen Shagrin

Yedid-Moriah
Alumni Report

2012, has been another successful year for the Moriah
College Alumni Association. The Moriah Alumni
Association website www.moriah.nsw.edu.au/yedid
continued to be accessed daily by members all over the
world. It kept alumni connected with each other, informed
them about current Moriah events, and engaged eager
participants in fabulous competitions.
BIZNET – Moriah Professional Mentoring Network together
with the College presented the fourth annual Year 11
Industry Panel. The Panel provided students with a
wonderful opportunity to learn first hand about different
career pathways available to them. Thank you to our
BIZNET mentors and College parents who were willing to
share their knowledge and experience with the students.
In 2012 we were delighted to be able to present students
with the expertise of 18 speakers from a wide variety of
occupations and careers.
BIZNET once again provided our Year 12 students with the
booklet entitled “How to Get the Job You Want”.

Our Communit y

Several reunions were held this year. Alumni from the Year
6 Class of 1965 celebrated their 47 Year Reunion. Alumni
from the Classes of 1982 & 1972 also came together to
share memories.
Members of the Class of 1999 planted a citrus tree in
memory of their classmate Jonathan Rev (Jono), who
passed away in 2011. As Jono was in Ezra House, the
tree was planted in Ezra Court on his first Yahrzeit. The
dedication ceremony was attended by family friends,
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along with several members of the Class of ’99. Classmate
Leah Greengarten said “we chose a citrus tree because it is
bright and happy as Jono always was”. The plaque on the
tree reads ‘a true Bondi boy with a heart of gold’.
The Yedid Calendar once again proved to be an effective
and useful communication tool for our parents and
prospective families. The Calendar reflects College life and
events both past and present.
There are many volunteers who work to ensure that events,
reunions and other Alumni initiatives have been a success.
We would like to thank all who have made 2012
achievements so outstanding, including our Yedid
committee members Racquel Grossman, Paula Towers,
Sonya Veltman-Rachamim, Joe Newman and Michelle
Haber. We would also like to thank our enthusiastic BIZNET
committee; Tamar Balkin and Jacqui Bennet. This year we
welcomed Simon Wilkenfeld our Board representative to
the committee.
A special thanks is extended to immediate Past CoPresidents Michelle Mekler-Peled and Ruth Forman.
Amongst their many achievements, they were instrumental
in the establishment of the Harold Nagley Heritage Centre,
the launch of BIZNET - the Moriah Professional Mentoring
Network and the creation of the Year 11 Industry Panel.
The Moriah Alumni Association will forever be indebted
to Michelle and Ruth for their tireless and devoted
commitment to the College.
Karen Shaggrin
On behalf of Yedid Alumni

Our Future

The Moriah Foundation
Report

Judy Lowy – President

We are really proud to report that The Moriah Foundation
(Foundation) is off to a very solid start. Launched in 2011,
concurrently with the Capital Appeal, the Foundation
raised approximately $12 million dollars to help pay down
the debt incurred from the purchase of the land from the
NSW State Government.
The last twelve months have seen some rewarding
achievements and some very satisfying progress. We have
many challenges ahead of us, but have begun to make a
difference. We remain committed to addressing the issue
of affordability of a Moriah education for as many children
as possible, as well as the issue of sustainability. Many of
our generous donors have continued to “step up” well
beyond their commitments to the 2011 Capital Appeal,
and because of that, a great deal of our achievements and
priorities will have a long lasting and significant impact on
the lives of our students.
Since the 2011 Capital Appeal, the Foundation has been
able to turn its attention to addressing the issue of the
affordability of school fees as well as of Israel Study Tour
(IST) funding.
In 2012 the Foundation raised funds to send eight Year
10 students to Israel on the IST program who needed
assistance, as well as offering interest free loans to those
who wished to apply for them.
So far, in 2013, the Foundation has procured additional
funding for the IST program as well as launching the
Moriah Foundation Bursary Program. Thus far, five meanstested Primary School Bursaries (covering Years K-5) and
one Year K-12 Bursary, have been procured from generous
Foundation members. Several more are in discussions.

Shelana Silver – Foundation Director

The Foundation will continue to focus on raising funds for
the IST and Bursary programs.

BURSARIES
As the cost of a Moriah education is becoming increasingly
challenging for many families, the Moriah Foundation has
been seeking donations for bursaries. This past year we are
proud to have secured several new bursaries, one of which
will finance the cost of a students’ entire education from
Year K to Year 12, and others that will fund a Primary School
(Years K-5) education for students who otherwise would
not be able to attend the College. The opportunity to
dedicate a Bursary in honour of or in memory of someone
is an opportunity to dedicate a legacy that will change the
life of a Jewish child, and ensure the continuity of Jewish
education in our community. The greatest investment we
can make is in the education of our children. Bursaries will
be a major focus of the Foundation moving forward into
2013, and we hope that more people will step forward
to help fund the education of students who would not
otherwise have access to a Moriah education.

IST SUBSIDIES AND LOANS
Fifty four children took part in the 2012 IST program
offered to all Year 10 students. Through the generosity of
its members, the Moriah Foundation was proud to enable
eight students, who would otherwise not have been able
to participate, the opportunity to do so with a subsidy. The
College was also able to offer four half subsidies granted
by the Millie Phillips Foundation. The gratitude expressed
by one such family (excerpt below) was echoed by all those
students who were given the opportunity to go on IST.
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Brian Schwartz AM – Chairman

...” There are no words to express our gratitude for what
you have done for our son. Your incredible generosity and
kindness have allowed him to have an opportunity of a
lifetime, that he would otherwise not have had”...
The gratitude expressed by the students themselves
included sentiments like ...” I will remember this moment
for the rest of my life” ... or ..”this has been a life changing
experience for me...”
In addition to the subsidies, and due to the generosity of
one of its members, the Foundation was also able to offer a
no-interest payment plan to those families who wished to
pay the cost of IST over a set number of months.

EVENTS
In addition to raising much needed funds, the Foundation
provides opportunities for its members to come together
throughout the year at a variety of events.
The Inaugural Foundation Cocktail Party held in August
2012 was attended by over 120 members, and was
addressed by Mr David Gonski AC. Other events have
included private viewings of the Archibald Exhibition
at the Art Gallery of NSW, a private dinner at the Lowy
Institute for International Policy addressed by a panel of
foreign policy and political experts, and more recently a
boardroom lunch with guest Dr Daniel Gordis, author and
one of Israel’s most respected commentators.
We will continue to host interesting and stimulating events
for our members.
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GRANDPARENTS CLUB
This year saw the steady growth of our Grandparents Club,
which the Foundation launched in 2012. It has been a
pleasure to provide opportunities for a valued group of the
Moriah Family to come together to enjoy various speakers,
events and interactive opportunities with our students.
We thank our grandparents who have joined the club
and helped bring it to life. We look forward to a busy and
exciting schedule in 2013.
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OBJECTIVES
2012 was a year of review, consolidation and integration
for the Development Office. The strategic focus of the
Development Office expanded to incorporate Enrolments,
Archives and Alumni.
The key objectives for the Development Office for 2012
were:
A. Evaluate the enrolment process and define an
enrolment strategy to ensure the increase of numbers
across all areas of the school.
B. Support and maintain the integrity of the College
ethos by providing effective, efficient and relevant
communication to all Moriah stakeholders.
C. Constantly evaluate and ensure best use and
application of Communications Technology to
communicate effectively with relevant stakeholders.
D. Preserve the history of the school ensuring that
information is accessible to support school initiatives.
E. Support the College’s strategic plan by implementing a
pro-active service-centred approach across each area of
the school – Preschool, Primary School, Middle School
and High School.

IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGIES TO
ACHIEVE THE 2012 OBJECTIVES
A. Evaluate the enrolment process and define an
enrolment strategy to ensure an increase in
numbers to sustain and grow the College
An external organisation MMG was engaged to assist
with the evaluation of the enrolments processes across
the College. The objective of the project was:

r To review the Moriah enrolment processes, protocols,
disciplines and resources against best practice and to
provide a framework for the College to progressively
achieve and maintain this standard.
As a result of the review the following steps were
implemented in 2012:

r Role of the Enrolment Officer was redefined and
formalised.

r The function of enrolments was incorporated into the
Development Office – ensuring best communication
and service support for prospective families.

r Formal processes and strategies were put in place to
ensure a more efficient management of school tours,
orientations and enrolment procedures.

r Creation of an Enrolments Procedure Manual to ensure
all areas of the College have a clear understanding of
the enrolment processes.

r Use of the database to ensure relevant and meaningful
information is provided to key stakeholders.

r Heightened engagement by the College Executive and
other staff ensured that all enrolment strategies were
supported and a cohesive, service-centred approach to
enrolments was adopted.
B. Support and maintain the integrity of the College
ethos by providing effective, efficient and relevant
communication to all Moriah stakeholders.
The Development Office continued to be promoted
internally as the communications service- centre for all
areas of the College. The PR Communications Manager
administers all outgoing communication, ensuring that all
communication sent to prospective and current parents
and other stakeholders continues to be informative,
accurate and relevant.
Printed publications were once again reviewed and
decisions taken to ensure best use of resources and
budget. This review resulted in the following:

r Number of editions of Contact magazine was reduced
from four to two.

r The Annual Report and Financial Statements were sent
to Members of the Associations online, with the number
of printed copies reduced from 2500 to 250. Printing
was in-house as opposed to being outsourced.

r Management of the Yearbook was streamlined with
an online system set up for staff to input information
directly online.
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r The information book was sent to all parents initially
online to ensure timely receipt of this important
publication.

r The number of printed documents was reduced with
the introduction of the Moriah College Intranet (eLY)
and use of online communication.
C. Constantly evaluate and ensure best use and
application of Communications Technology to
communicate effectively with relevant stakeholders
In order to deliver effective, efficient, meaningful and
relevant communication to all stakeholders it has been
(and continues to be) a necessity to ensure the use of upto-date technology and communication tools.
The majority of communication to our parent body and
prospective families is online:

r Online weekly newsletters, which provide parents with
any information they need for the coming week and
beyond.

r Monthly online newsletter (Ma Chadash), which focuses
on the Jewish Life and Learning area of the school.

r Bi-annual online newsletter to prospective families
– keeping them in touch with the College. (New
initiative).

r Invitations, brochures and letters distributed to
stakeholders online, ensuring timely communication
and cost savings.

r Introduction of the Moriah College Intranet (eLY).
An exciting communication initiative introduced in 2012
was the College Intranet – eLY. The PR Communications
Manager played a key and vital role in the successful
introduction, launch, management and support of eLY.
eLY is a comprehensive, online, interactive teaching and
learning environment where students, teachers and
parents can communicate and collaborate together.
The introduction of eLY brought the Moriah Community
– students, teachers and parents – together online. In
order to maximise the full potential of this unique system,
it was vital to ensure that the launch of eLY to parents
was carefully planned, well structured, user friendly and
comprehensive.
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D. Preserve the history of the school ensuring
that information is accessible to support school
initiatives
In 2012 Moriah employed an Archivist with extensive and
diverse experience.
The role of Archivist at Moriah College was expanded to
include not only responsibility for managing the school’s
extensive archive collection but also the task of preparing
strategic recommendations and policy for recordkeeping
across all areas of Moriah’s business and educational
activities.

50

A number of key recordkeeping and archival projects were
identified in 2012. These being:

r Re-box and catalogue the bulk of the records currently
in the archive to ensure they are in preserved in archive
quality boxes and folders.

r Consolidate and catalogue the College’s extensive
digital photographic collection and create one
authentic photographic archive to reduce storage
space required for images on shared drives and increase
accessibility to the collection.

r Conduct records audits in each department of the
school, including preschools, with a view to creating a
full records inventory. This will form the basis for writing
recordkeeping policy and will determine the disposal
action for each type of record according to legal,
business and archival requirements.

r Develop strategies in conjunction with the IT
Department for the management of electronic records
across the school.

r Promote interest in the archive to the alumni and
encourage past students to deposit historical records
with the College.
E. Support the College’s strategic by implementing
a pro-active service centred approach across each
area of the school – Preschool, Primary School,
Middle School and High School
In addition to supporting communication in all areas of
the College the Development Office in 2012 provided
marketing and communication support for the following
events:

r New Parents’ Dinner – Supporting the P&F
r Year K Orientations and Tours – Primary School
r Year 7 Orientation and Tours – Middle School
r Moriah College and Central Synagogue joint Shabbat –
Jewish Life and Learning

r Year 12 Graduation – High School
Brenda Jankelowitz
Director of Development
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It is my privilege to present the financials for the Year
ended 31 December 2012. At the start of each year we look
forward to the future with excitement and enthusiasm. It is
also a time for us to reflect on the past year and review our
successes and reflect on the areas that can be improved.
We continue the practice of transparency by providing
detailed financial reporting and take pride in the
information that is made available to our community.
It exceeds that provided by many other independent
schools, and goes well beyond the data shown on the My
School Website.
The financial results of Moriah War Memorial College
Association and The Moriah War Memorial Jewish College
Association Limited are presented in this Annual Report.
These two entities together are responsible for the
operation of schools at Queens Park and at the Moriah
College Preschools: the John I Einfeld AM Preschool in
Randwick, the Shya Redelman Preschool at Bondi, the
Saunders Family Preschool Campus at Rose Bay and the
Early Childhood Centre at Rose Bay. The two financial
entities, the Moriah War Memorial College Association
and The Moriah War Memorial Jewish College Association
Limited, relate respectively to the General Studies and
Jewish Studies programs offered at these schools. There is
an appropriate allocation and attribution of actual costs
and income between the two entities.
The true financial operating result of the College is
obtained by aggregating the financial results for these
Associations. The two sets of accounts reveal that the
College recorded a deficit of $657,883 for the year ended
31 December 2012 (2011: $2,312,520 surplus). This result
is achieved on an operating revenue base of $38,408,415
(2011: $37,171,675), with total operating revenue being
$39,160,077 (2011: $40,457,775). The difference in
operating revenue relating to Capital Grants and non
operating income received in 2012 of $751,662 (2011:
$3,286,100)

From an operating perspective the College incurred a
deficit of $1,409,545 for the year ended 31 December
2012 (2011: $973,580). This is after adjustments for non
operating income of $751,662 (2011: $3,286,100) as
noted above, which have been disclosed as income in the
Annual Report in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards applicable to ‘Not for Profit’ organisations.
The operating results for 2012 have been mainly impacted
by the increases in expenditure relating to Building and
Grounds maintenance, at the Queens Park Campus. As the
College grounds age, we realise that an increasing level
of expenditure is required to ensure that we provide the
necessary safe environment for all our children’s education.
We expect that this higher level of expenditure, in this area,
will continue in 2013. Other increases incurred related to
increased maternity leave payments, staff terminations and
staff leave and additional expenditure for computer and
information technology, specifically relating to extensions
in the College’s High School lap-top program.
The amalgamated accounts of the Moriah College
Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund, the entities
which are the owners of the buildings on the Queens
Park Campus, together with most of the other property
assets which the school uses, have also been included
in this Annual Report. The Building Fund recorded a
surplus of $1,961,873 (2011 deficit of $1,527,579) leaving
accumulated funds of $26,183,101.
I am pleased to draw your attention to donations of
$1,141,819 received during the period under review. This
amount includes a nett bequest of $751,662 from the
Estate of the Late Norman Lapin, $180,766 from the Estate
of the Late Abraham Rabinovitch and $30,000 from the
Parents’ and Friends’ Association.
The College would also like to gratefully acknowledge a
donation received from The Sir Moses Montefiore Jewish
Home of $103,783.
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PURCHASE OF THE LAND

SECURE SCHOOLS FUNDING

As previously noted in the 2011 Annual Report, the
Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund exchanged
contracts for the acquisition of the freehold property
comprises the Moriah College Queens Park campus, from
the NSW State Property Authority on 15 February 2011.
An important milestone for the College is on the third
anniversary of this date, being 15 February 2014, when
completion of this contract is due to take place. The
balance of the acquisition price of $20.250M, together
with capitalised interest, is due to be paid on this date.
This important event has only been achieved through the
dedicated efforts of The Moriah Foundation and the funds
provided through the continued payment of 2011 Capital
Appeal pledges by donors.

The College was successful in its application for additional
security funding for both the Queens Park Campus and its
Preschools, under the Secure Schools Program – Security
Enhancement Project.

An unprecedented number of children took part in the
IST (Israel Study Program) in 2012, which is offered to all
Year 10 students. Through the generosity of its members,
the Moriah Foundation was able to provide the College
with subsidies, which enabled 5 additional students, who
would otherwise not have been able to participate, the
opportunity to do so.
In addition to the subsidies, and due to the generosity of
one of its members, the Foundation was also able to offer
an interest free payment plan to those families who wished
to pay the cost of IST over a number of months.
On behalf of the College, I would like to thank The Moriah
Foundation Chair, Mr Brian Schwartz AM, President, Mrs
Judy Lowy and Foundation Director, Mrs Shelana Silver for
their tremendous efforts in the continued support of the
College and the critical area of Moriah’s future funding.
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The College was also able to offer four half subsidies
for IST participation, which were granted by the Millie
Philips Jewish Education Fund. The College gratefully
acknowledges and appreciates their commitment in
supporting this worthwhile program.
Financial subsidies of school fees were $1,501,688 in
2012 versus $1,161,152 in 2011. The core allocation for
financial assistance from the Jewish Communal Appeal
to the College was $790,974. The total contribution from
the JCA was $1,059,330 (2011: $1,012,986) including
the contributions from the dollar-for-dollar in-school
fund raising schemes and from the Womens’ Division
collections.
On behalf of the College, and the Moriah families for
whom this support is so important, I wish to thank the JCA
and many members of our community who contribute
so generously. Thanks to this support, many children
who otherwise would not have been afforded a Moriah
education continue to enjoy this opportunity.

Works have been commenced in the 2013 calendar year
and both the physical and financial progress of this project
will be reported upon in the 2013 Annual Report.
We acknowledge and thank the Attorney General’s
Department for their assistance and guidance regarding
the College’s submissions.
We also acknowledge and thank Justice Stephen Rothman
SC and Mr Daniel Goulburn (Co-Chairs of the Australian
Council of Jewish Day Schools (ACJDS)), Executive Director
of ACJDS) Len Hain, the Communal Security Group and
Tara Ende (Co-Chair of Traffic & Security Consultative
Committee) for their ongoing support and commitment to
the College in achieving this funding.
The current year has again been a period of great demand
on all of the resources of the College. One key objective
was and continues to be, to provide our students with the
best Secular and Jewish education experience possible.
Moriah College students achieve excellent outcomes on
external measures such as the Higher School Certificate.
These come about from the provision of excellent
teaching and learning in a well maintained and resourced
environment. The learning environment for the students
of Moriah College includes many resources not commonly
found in schools but nevertheless expected in a school
such as ours.
In setting the fee increases, we have to take into account
those costs incurred in running a top quality dual
curriculum of secular and Jewish studies; the provision of
Jewish Life experiences within and beyond the College;
the provision of high quality, well maintained learning
environments; and the need to keep current with our ICT
infrastructure and software. Added to these costs are the
needs of ensuring safety and security that are inherent in
a Jewish Day School. Whilst we are grateful for the grants
that are received from Government and the Community
which has enabled the enhancement of structural security,
there are however, substantial costs for recurrent security
presence and surveillance.
A significant portion of our expenditure, approximately
70% is directed towards the payment of salaries and wages
to our extremely talented, dedicated and loyal teaching
and associated staff at the College. Our objective is to
attract and retain quality teaching staff to ensure that our
students at Moriah receive the best education and support
possible in a Jewish Day School environment.
We are aware and place a high level of importance on the
cost and affordability of a quality private school education
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As a result of a very thorough and rigorous budget process,
we announced an average increase in school fees for the
current 2012 school year of approximately 6% across the
entire College. Whilst we know that any increase in fees
will place an additional burden on parents, we feel that our
increase is modest when compared to other private and
Jewish Day Schools, and the continuing increase in the
cost of education.
Controlling our debtors in a disciplined and compassionate
manner remains a critical and ongoing challenge. We
continue to manage a methodical process to follow up on
poor payers with appropriate warnings and opportunities
to apply for financial Assistance, if circumstances
warrant it. A fundamental rule is that the College needs
to collect what it has billed in any given year. However,
unsatisfactory payment of debt continues to remain a
significant problem for the College. The monitoring and
collection of payments takes up an enormous amount of
the College’s Financial Controller’s time. From a financial
perspective, any outstanding debt places a strain on the
cash flow of the College and results in an increased interest
cost, which adversely affects the financial results.
My role as Treasurer would be a much greater challenge
were it not for the invaluable support of Mr Sam Samuels,
Head of Corporate Services whose assistance to both
myself and the Board of Management is unwavering. Sam
goes above and beyond to deliver the highest level of
professionalism and expertise in his support in the day to
day operations of the College. I look forward to continuing
working together with Sam this coming year, to provide
best service and practice to our parents, staff and members
of the Moriah Community.
Together, Sam and I work closely with Mr Gus Nosti
the Financial Controller and the administration team,
who I would like to thank for their outstanding work,
commitment and tireless efforts.
Over the past years, my role has been supported by
Mrs Daisy Sultana, Executive Officer to the Board of
Management. Her attention to detail, organisation skills
and guidance are appreciated and I would like to extend
my thanks to her for all she does to facilitate my position
on the Board.
I gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Grant Thornton,
the College’s Auditors. Their level of professionalism
and vigilance in managing this enormous task is greatly
appreciated.

Assistance and encouragement from the Board of
Management, has been invaluable. I would like to thank
firstly Mark Schneider, who served as President until
October 2012, and Giora Friede who was then elected as
President of the College. Their commitment to the school,
coupled with years of service has provided me with a great
platform. I would like to extend my thanks to Giora and the
entire Board of Management for their advice and ongoing
support, and I look forward to working with Giora on the
Board of Management this coming year.
I would like to acknowledge the support, advice and
strong associations formed with both Roger Kaye and Tara
Ende, both of whom will not be standing for re-election
this year. 3 of my years as Treasurer were under the
leadership and Presidency of Roger and I am grateful for
the leadership, guidance and support that he provided to
the College and to me personally.
Tara and I have worked closely for a number of years on the
Board and this past year we have co-chaired both Financial
Assistance and the Security sub-committees I enjoyed
working with Tara and would like to thank her for all her
assistance and support.
Their absence from the Board will be conspicuous and they
will be sorely missed.
The College’s financial affairs receive close attention from
the Finance and Audit Committee, which maintains and
oversees not only the College’s financial integrity but
also its risk management and compliance framework.
The College is fortunate to have a Finance and Audit
Committee whose members not only bring broad
commercial expertise to bear, but also display commitment
and enthusiasm in assisting the College. I am extremely
grateful to this Committee for their support and guidance.
It has been an honour and privilege to work with the Mr
John Hamey, College Principal. I look forward to working
with John in the coming years, as the College, under his
leadership is sure to grow from strength to strength.
Moriah continues to be a wonderful institution, and the
Moriah Family an outstanding community. It has been a
great honour to serve the College as Honorary Treasurer
and this past year has been a source of much personal
enjoyment and pride.
I should like to thank the parents of Moriah College and all
members of our school community for having embraced
the many changes that have been implemented this year.
Their support is greatly appreciated.
Finally, I wish to thank my wife Brenda, and my two
children, Adam and Daniel for their unwavering support
and encouragement which they constantly provide, so that
I am able to fulfil my duties.
Stephen Jankelowitz
Honorary Treasurer
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that Moriah aims to provide to all of our students. We
know that the demands that we all face with the uncertain
conditions prevalent in Sydney and the general economy
make it an important decision to commit to continued
enrolment at Moriah.

Moriah War Memorial
College Association
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
ACN 000 049 383
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MORIAH WAR MEMORIAL COLLEGE ASSOCIATION

Directors’ Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

Directors
The names of the directors in office at any time during or
since the end of the year are:
Mr G Friede
Mr M Schneider
Mr R Kaye
Dr S Morris
Mr S Jankelowitz
Mr O Freedman
Mr A Ryba (resigned May 2012)
Mrs L Ehrlich (appointed May 2012)
Mrs T Ende
Mr J Fridman
Mr M Friedgut*
Mr A Gelman
Mr R Goot AM SC (appointed May 2012)
Mrs J Lowy
Dr S Roberts
Mrs M Saunders-Weinberg*
Mr G Sher (appointed May 2012)
Mrs T Solsky
Mrs M Sonnabend (appointed May 2012)
Mr S Wilkenfeld
*Did not stand for re-election in May 2012.

The long-term objectives of Moriah College are based
on sustainability and continuity. The College does this
by building upon the traditions of the past to meet the
expectations and aspirations of its key stakeholders –
parents, students and the broader Jewish Community,
through the development and growth of:

r A key partnership between the College and Parents
that facilitates children being individually supported to
achieve their best.

r Resilient and confident citizens and life-long learners
who strive to achieve their personal best and feel secure
with their Jewish identity.

r Community confidence that the College represents the
values of the Jewish Community and develops future
leaders of both the Jewish and broader Australian
communities.
Strategy for achieving these objectives
The College focuses on the following key elements in
strategic planning to meet both its short and long term
objectives.
1.

Excellence in teaching and learning through the
development and implementation of quality teaching
& learning practices for the 21st century.

2.

Student growth and well-being by creating an
atmosphere where students can maximise their
potential as students and citizens with regard to their
natural abilities.

3.

Our Jewish ethos by creating a Jewish Learning
Experience that provides our students with
opportunities to be informed, committed and
respectful members of the Jewish community; with a
positive Jewish identity; and to provide opportunities
for religious practice to students across the full gamut
of the Modern Orthodox spectrum.

4.

Parent and Community Partnership through
the development and implementation of effective
communication strategies with key stakeholders, that
promotes a culture of respect, trust and co-operation.

5.

Our Staff through the recruitment and retention of
engaged and committed staff who are supported by
professional development and active participation
in the Quality Teacher Development and Review
program. We are actively seeking out and cultivating
Jewish studies and Hebrew staff to ensure the
maintenance of high quality Jewish education.

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial
year to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated.
Legal structure
The entity is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001
and is an entity limited by guarantee. If the entity is wound
up, the constitution states that each member is required
to contribute a maximum of $10 each towards meeting
any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 31 December
2012 the collective liability of members was $18,550 (2011:
$19,410.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company during the year
were that of conducting a school and preschool.
Short and long term objectives
Moriah College provides high quality secular and Jewish
educational experiences, from the early childhood centre
and Preschool to Year 12, across its Early Childhood Centre,
three Preschools, Primary, Middle and High Schools, for the
Jewish community.
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Your directors present their report on the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2012.

1.

2.

Our Facilities and Learning Environment by
providing and maintaining well resourced spaces to
support collaborative Jewish and secular teaching
& learning. Increasingly our learning environment
is moving towards more widespread usage of
technology and the need to provide on-line access to
contemporary teaching and learning resources.
Financial Performance with a focus on long-term
financial strength to ensure sustainability and
affordability which are particularly relevant to the
ideals of the College to provide community access to
high quality Jewish and secular education.

Measurement of performance, including key
performance indicators
Our objectives are measured through a series of
external reporting mechanisms to the NSW and Federal
Governments in which we report against specific
outcomes for targeted funding to meet the educational
and resource needs of children with learning enhancement
requirements; provide statistical data on financial, staffing
and grant funding aspects, as well as specific programs
such as the Digital Education Revolution (DER) and the
Building the Education Revolution (BER) which provided
funding to be expended against approved projects.
The College also provides information on its business
operation to the Jewish Communal Appeal, as part of the
annual submission process for allocation of additional
funds to support the College providing financial assistance
to families experiencing financial difficulties and for
the support of special needs education to the growing
population of children across the College, with diagnosed
disabilities and learning support needs.
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The College is also inspected on a regular basis by the
NSW Board of Studies (BOS) to ensure compliance with
the syllabus and operational requirements for educational
delivery, leading to ongoing registration.
Educational performance is measured at a State and
National level through the NSW School and Higher School
Certificates and the NAPLAN tests for Years 3, 5, 7 and
9. These results are reported to the College and general
community through College based communication
channels and on the MySchool website developed by the
Australian Curriculum Assessment and Reporting Authority
(ACARA).
The College has developed a three year Strategic Plan
which was implemented during 2012. This plan provides
not only the detailed strategic initiatives around the
seven areas of focus, but also detail metrics which provide
additional performance measurement and reporting
mechanisms.
Operating results
The Company made a net loss for the year of $657,883
(2011 surplus: $2,312,520). The net loss included non-
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operating revenue of $751,662 and the net loss from
operating activities was $1,409,545.
Review of operations
A detailed review of the operations of the College is
contained in the President’s Report and the College
Principal’s Report, included in the full annual report.
Significant changes in state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of
the Company that occurred during the year.
After balance date events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of
the year which significantly affected or may significantly
affect the operation of the Company, the results of those
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future
years.
Future development, prospects and business strategies
Likely developments in the operations of the Company and
the expected results of those operations in future financial
years have not been included in this report as the inclusion
of such information is likely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to the Company.
Directors’ Qualifications
Giora Friede
(President)
Qualifications: BEcon Sc
Board Member since 1999
Honorary Secretary 2008 – May 2011
Vice President May 2011- November 2012
President since November 2012
Director
Mark Schneider
(Immediate Past President)
Qualifications: BE (Hons), BSc, ASIA.
Board Member since 1994
Honorary Secretary 1997 – 1998
Honorary Treasurer 1998 – 2001
Vice President 2001 – 2005
President 2005 – 2008
Immediate Past President 2008 – 2011
President May 2011 – October 2012
Immediate Past President since November 2012
Investment Banker
Roger Kaye
(Vice President)
Qualifications: BCom, MBA
Board Member since 1999
Honorary Treasurer 2001 – 2005
Vice President 2005 – 2008
President 2008 – May 2011
Immediate Past President May 2011 – October 2012
Vice President since November 2012
Company Director

Suzanne Morris
(Vice President)
Qualifications: PhD, UNSW;
BSc (Psychology) Hons I,
UNSW; BSc (Medicine), UNSW
Board Member since May 2008
Assistant Secretary June 2010 – May 2011
Honorary Secretary May 2011 – May 2012
Vice President May 2012
University Lecturer
Stephen Jankelowitz
(Honorary Treasurer)
Qualifications: B Com, CA
Board Member since 2007
Honorary Treasurer since 2008
Chartered Accountant and Company Director
Oliver Freedman
(Honorary Secretary))
Qualifications: BSc (Psych.), Hons and
Masters of Applied Psychology
Board member since May 2010
Honorary Secretary since May 2012
Market Research Consultant
Managing Director
Anthony Ryba
Qualifications: BBus
Board Member 2000 – 2007
Resigned February 2007
Board Member June 2008 – May 2012
Vice President May 2011 – May 2012
Resigned May 2012
Tara Ende
Qualifications: BCom, LLB
Board Member since 2004
Assistant Secretary May 2008 – June 2010
Solicitor and Registered Migration Agent
Lauren Ehrlich
(P&F President) since May 2012
Qualifications: BA Visual Arts, SCAE Graduate Diploma
Secondary Education, Syd
Board Member since May 2012

Robert Goot AM SC
Board Member 1984 – 1996
Vice President 1986 – 1987
President 1989 – 1996
Immediate Past President 1996 - 1998
Life Patron since 1998
Trustee since 2002
Board Member since May 2012
Barrister and Senior Counsel
Judy Lowy
Qualifications: BA (UNSW)
Board Member since May 2008
Company Director
Sam Roberts
Qualifications: MBBS (Adelaide), GCertForensicMHealth,
FRANZCP, MACLM Board member since May 2011
Consultant General and Forensic Psychiatrist
Monica Saunders-Weinberg
Board member May 2010 – May 2012
Company Director and Managing Director
Gavin Sher
Qualifications: BCom, H Dip Acc, CA(SA)
Board member since May 2012
Group Accountant
Terri Solsky
Qualifications: BCom (UNSW)
Board member since May 2011
Miri Sonnabend
Qualifications: BA (Hons), LLB
Board member since May 2012
Solicitor
Simon Wilkenfeld
Qualifications: BCom (UNSW) Major: Accounting,
Finance and Systems
Board member since May 2011 Managing Director
*Did not stand for re-election in May 2012.
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Mark Friedgut*
Qualifications: BA LLB
Board Member 9 December 2009 – May 2012
Barrister
Joseph Fridman
Qualifications: BCom (Honours), Chartered Accountant, MBA
Board member since May 2011
Chief Executive Officer
Alex Gelman
Qualifications: BCom MCom CPA MACS
Board member since May 2011
Technology Strategist | Partner
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Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 14 meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:
SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCES AT MEETINGS DURING 2012
BOARD MEETINGS
NAME

EXECUTIVE MEETINGS

ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND

ATTENDED

ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND

ATTENDED

Friede, G

14

11

8

7

Schneider, M

14

14

8

8

Kaye, R

14

9

8

7

Morris, S

14

14

8

8

Ryba, A

4

3

2

1

Jankelowitz, S

14

10

8

7

Freedman, O

14

12

7

5

Ehrlich, L

10

7

-

-

Ende, T

14

13

-

-

Fridman, J

14

12

-

-

Friedgut, M

4

3

-

-

Gelman, A

14

9

-

-

Goot AM, SC, R

10

9

-

-

Lowy, J

14

10

-

-

Roberts, S

14

11

-

-

Saunders-Weinberg, M

4

2

-

-

Sher, G

10

8

-

-

Solsky, T

14

14

-

-

Sonnabend, M

10

9

-

-

Wilkenfeld, S

14

12

-

-

Environmental issues

Directors’ and key management personnel benefits

The Company’s operations are not regulated by any
significant environmental regulation under a law of the
Commonwealth or of a state or territory of Australia.

Since the end of the previous year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit, by
reason of a contract made by the Company or a Related
Corporation with the Director or with a firm of which they
are a member, or with a Company in which they have a
substantial financial interest.

Dividends
No dividends have been paid or will be paid. The
Memorandum and Articles of Association do not permit
any profits to be distributed by way of a dividend.

Our Finances

2012 – Related Party Transactions
Company providing services

Services provided

Related Director

Total
$

-

-

-

-

Company providing services

Services provided

Related Director

Total
$

Network Printing

Printing services

Mrs L Kugel

122,767

Consult Point Pty Ltd

Computing consultancy services

Mr A Gelman

9,347

2011 – Related Party Transactions
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The following remuneration has been paid in aggregate to the key management personnel of the Company during
the year.
Key Management Personnel Remuneration
Salary
$

Non-cash benefit
$

2012

799,874

46,500

71,989

918,363

2011

1,340,847

89,107

107,052

1,537,006

Non-cash benefit relates to motor vehicles provided to key
management personnel.
Indemnifying officers or auditor
During the financial year the Company has paid an
insurance premium insuring all of its officers against
any error, misstatement or misleading statement, act or
omission or neglect or breach of duty made, committed,
attempted or allegedly made in the course of their duties
for the Company or any matter claimed against them solely
by reason of their serving the Company. The Company will
indemnify any officer for any excess contained within the
policy of insurance but not beyond the sum insured. The
limit of liability is $20,000,000 for any one claim and in the
aggregate during any one period of insurance.

Superannuation
$

Total
$

The amount of premium paid is not identified separately
by the insurance broker. It is included in the total
insurance premium paid by the Company for its entire
insurance coverage.
Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring
proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company
for all or any part of those proceedings.
Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is
set out on the following page.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, 29th April 2013:

S. JANKELOWITZ
Honorary Treasurer

Our Finances

G. FRIEDE
President
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

9

Grant  Thornton  Audit  Pty  Ltd  
ACN  130  913  594  
Level  17,  383  Kent  Street  
Sydney    NSW    2000  
Locked  Bag  Q800  
QVB  Post  Office  
Sydney    NSW    1230  



T +61  2  8297  2400
F +61  2  9299  4445
E info.nsw@au.gt.com
W  www.grantthornton.com.au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors of Moriah War Memorial College Association

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead
auditor for the audit of Moriah War Memorial College Association for the year ended 31
December 2012, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 in relation to the audit; and

b

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the
audit.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

A J Archer
Partner - Audit & Assurance

Our Finances

Sydney, 29 April 2013

Grant  Thornton  Australia  Limited  is  a  member  firm  within  Grant  Thornton  International  Ltd.  Grant  Thornton  International  Ltd  and  the  member  firms  are  not  a  worldwide  partnership.  Grant  Thornton  Australia  Limited,  together  
with  its  subsidiaries  and  related  entities,  delivers  its  services  independently  in  Australia.  

Liability  limited  by  a  scheme  approved  under  Professional  Standards  Legislation
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Revenue  from  operating  activities  
Revenue  from  non-operating  activities  
Contribution  from  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  
Association  Limited  
Total  revenue  
  
Employee  benefit  expense  (teaching  staff)  
Employee  benefit  expense  (non-teaching  staff)  
Expenses  &  materials  
Staff  expenses  
Financial  costs  
Depreciation  expense  
Building  &  grounds  expense  
Contribution  to  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  
Association  Limited  
Other  expenses  
Total  expenses  
  
(Loss)  from  operating  activities  
  
Profit  from  non-operating  activities  
  
  
(Loss)/Profit  for  the  year    
  
Other  comprehensive  income:  
  
  
Total  comprehensive  (loss)  /  income  for  the  year  
  
  

Note  
  
  
3  
3  

  
  

  
  
  

  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
3  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  2012  
$  
  
30,482,746  
751,662  
  
-  
31,234,408  
  
(16,093,502)  
(3,731,031)  
(1,776,954)  
(2,036,835)  
(258,056)  
(1,677,344)  
(3,772,572)  
  
(608,262)  
(1,937,735)  
(31,892,291))  
  
(1,409,545)  
  
751,662  
  
  
(657,883)  
  
  
-  
  
  
(657,883)  

2011  
$  
  
28,911,973  
3,286,100  
  
865,059  
33,063,132  
  
(16,165,979)  
(4,099,398)  
(1,766,741)  
(2,337,172)  
(261,886)  
(1,540,153)  
(2,884,004)  
  
-  
(1,695,279)    
(30,750,612)  
  
(973,580)  
  
3,286,100  
  
  
2,312,520  

  
  

  
-  
  
  
2,312,520  
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These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012
As at 31 December 2012
  
  
Current  assets  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  
Trade  and  other  receivables  
Other  current  assets  
  
Total  current  assets  
  
Non-current  assets  
Trade  and  other  receivables  
Property,  plant  and  equipment  
  
Total  non-current  assets  
Total  assets  
  
Current  liabilities  
Trade  and  other  payables  
Financial  liabilities  
Short-term  provisions  
Other  liabilities  
  
Total  current  liabilities  
  
Non-current  liabilities  
Financial  liabilities    
Long-term  provisions  
  
Total  non-current  liabilities  
Total  liabilities  
Net  assets  
  
Equity  
Retained  earnings  
  
Total  equity  

Note  
  
  
6  
7  
9  
  
  
  
  
7  
10  
  
  
  
  
  
11  
12  
13  
14  
  
  
  
  
12  
13  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2012  
$  
  
4,832,189  
1,098,893  
204,629  
  
6,135,711  
  
  
10,269,105  
10,062,802  
  
20,331,907  
26,647,618  
  
  
1,729,901  
264,311  
3,179,476  
1,166,908  
  
6,340,596  
  
  
1,155,000  
704,921  
  
1,859,921  
8,200,517  
18,267,101  
  
  
18,267,101  
  
18,267,101  

2011  
$  
  
780,343  
1,634,870  
227,806  
  
2,643,019  
  
  
15,030,752  
10,691,314  
  
25,722,066  
28,365,085  
  
  
2,965,220  
318,926  
3,014,463  
1,058,453  
  
7,357,062  
  
  
1,255,000  
828,039  
  
2,083,039  
9,440,101  
18,924,984  
  
  
18,924,984  
  
18,924,984  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2011  
Total  comprehensive  income    
Total  comprehensive  income  for  the  period  
  
Balance  at  31  December  2011  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2012  
Total  comprehensive  loss  
Total  comprehensive  loss  for  the  period  
  
Balance  at  31  December  2012  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

Retained  Earnings    
$  
  
16,612,464  
2,312,520  
2,312,520  

Total    
$  
  
16,612,464  
2,312,520  
2,312,520  

  
  
  
  
  

18,924,984  
  
18,924,984  
(657,883)  
(657,883)  

18,924,984  
  
18,924,984  
(657,883)  
(657,883)  

  
  

18,267,101  
  

18,267,101  
  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
Note  
  
  
  
Cash  flow  from  operating  activities  
  
Receipts  from  parents  and  donations  
  
Government  grants  received  
  
Other  income  
  
Interest  received  
  
Payments  to  suppliers  &  employees  
  
(Payment  to)/receipt  from  Jewish  Day  School  
  
Interest  paid  
  
Net  cash  provided  by  operating  activities  
21  
  
  
Cash  flows  from  investing  activities  
  
Purchase  of  property,  plant  &  equipment  
  
Net  cash  used  in  investing  activities  
  
  
  
Cash  flow  from  financing  activities  
  
Receipts/repayment  of  borrowings  from  associated  entities  
Loans  to/(from)  associated  entities  
  
Repayment  of  borrowings  
  
Net  cash  provided  by  /  (utilised  in)    financing  
  
activities  
  
  
Net  increase/(decrease)  in  cash  and  cash  
  
equivalents  held  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  beginning  of  
  
financial  year  
  
  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  end  of  financial  year  
6  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  

  

  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
22,940,127  
6,351,835  
(2,114)  
144,914  
(28,054,715)  
(608,262)  
(258,056)  
513,729  
  
  
(1,068,915)  
(1,068,915)  
  
  
  
4,761,647  
(154,615)  

2011  
$  
  
20,313,196  
9,655,913  
121,683  
61,500  
(26,822,510)  
865,059  
(261,886)  
3,932,955  
  
  
(3,810,245)  
(3,810,245)  
  
  
-  
(3,895,696)  
(164,279)  

4,607,032  
  

(4,059,975)  
  
  
(3,937,265)  
  
4,717,608  
  
780,343  
  

4,051,846  
780,343  
  
4,832,189  
  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance
with the Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the
Corporations Act 2001.
The Company is domiciled in New South Wales, Australia. It is a Company not for gain,
limited by guarantee.
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards. A statement of
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards cannot be made due to the
Company applying the not-for-profit sector specific requirements contained in the Australian
Accounting Standards.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs,
modified where applicable by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets,
financial assets and financial liabilities. All amounts have been presented in Australian dollars
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency, unless otherwise stated.
The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. The following
is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the accounts.
  
Future change in Accounting Standards

Moriah  War  Memorial  College  Association  
The AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and interpretations
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  

that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Company has considered all
pending Australian Accounting Standards issued up to the current reporting date and believe
that they
no significant
impact on future
financialpolicies
statements.
Note
1: have
Statement
of significant
accounting
(cont)
a.

15  

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking
into account any discounts allowed.
Fee income is recognised as revenue when the services are delivered.

Our Finances

Contributions (including donations and government grants) received or receivable are
recognised as revenue when the Company obtains control of the contribution or the right to
receive the contribution, when it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the
contribution will flow to the entity and the amount of the contribution can be measured
reliably.
  
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
b.

Property, Plant & Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Property  

Freehold land and buildings are shown at cost, less subsequent depreciation for buildings and
impairment losses.
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Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
b.

Property, Plant & Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Property  

Freehold land and buildings are shown at cost, less subsequent depreciation for buildings and
impairment losses.
Plant  and  equipment  

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.
The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Company includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
The carrying amount of fixed assets is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the
recoverable amount of those assets. The expected net cash flows have not been discounted to
their present values in determining the recoverable amounts.
Moriah  War  Memorial  College  Association  
Depreciation  

16  

Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including building and capitalised lease assets, but
excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight line basis except for motor vehicles over
their useful lives to the Company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
Note 1: Statement
of are
significant
policies
(cont)
Leasehold
improvements
depreciatedaccounting
over the shorter
of either
the unexpired period of the
lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
b.

Property, Plant & Equipment (cont)

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Asset

Depreciation Rate

Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Computing Equipment
  
Books
Motor Vehicles

2.5% straight line
20% straight line
25% straight line
25% straight line
22.5% diminishing value

Our Finances

c.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled
within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
benefits using the government bond rate that represents expected payment.
Contributions are made by the Company to an employee Superannuation Fund and are charged
as expenses when incurred. The Company has no legal obligation to cover any shortfall in the
fund’s obligation to provide benefits to employees on retirement.
d.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks net
of outstanding bank overdrafts and deposits held at call with banks.
Bank overdrafts are shown within financial liabilities in current liabilities on the statement of
66
financial position.

Contributions are made by the Company to an employee Superannuation Fund and are charged
as expenses when incurred. The Company has no legal obligation to cover any shortfall in the
fund’s obligation to provide benefits to employees on retirement.
d.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks net
of outstanding bank overdrafts and deposits held at call with banks.
Bank overdrafts are shown within financial liabilities in current liabilities on the statement of
financial position.
e.

Short-term Investments

Investments held for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
f.
Financial Instruments
Recognition  and  Initial  Measurement  

Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date
accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by
marketplace convention.
Moriah  War  Memorial  College  Association  
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  

17  

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the
instrument is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to
instruments
classified asofatsignificant
fair value through
profit orpolicies
loss are expensed
Note 1: Statement
accounting
(cont) to profit or loss
immediately. Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out below.
f.
Financial Instruments (cont)
Derecognition  

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or
the asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities
are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The
  difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to
another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Classification  and  Subsequent  Measurement  

i.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method.
g.

Goods and Services Tax

Our Finances

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of Goods and
Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is included as a
current asset or a current liability in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flow on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
h.

Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
to changes in presentation for the current financial year.
i.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
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Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flow on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
h.

Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
to changes in presentation for the current financial year.
i.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the entity.
Key  estimates  —  Provision  for  impairment  of  receivables    

Included in accounts receivables at 31 December 2012 are amounts receivable that may not be
recoverable. A provision for impairment has been made for $1,866,218 at 31 December 2012.
The financial report was authorised for issue on 29 April 2013 by the Board of Management.

Our Finances
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Moriah  War  Memorial  College  Association  
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  

18  

Note 2: Income Tax

The Company is exempt from liability to pay income tax under the provisions of the Income
Tax Assessment Act.
Note 3: Revenue

  
  
  
(a)  
  
  
  
  
5  

  
Operating  activities  
  
Fees  charged  
Enrolment  fees  
Government  grants  
Interest  received  
Sundry  income  
Donations  
Total  operating  income  
  
Non-operating  activities  
  
Capital  grants  
Donations  
Total  non-operating  income  
  
(a)  Reconciliation  of  fees  charged  
  
Tuition  fees  
Compulsory  charges  
Total  gross  fees  
  
Less:  
Discount  &  allowances  
Net  fees  charged  

  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
5  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  2012  
$  
  
23,559,120  
10,149  
6,351,835  
144,914  
178,782  
237,946  
30,482,746  
  

  
  

  
  

2011  
$  
  
22,169,304  
10,340  
6,369,813  
61,588  
181,359  
119,569  
28,911,973  
  
  
  

-  
751,662  
751,662  
  
  
  
23,019,083  
1,689,341  
24,708,424  
  
  
(1,149,304)  
23,559,120  

  
  
3,286,100  
  
3,286,100  
  
  
  
22,140,380  
1,345,755  
23,486,135  
  
  
(1,316,831)  
22,169,304  

Note 4: Profit for the year

Profit for the year is stated after (crediting)/charging:
  
  
  
(Loss)  /gain  on  sale  of  motor  vehicles  
Depreciation  of  plant  and  equipment  
Interest  paid  or  payable  other  than  to  
associated  entities  

  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  

  

  
  
  
  
  

2012  
$  
  
(1,176)  
1,677,344  
  
88,748  

2011  
$  
  
5,397  
1,540,153  
  
97,964  

2012  
$  
  
2,000  
6,500  
30,000  
180,766  
180,766  
16,000  
751,662  
2,680  
989,608  

2011  
$  
  
-  
-  
-  
111,735  
-  
-  
7,834  
119,569  

2012  
$  
  
4,500  
2,586,491  
2,241,198  
4,832,189  

2011  
  $          
  
3,300  
401,245  
375,798  
780,343  

  
  
  
Donations  
J  Vidor  
The  Estate  of  the  Late  Addy  Fisher  
Parents  &  Friends  Association  
The  Trust  Company  –  Abraham  Rabinovitch  Trust  
The  Estate  of  the  late  Cecilia  Rose  
The  Estate  of  the  late  Norman  Lapin  
Estate  of  the  Late  Hans  Lewin  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
3  
  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Our Finances

Note 5: School non-operating income/donations

Note 6: Cash and Cash Equivalents
  
  
  
Cash  on  hand  
Cash  at  bank  
Cash  on  deposit  
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Note 7: Trade and Other Receivables
  
  
Current  
Outstanding  Fees  
Less:    Provision  for  Doubtful  Debts  
Less:  Write-offs  
Less:  Unallocated  subsidies  
  
  
Other  Debtors  
GST  Recoverable  
  
  
Non-current  
Loan  to  associated  entities  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
  
$  
  
  
  
   2,678,485  
   (1,866,218)  
  
-  
  
-  
  
812,267  
  
  
  
199,741  
  
86,885  
   1,098,893  
  
  
  
  
   10,269,105  
   10,269,105  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2011  
$  
  
3,294,563  
(1,407,793)  
(434,943)  
(101,469)  
1,350,358  
  
223,111  
61,401  
1,634,870  
  
  
15,030,752  
15,030,752  

All  fees  receivable  are  short  term.  The  carrying  amount  of  fees  receivables  is  considered  a  reasonable  
approximation  of  fair  value.  All  fees  receivable  have  been  reviewed  for  indicators  of  impairment.  A  provision  for  
impairment  is  recognised  when  there  is  objective  evidence  that  an  individual  receivable  is  impaired.  These  amounts  
have  been  included  in  the  other  expenses  item.  
  
The  loan  to  associated  entities  relates  to  loans  provided  to  Moriah  College  Building  Fund  and  Moriah  War  Memorial  
Fund  and  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  and  Kehillat  Moriah  Incorporated.  The  loans  
are  considered  to  be  long  term  with  no  formal  terms  and  conditions  and  are  in  substance  long  term  investments.    
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Movement  in  the  provision  for  impairment  
of  receivables  is  as  follows:  
Opening  
Charge  for  
Amounts  
Closing  
  
Balance  
the  Year  
Written  Off  
Balance  
1/1/12  
  
  
31/12/12  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Current  trade  receivables  
1,407,793  
458,425  
-  
1,866,218  
  
  
  
  
  
  
1,407,793  
458,425  
-  
1,866,218  
  
  
  
  
  
Opening  
Charge  for  
Amounts  
Closing  
  
Balance  
the  Year  
Written  Off  
Balance  
1/1/11  
  
  
31/12/11  
  
  
  
  
  
  
Current  trade  receivables  
1,558,087  
284,649  
(434,943)  
1,407,793  
  
  
  
  
  
  
1,558,087  
284,649  
(434,943)  
1,407,793  
  
  
  
  
  

Our Finances

The  age  of  financial  assets  not  impaired  are  as  follows:  
  
  
  
Trade  debtors  amounts  within  terms  
Current  or  not  more  than  1  term  
  
Trade  debtors  ±  past  due  but  not  impaired  
More  than  2  terms  but  not  more  than  3  terms  
More  than  3  terms  but  not  more  than  4  terms  
More  than  4  terms    
  

  
  2012  
$  
  
  
398,345  
  
  
212,147  
31,612  
170,163  
812,267  

  
2011  
$  
  
  
835,070  
  
  
430,992  
20,325  
63,971  
1,350,358  

  2012  
$  
  

2011  
$  
  

32,000  
3,600  
35,600  

30,000  
3,600  
33,600  

Note 8: Auditors’ Remuneration
  
  
Remuneration  of  the  auditor  of  the  
Company  for:  
-  auditing  the  financial  report  
-  other  services    
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Note 9: Other Assets
  
  
  
Prepayments  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
204,629  
204,629  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

2011  
$  
  
227,806  
227,806  

Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Land  

  
a.      Movements  in  Carrying  
Amounts  
  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2011  
Additions  
Disposals  
Depreciation  expense  
  
Balance  at  31  December  
2011  
  
Additions  
Disposals  
Depreciation  expense  
  
Carrying  amount  at  31  
December  2012  

  

$  
  
  
427,142  
-  
-  
-  
  
  
427,142  
  
-  
-  
-  
  
  
427,142  

Buildings  &  
WIP  
$  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
  
427,142  
  
  
1,604,147  
(159,345)  
1,444,802  
  
  
6,109,248  
(704,936)  
5,404,312  
  
7,276,256  
  
  

2011  
$  
  
  
427,142  
  
  
1,604,147  
(119,260)  
1,484,887  
  
  
5,912,190  
(379,791)  
5,532,399  
  
7,444,428  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

   16,877,591  
   (14,406,589)  
  
2,471,002  
  
  
  
  
  
834,872  
  
(519,328)  
  
315,544  
  
  
   10,062,802  

16,071,622  
(13,180,185)  
2,891,437  
  
  
789,067  
(433,618)  
355,449  
  
10,691,314  

  

Plant  and  
Equipment  
$  

  
  
4,920,488  
2,317,979  
-  
(221,181)  
  
  
7,017,286  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
2,694,910  
1,412,660  
-  
(1,216,133)  
  
  
2,891,437  
  

214,517  
-  
(403,095)  
  

  
  
438,715  
79,606  
(60,033)  
(102,839)  
  
  
355,449  
  

788,511  
-  
(1,188,539)  
  

  
6,828,708  

Motor  
vehicles  
$  

65,887  
(20,083)  
(85,710)  
  

  
2,491,409  

  
315,543  

Total  
$  
  
  
8,481,255  
3,810,245  
(60,033)  
(1,540,153)  
  
  
10,691,314  
  
1,068,915  
(20,083)  
(1,677,344)  
  
  
10,062,802  

Our Finances

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
Land  and  buildings  
Land  ±  Glenayr  Avenue  
At  cost  
  
Buildings  ±  Glenayr  Avenue  
At  cost  
Less:  accumulated  depreciation  
  
  
Other  building  costs  
At  cost  
Less:  accumulated  depreciation  
  
  
Total  land  and  buildings  
  
Plant  and  equipment  (including  furniture  &  
fittings)  
At  cost  
Less:  accumulated  depreciation  
Total  Plant  and  equipment    
  
Motor  vehicles  
At  cost  
Less:  accumulated  depreciation  
Total  motor  vehicles  
  
Total  property,  plant  and  equipment  

  

71

Moriah  War  Memorial  College  Association  
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  

21  

Note 11: Trade and Other Payables
  
  
Current  
Trade  Creditors  
Sundry  payables  and  accrued  expenses  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
296,571  
1,433,330  
1,729,901  

  
  
  
  
  
  

2011  
$  
  
36,919  
2,928,301  
2,965,220  

Note 12: Financial Liabilities
  
  2012  
2011  
  
  
  
$  
$  
  
  
  
  
Current  
  
  
  
  
  
Bank  loans  
  
  
  
163,318  
150,820  
Hire  purchase  loans  
  
  
  
993  
68,106  
Bank  bills  
  
  
  
100,000  
100,000  
  
  
  
  
264,311  
318,926  
Non-current  
  
  
  
  
  
Bank  bills  
  
  
   1,155,000  
1,255,000  
  
  
  
   1,155,000  
1,255,000  
  
  
  
  
  
  
The  bank  overdraft  is  secured  by  a  registered  mortgage  over  various  properties  owned  by  the  College.    
  
The  Trustees  of  the  Moriah  College  Building  Fund  have  provided  a  mortgage  of  lease  and  a  fixed  &  floating  charge  
in  favour  of  Westpac  Banking  Corporation.    The  Moriah  War  Memorial  College  Association  has  provided  unlimited  
guarantees  and  indemnities  to  Westpac  Banking  Corporation  in  relation  to  the  debts  of  The  Moriah  College  
Building  Fund.    The  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  has  provided  unlimited  guarantees  
and  indemnities  to  Westpac  Banking  Corporation  in  relation  to  the  debts  of  the  Moriah  War  Memorial  College  
Association.  

Note 13: Provisions
  
  
  
  
Current  
Employee  entitlements  
Non-Current  
Employee  entitlements  
  
Total  Provisions  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
  
3,179,476  
  
704,921  
  
3,884,397  

2011  
$  
  
  
3,014,463  
  
828,039  
  
3,842,502  

Note    
  
  
  
17  
16  
  

  2012  
$  
  
1,105,627  
27,485  
33,796  
1,166,908  

2011  
$  
  
967,484  
52,673  
38,296  
1,058,453  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Note 14: Other Liabilities

Our Finances

  
  
  
Income  received  in  advance  
Scholarship  fund  
Prize  fund  
Income  received  in  advance  
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Note 15: Members Funds

The Company is limited by guarantee and does not have any share capital. Were the Company
to be wound up, the Articles of Association state that each member is required to contribute a
maximum of $10 towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the Company. At 31
December 2012 the number of members was 1,855 (2011: 1,941)
Note 16: Capital expenditure commitments
  
  

  
  
  
Estimated  Capital  Expenditure  contracted  
for  at  balance  date  but  not  provided  for:  
  -  payable  not  later  than  one  year  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  2012  
$  
  

2011  
$  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

191,000  
  

100,000  
  

  

As a result of the review of facilities that highlighted significant structural issues within the
awning at Queens Park Campus, the Building & Infrastructure Committee recommended to the
Board that the current Baronga Play Space Awning (BPSA) required replacement. Various
options were reviewed and a new design by the College’s Architect, Gardner Wetherill was
adopted.
At the same time as the BPSA works were proposed, it was identified by the Building &
Infrastructure Committee that remedial building works were required on the external Rammed
Earth Wall, on the perimeter of the Design and Technology Kitchen.
Consequently, the Company entered into contracts for the construction of the BPSA and
related remedial Rammed Earth Wall works at the Queens Park Campus. Construction
commenced in late December 2012 and is expected to be completed in April 2013. The
anticipated cost of the works, including all ancillary fees is approximately $900,000.
Note 17: Financial Instrument

a. Financial Risk Management Policies
The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money
market instruments, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable, loans to and
from subsidiaries, bills and leases. When managing capital, Moriah’s objective is to ensure that
the organisation continues as a going concern, as well as to maintain optimal benefits for
stakeholders. Moriah aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital
available to the organisation.
The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for Company’s
operations.

i  

Our Finances

The Company does not have any derivative instruments at 31 December 2012. See Note 12 for
a summary of Company’s financial liabilities by category.
Treasury  Risk  Management  

A finance and audit committee consisting of members of the Board of Management meet on a
regular basis to analyse currency and interest rate exposure and to evaluate treasury
management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts.
The committee’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Company in meeting its
financial targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance.
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Note 17: Financial Instrument (cont)

The finance and audit committee operates under policies approved by the board of directors.
Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These
include credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. The Finance and audit committee
oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management policies
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the
risks faced by the Company.    
ii  

Financial  Risk  Exposures  and  Management  

The main risks the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate
risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
Interest  rate  risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of the financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risks and the
effective interest rates of financial assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:
  

Floating  Interest  Rates  

  
Financial  
Assets  
Cash    
Receivable  
Total  
Financial  
Assets  
  
  
Financial  
Liabilities  
Accounts  
Payable  
Borrowings  
Total  
Financial    
Liabilities  

2012  
$  

Non-Interest  
Bearing  

2011  

2011  

777,043  
-  

4,500  
1,098,893  

3,300  
1,634,870  

4,832,189  
1,098,893  

780,343  
1,634,870  

777,043  

1,638,170  
  
  
  

5,931,082  
  
  
  

2,415,213  
  
  
  

  

  

  

4,827,689  

2012  
$  

Weighted  
Effective  
Interest  
2011  
2012  
2011  
$  
%  
%  
  
  
  

2012  
$  
  

  
4,827,689  
-  

Total  

  

  

2.7  
Nil  
  

2.8  
Nil  
  

  

  

1,103,393  
  
  
  

  
-  
1,419,311  

  
-  
1,573,926  

  
1,729,901  
-  

  
2,965,220  
-  

  
1,729,901  
1,419,311  

  
2,965,220  
1,573,926  

  
Nil  
5.7  

  
Nil  
7.6  

1,419,311  

1,573,926  

1,729,901  

2,965,220  

3,149,212  

4,539,146  

  

  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Foreign  currency  risk  

Our Finances

Most of Company’s transactions are carried out in Australian Dollars. Exposures to currency
exchange rates arise from a small amount of the Company's overseas purchases, which are
primarily denominated in US-Dollars and Euro. These funds are only held in the short term
and therefore the impact is considered immaterial. At 31 December 2012, the amounts totalled
$2,976 (2011: $84,248)
To mitigate the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk, the Company maintain Australian
bank accounts denominated in both US-Dollars and Euro.
Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into Australian Dollars
at the closing rate.
Liquidity  risk  

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that
adequate unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained.
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Note 17: Financial Instrument (cont)
  
Credit  risk  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from another party to a contract or financial
obligation. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amounts of the financial assets included in the balance sheet net of any provisions for doubtful
accounts.
  
  
Financial  Assets  
Cash    
Receivable  
Total  Financial  Assets  

Banks  
2012  
2011  
$  
$  
  
  
4,827,689  
777,043  
-  
-  
4,827,689  
777,043  

Other  
2012  
2011  
$  
$  
  
  
4,500  
3,300  
1,098,893  
1,634,870  
1,103,393  
1,638,170  

Total  
2012  
2011  
$  
$  
  
  
4,832,189  
780,343  
1,098,893  
1,634,870  
5,931,082  
2,415,213  

There is no material amount of collateral held as security at 31 December 2012.
Credit risk is reviewed regularly by the finance and audit committee. It arises from exposures
to customers as well as through deposits with financial institutions.
The Company is exposed to a high degree of credit risk exposure from trade receivables. Trade
receivables at 31 December 2012 are $812,267 (2011: $1,350,358).
Price  risk  

The Company is not exposed to any price risk.
b. Financial  Liabilities  Maturity  Analysis
The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial
instruments of a fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the
settlement period for all other financial instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to
the balance sheet.
  
  
  
Bank  loans  
Trade  payables  
Bank  bills  
Hire  purchase  loans  
Total    

Current  
Interest  
rate    %  
  
  
2.8  
-  
5.7  
7.56  
  

  
$  
Not  later  
than  1  
month  
14,825  
1,729,901  
-  
993  
1,745,719  

Current  

Non-
current    

  

$  
1  to  3  
months  

$  
3  months  
to  1  year  

$  
1  to  5  years  

29,650  
-  
-  
-  
29,650  

118,843  
-  
100,000  
-  
218,843  

-  
-  
1,155,000  
-  
1,155,000  

c.     Net  Fair  Values  

For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value.

Our Finances

Aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at
balance date.
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Note 17: Financial Instrument (cont)
  
2012  
Carrying  
Amount  
$  
  
1,098,893  
1,098,893  
  
  
1,255,000  
163,318  
1,729,901  
993  
3,149,212  

  
  
  
  
Financial  assets    
Loans  and  receivables  
  
  
Financial  liabilities      
Bank  bills  secured      
Bank  loan  secured      
Trade  and  other  payables      
Hire  Purchase  Loans      
  

2011  
Carrying  
Amount  
$  
  
1,634,870  
1,634,870  
  
  
1,355,000  
150,820  
2,965,220  
68,106  
4,539,146  

Net  Fair  
Value  
$  
  
1,098,893  
1,098,893  
  
  
1,255,000  
163,318  
1,729,901  
993  
3,149,212  

Net  Fair  
Value  
$  
  
1,634,870  
1,634,870  
  
  
1,355,000  
150,820  
2,965,220  
68,106  
4,539,146  

Note 18: Contingent Liabilities

The Company is liable by virtue of existing cross guarantees for the debts incurred by the
Moriah College Building Fund, the Moriah War Memorial Fund and The Moriah War Memorial
Jewish College Association Limited, which are secured through registered mortgages over
various College properties, both freehold and leasehold.
As noted at Note 12, the Moriah War Memorial College Association has provided unlimited
guarantees and indemnities to Westpac Banking Corporation in relation to the debts of The
Moriah College Building Fund. The Moriah War Memorial Jewish College Association Limited
has provided unlimited guarantees and indemnities to Westpac Banking Corporation in relation
to the debts of the Moriah War Memorial College Association.
Note 19: Lease Commitments

The College is committed to rent and outgoings for the year 2013 in the net amount of
approximately $176,000 on the land occupied by the John I Einfeld AM Preschool Campus in
Randwick that is owned by Sir Moses Montefiore Jewish Home. There is no lease agreement in
place, therefore, no committed liability exists for periods greater than 1 year.
Note 20: Related Party Disclosures

The Directors of Moriah War Memorial College Association during the financial year were:
Mr G Friede
Mr R Kaye
Mr S Jankelowitz
Mr A Ryba
Mrs T Ende

Mr M Friedgut
Mr R Goot AM SC
Dr S Roberts
Mr G Sher
Mrs M Sonnabend

Mr M Schneider
Dr S Morris
Mr O Freedman
Mrs L Ehrlich
Mr J Fridman

Mr A Gelman
Mrs J Lowy
Mrs M Saunders-Weinberg
Mrs T Solsky
Mr S Wilkenfeld

Our Finances

The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year.
Fees (and other revenue) were received by the Company from the Directors of the Company
under normal terms and conditions.
An interest free loan of $10,055,186 (2011: $13,917,355) has been provided to the Moriah
College Building Fund. These funds have been provided to the Building Fund to meet its
financial obligations from prior years’ construction of the new Primary School on the Queens
Park Campus.
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Note 20: Related Party Disclosures (cont)

There are spouses of Directors of the Company who are employed by the College in the
ordinary course of its activities.  
  
In 2012 no Directors (2011: Mrs Linda Kugel and Mr Alex Gelman) have received or become
entitled to receive a benefit, by reason of a contract made by the Company or a Related
Corporation with the Directors or with a firm of which they are a member or a director, or with
a Company in which they have a substantial financial interest undertaken in the normal course
of business at or less than competitive rates.
The amounts paid to the Companies related to the Directors are shown below.
  
2011  -  Related  Party  Transactions    
Company  providing  services  

Services  provided  

Related  Director  

  

  

  

Network  Printing    

Printing  services  

Mrs  L  Kugel  

Consult  Point  Pty  Ltd  

Computing  consultancy  
services  

Mr  A  Gelman  

Total  

$  
122,767  
9,347  

During the normal course of business, loans are made to and from Moriah War Memorial
Jewish College Association Ltd. These loans are free of interest and payable on demand. As at
31 December 2012, the amount receivable on this loan was $188,278 ($2011: $71,405). As at
31 December 2012, there was a loan receivable from Kehillat Moriah Incorporated in the
amount of $Nil (2011: $500,401).
  

A management fee of $608,262was paid to (in 2011 a distribution fee of $865,059 was received
from) Moriah War Memorial Jewish College Association Limited. This fee has been calculated
on the basis of an agreed formula between the entities.
The following remuneration has been paid in aggregate to the key management personnel of
the Company during the year.
  
Key  Management  Personnel  Remuneration    
  
  
2012          
2011                

Salary  

Non-cash  benefit  

$  

$  

Superannuation                                       Total  

799,874  

46,500  

71,989  

918,363  

1,340,847  

89,107  

107,052  

1,537,006  

$  

$    

Our Finances

Non-cash benefit relates to motor vehicles provided to key management personnel.
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Note 21: Cash Flow Information
Reconciliation  of  Cash  Flow  from  Operations  
with  Profit  after  Income  Tax      
(Loss)/profit  after  income  tax  
Non-cash  flows  in  profit    
  
Depreciation  
Loss  on  sale  of  motor  vehicles  
  
Changes  in  assets  and  liabilities,  net  of  the  
effects  of  purchase  and  disposal  of  subsidiaries  
Decrease  in  trade  and  other  debtors  
Decrease  in  creditors  and  accruals  
Increase  in  provisions  
Decrease/  (increase)  in  other  current  assets  
Increase  in  other  liabilities  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
(657,883)  
  
  
1,677,344  
20,083  
  
  

2011  
$  
2,312,520  
  
  
1,540,153  
60,033  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

535,977  
(1,235,319)  
41,895  
23,177  
108,455  
513,729  

-  
75,012  
(410,161)  
338,045  
(52,864)  
70,217  
3,932,955  

Note 22: Events after the balance sheet date

  
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected
or may significantly affect he operation of the Company, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Company in future years.
Note 23: Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated
to fund operations. The finance committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is
in line with this objective.
The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk
management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.
The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. Management
effectively manages the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and responding to
changes in these risks and in the market. There have been no changes to the strategy adopted
by management to control the capital of the entity since the previous year.
Note 24 Company Details

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:

Our Finances

Moriah War Memorial College Association
The Henry Roth Administration Building
Queens Park Road
Bondi Junction NSW 2022
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Directors’ declaration
Directors’ Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

The directors of the Company declare that:
1.

61 to 27,
78, are in accordance with
The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 11
the Corporations Act 2001:

a   comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;; and
b   give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 December 2012 and of
the performance for the year ended on that date of the Company;; and
2.

In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is
signed for and on behalf of the Directors by:

_____________________
G. FRIEDE
President

_______________________
S. JANKELOWITZ
Honorary Treasurer

Our Finances

Dated this 29th day of April 2013
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Grant  Thornton  Audit  Pty  Ltd  
ACN  130  913  594  
Level  17,  383  Kent  Street  
Sydney    NSW    2000  
Locked  Bag  Q800  
QVB  Post  Office  
Sydney    NSW    1230  



T +61  2  8297  2400
F +61  2  9299  4445
E info.nsw@au.gt.com
W  www.grantthornton.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Moriah War Memorial College Association

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Moriah War Memorial College
Association (the “Company”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31
December 2012, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the directors’
declaration of the company.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Act 2001. The Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards
require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is
free from material misstatement.

Our Finances

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to

Grant  Thornton  Australia  Limited  is  a  member  firm  within  Grant  Thornton  International  Ltd.  Grant  Thornton  International  Ltd  and  the  member  firms  are  not  a  worldwide  partnership.  Grant  Thornton  Australia  Limited,  together  
with  its  subsidiaries  and  related  entities,  delivers  its  services  independently  in  Australia.  

Liability  limited  by  a  scheme  approved  under  Professional  Standards  Legislation
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30

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Moriah War Memorial College Association is in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
a

giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December
2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

b

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

A J Archer
Partner - Audit & Assurance

Our Finances

Sydney, 29 April 2013
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The M or iah War M emor ial Jewish College Association Limited

The Moriah War Memorial Jewish
College Association Limited

THE MORIAH WAR MEMORIAL JEWISH COLLEGE ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Directors’ Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

Directors
The names of the directors in office at any time during or
since the end of the year are:
Mr G Friede
Mr M Schneider
Mr R Kaye
Dr S Morris
Mr S Jankelowitz
Mr O Freedman
Mr A Ryba (resigned May 2012)
Mrs L Ehrlich (appointed May 2012)
Mrs T Ende
Mr J Fridman
Mr M Friedgut*
Mr A Gelman
Mr R Goot AM SC (appointed May 2012)
Mrs J Lowy
Dr S Roberts
Mrs M Saunders-Weinberg*
Mr G Sher (appointed May 2012)
Mrs T Solsky
Mrs M Sonnabend (appointed May 2012)
Mr S Wilkenfeld

The long-term objectives of Moriah College are based
on sustainability and continuity. The College does this
by building upon the traditions of the past to meet the
expectations and aspirations of its key stakeholders –
parents, students and the broader Jewish Community,
through the development and growth of:

r A key partnership between the College and Parents
that facilitates children being individually supported to
achieve their best.

r Resilient and confident citizens and life-long learners
who strive to achieve their personal best and feel secure
with their Jewish identity.

r Community confidence that the College represents the
values of the Jewish Community and develops future
leaders of both the Jewish and broader Australian
communities.
Strategy for achieving these objectives
The College focuses on the following key elements in
strategic planning to meet both its short and long term
objectives.
1.

Excellence in teaching and learning through the
development and implementation of quality teaching
& learning practices for the 21st century.

2.

Student growth and well-being by creating an
atmosphere where students can maximise their
potential as students and citizens with regard to their
natural abilities.

3.

Our Jewish ethos by creating a Jewish Learning
Experience that provides our students with
opportunities to be informed, committed and
respectful members of the Jewish community; with a
positive Jewish identity; and to provide opportunities
for religious practice to students across the full gamut
of the Modern Orthodox spectrum.

4.

Parent and Community Partnership through
the development and implementation of effective
communication strategies with key stakeholders, that
promotes a culture of respect, trust and co-operation.

5.

Our Staff tthrough the recruitment and retention of
engaged and committed staff who are supported by
professional development and active participation
in the Quality Teacher Development and Review
program.

*Did not stand for re-election in May 2012.
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial
year to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated.
Legal structure
The Company is incorporated under the Corporations
Act 2001 and is a Company limited by guarantee. If the
Company is wound up, the constitution states that each
member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 each
towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity.
At 31 December 2012 the collective liability of members
was $18,550 (2011: $19,410).
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company during the year
were that of conducting a school and preschool.
Short and long term objectives
Moriah College provides high quality secular and Jewish
educational experiences, from the early childhood centre
and Preschool to Year 12, across its Early Childhood Centre,
three Preschools, Primary, Middle and High Schools, for the
Jewish community.

We are actively seeking out and cultivating Jewish
studies and Hebrew staff to ensure the maintenance
of high quality Jewish education.
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Your directors present their report on the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2012.

1.

2.

Our Facilities and Learning Environment by
providing and maintaining well resourced spaces to
support collaborative Jewish and secular teaching
& learning. Increasingly our learning environment
is moving towards more widespread usage of
technology and the need to provide on-line access to
contemporary teaching and learning resources.

Operating results

Financial Performance with a focus on long-term
financial strength to ensure sustainability and
affordability which are particularly relevant to the
ideals of the College to provide community access to
high quality Jewish and secular education.

Significant changes in state of affairs

Measurement of performance, including key
performance indicators
Our objectives are measured through a series of
external reporting mechanisms to the NSW and Federal
Governments in which we report against specific
outcomes for targeted funding to meet the educational
and resource needs of children with learning enhancement
requirements; provide statistical data on financial, staffing
and grant funding aspects, as well as specific programs
such as the Digital Education Revolution (DER) and the
Building the Education Revolution (BER) which provided
funding to be expended against approved projects.
The College also provides information on its business
operation to the Jewish Communal Appeal, as part of the
annual submission process for allocation of additional
funds to support the College providing financial assistance
to families experiencing financial difficulties and for
the support of special needs education to the growing
population of children across the College, with diagnosed
disabilities and learning support needs.

Our Finances

The College is also inspected on a regular basis by the
NSW Board of Studies (BOS) to ensure compliance with
the syllabus and operational requirements for educational
delivery, leading to ongoing registration.
Educational performance is measured at a State and
National level through the NSW School and Higher School
Certificates and the NAPLAN tests for Years 3, 5, 7 and
9. These results are reported to the College and general
community through College based communication
channels and on the MySchool website developed by the
Australian Curriculum Assessment and Reporting Authority
(ACARA).
The College has developed a three year Strategic Plan that
was implemented during 2012. This plan provided not only
the detailed strategic initiatives around the seven areas
of focus, but also detail metrics which provide additional
performance measurement and reporting mechanisms.
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The Company made a profit for the year of $nil (2011: $nil).
Review of operations
A detailed review of the operations of the College is
contained in the President’s Report and the College
Principal’s Report, included in the full annual report.

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of
the Company that occurred during the year.
After balance date events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of
the year which significantly affected or may significantly
affect the operation of the Company, the results of those
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future
years.
Future development, prospects and business strategies
Likely developments in the operations of the Company and
the expected results of those operations in future financial
years have not been included in this report as the inclusion
of such information is likely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to the Company.
Directors’ Qualifications
Giora Friede
(President)
Qualifications: BEcon Sc
Board Member since 1999
Honorary Secretary 2008 – May 2011
Vice President May 2011- November 2012
President since November 2012
Director
Mark Schneider
(Immediate Past President)
Qualifications: BE (Hons), BSc, ASIA.
Board Member since 1994
Honorary Secretary 1997 – 1998
Honorary Treasurer 1998 – 2001
Vice President 2001 – 2005
President 2005 – 2008
Immediate Past President 2008 – 2011
President May 2011 – October 2012
Immediate Past President since November 2012
Investment Banker
Roger Kaye
(Vice President)
Qualifications: BCom, MBA
Board Member since 1999
Honorary Treasurer 2001 – 2005
Vice President 2005 – 2008
President 2008 – May 2011
Immediate Past President May 2011 – October 2012
Vice President since November 2012
Company Director

Suzanne Morris
(Vice President)
Qualifications: PhD, UNSW;
BSc (Psychology) Hons I,
UNSW; BSc (Medicine), UNSW
Board Member since May 2008
Assistant Secretary June 2010 – May 2011
Honorary Secretary May 2011 – May 2012
Vice President May 2012
University Lecturer
Stephen Jankelowitz
(Honorary Treasurer)
Qualifications: B Com, CA
Board Member since 2007
Honorary Treasurer since 2008
Chartered Accountant and Company Director
Oliver Freedman
(Honorary Secretary))
Qualifications: BSc (Psych.), Hons and
Masters of Applied Psychology
Board member since May 2010
Honorary Secretary since May 2012
Market Research Consultant
Managing Director
Anthony Ryba
Qualifications: BBus
Board Member 2000 – 2007
Resigned February 2007
Board Member June 2008 – May 2012
Vice President May 2011 – May 2012
Resigned May 2012
Tara Ende
Qualifications: BCom, LLB
Board Member since 2004
Assistant Secretary May 2008 – June 2010
Solicitor and Registered Migration Agent
Lauren Ehrlich
(P&F President) since May 2012
Qualifications: BA Visual Arts, SCAE Graduate Diploma
Secondary Education, Syd
Board Member since May 2012

Robert Goot AM SC
Board Member 1984 – 1996
Vice President 1986 – 1987
President 1989 – 1996
Immediate Past President 1996 - 1998
Life Patron since 1998
Trustee since 2002
Board Member since May 2012
Barrister and Senior Counsel
Judy Lowy
Qualifications: BA (UNSW)
Board Member since May 2008
Company Director
Sam Roberts
Qualifications: MBBS (Adelaide), GCertForensicMHealth,
FRANZCP, MACLM Board member since May 2011
Consultant General and Forensic Psychiatrist
Monica Saunders-Weinberg
Board member May 2010 – May 2012
Company Director and Managing Director
Gavin Sher
Qualifications: BCom, H Dip Acc, CA(SA)
Board member since May 2012
Group Accountant
Terri Solsky
Qualifications: BCom (UNSW)
Board member since May 2011
Miri Sonnabend
Qualifications: BA (Hons), LLB
Board member since May 2012
Solicitor
Simon Wilkenfeld
Qualifications: BCom (UNSW) Major: Accounting,
Finance and Systems
Board member since May 2011 Managing Director
*Did not stand for re-election in May 2012.

Our Finances

Mark Friedgut*
Qualifications: BA LLB
Board Member 9 December 2009 – May 2012
Barrister
Joseph Fridman
Qualifications: BCom (Honours), Chartered Accountant, MBA
Board member since May 2011
Chief Executive Officer
Alex Gelman
Qualifications: BCom MCom CPA MACS
Board member since May 2011
Technology Strategist | Partner

85

Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 14 meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:
SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCES AT MEETINGS DURING 2012
BOARD MEETINGS
NAME

EXECUTIVE MEETINGS

ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND

ATTENDED

ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND

ATTENDED

Friede, G

14

11

8

7

Schneider, M

14

14

8

8

Kaye, R

14

9

8

7

Morris, S

14

14

8

8

Ryba, A

4

3

2

1

Jankelowitz, S

14

10

8

7

Freedman, O

14

12

7

5

Ehrlich, L

10

7

-

-

Ende, T

14

13

-

-

Fridman, J

14

12

-

-

Friedgut, M

4

3

-

-

Gelman, A

14

9

-

-

Goot AM, SC, R

10

9

-

-

Lowy, J

14

10

-

-

Roberts, S

14

11

-

-

Saunders-Weinberg, M

4

2

-

-

Sher, G

10

8

Solsky, T

14

14

-

-

Sonnabend, M

10

9

-

Wilkenfeld, S

14

12

-

-

Environmental issues

Directors’ and key management personnel benefits

The Company’s operations are not regulated by any
significant environmental regulation under a law of the
Commonwealth or of a state or territory of Australia.

Since the end of the previous year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit, by
reason of a contract made by the Company or a Related
Corporation with the Director or with a firm of which they
are a member, or with a Company in which they have a
substantial financial interest.

Dividends
No dividends have been paid or will be paid. The
Memorandum and Articles of Association do not permit
any profits to be distributed by way of a dividend.

Our Finances

2012 – Related Party Transactions
Company providing services

Services provided

Related Director

Total
$

-

-

-

-

Company providing services

Services provided

Related Director

Total
$

Network Printing

Printing services

Mrs L Kugel

30,692

2011 – Related Party Transactions
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The following remuneration has been paid in aggregate to the key management personnel of the company
during the year.
Key Management Personnel Remuneration
Salary
$

Non-cash benefit
$

Superannuation
$

Total
$

2012

289,890

13,500

26,090

329,480

2011

470,257

18,527

38,917

527,701

Non-cash benefit relates to motor vehicles provided to key
management personnel.
Indemnifying officers or auditor
During the financial year the company has paid an
insurance premium insuring all of its officers against
any error, misstatement or misleading statement, act or
omission or neglect or breach of duty made, committed,
attempted or allegedly made in the course of their duties
for the Company or any matter claimed against them solely
by reason of their serving the Company. The Company will
indemnify any officer for any excess contained within the
policy of insurance but not beyond the sum insured. The
limit of liability is $20,000,000 for any one claim and in the
aggregate during any one period of insurance.

The amount of premium paid is not identified separately
by the insurance broker. It is included in the total insurance
premium paid by the company for its entire insurance
coverage.
Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring
proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company
for all or any part of those proceedings.
Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is
set out on the following page.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, 29th April 2013:

S. JANKELOWITZ
Honorary Treasurer

Our Finances

G. FRIEDE
President
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Fees  Charged  
Sundry  Income  
Jewish  Communal  Appeal  
Donations  
Contribution  from  Moriah  War  Memorial  College  
Association  
Total  income  
  
  
Employee  benefit  expense  (teaching  staff)  
Employee  benefit  expense  (non-teaching  staff)  
Expenses  &  materials  
Staff  expenses  
Financial  costs  
Building  &  grounds  expense  
Other  expenses  
Contribution  to  Moriah  War  Memorial  College  
Association  
Total  expenses    
  
Profit  for  the  year      
  
Other  comprehensive  income:  
  
Total  comprehensive  income  for  the  year  
  
  
  

Note  
  
  
3  
  
3  
3  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
6,591,682  
122,446  
1,059,330  
152,211  
  
608,262  
8,533,931  
  
  
(4,588,635)  
(1,019,239)  
(913,380)  
(549,997)  
(45,902)  
(803,449)  
(613,329)  
  
-  
(8,533,931)  
  
-  
  
-  
  
-  
  
  
  

  2011  
$  
  
7,013,319  
15,397  
1,012,986  
218,000  
  
-  
8,259,702  
  
  
(3,821,959)  
(793,637)  
(814,366)  
(671,791)  
(65,471)  
(664,611)  
(562,808)  
  
(865,059)  
(8,259,702)  
  
-  
  
-  
  
-  
  
  
  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012
As at 31 December 2012
  
  
Current  assets  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  
Total  assets  
  
Current  liabilities  
Trade  and  other  payables  
Total  liabilities  
  
Net  assets  
  
Total  equity  

Note  
  
  
6  
  
  
  
7  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
188,278  
188,278  
  
  
188,278  
188,278  
  
-  
  
-  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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  2011  
$  
  
71,405  
71,405  
  
  
71,405  
71,405  
  
-  
  
-  

Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2011  
Total  comprehensive  income  for  the  year      
Balance  at  31  December  2011  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2012  
Total  comprehensive  income    for  the  year      
Balance  at  31  December  2012  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Retained  Earnings    
$  
  
-  
-  
-  
  
-  
-  
-  
  

Total  
$  
  
-  
-  
-  
  
-  
-  
-  
  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012

  
  
Cash  flow  from  operating  activities  
Receipts  from  Parents  and  Donations  
Receipts  from  Jewish  Communal  Appeal  
Interest  received  
Interest  paid  
Payments  to  suppliers  and  employees  
  
Net  cash  provided  by  operating  activities  
  
Cash  flow  from  financing  activities  
Loans  from  related  parties  
Net  cash  used  in  financing  activities  
  
Net  increase  in  cash  and  cash  equivalents  held  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  beginning  of  financial  year  
  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  end  of  financial  year  

Note  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
6  

  2012  
$  
  
7,337,777  
1,211,541  
82,940  
(45,902)  
(8,586,356)  
  
-  
  
  
116,873  
116,873  
  
116,873  
71,405  
  
188,278  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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  2011  
$  
  
7,013,319  
1,230,986  
15,397  
(65,471)  
(8,194,231)  
  
-  
  
  
53,363  
53,363  
  
53,363  
18,042  
  
71,405  

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance
with the Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Act 2001.
The Company is domiciled in New South Wales, Australia. It is a company not for gain,
limited by guarantee.
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards. A statement of
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards cannot be made due to the
company applying for the not-for-profit sector specific requirements contained in the
Australian Accounting Standards.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs,
modified where applicable by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets,
financial assets and financial liabilities. All amounts have been presented in Australian dollars
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency, unless otherwise stated.
The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. The following
is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the accounts.
  
The  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  
Future
Change in Accounting Standards

15  

Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  
The
AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and interpretations
  

that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Company has considered all
pending Australian Accounting Standards issued up to the current reporting date and believe
that
they
no significant
impact on future
financialpolicies
statements.
Note
1: have
Statement
of significant
accounting
(cont)
a.

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking
into account any discounts allowed.
Fee income is recognised as revenue when the services are delivered.

Our Finances

Contributions (including donations and government grants) received or receivable are
recognised as revenue when the company obtains control of the contribution or the right to
receive the contribution, when it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the
contribution will flow to the entity and the amount of the contribution can be measured
reliably.
  

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
b.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date by Moriah War Memorial College Association, and is
therefore shown in the financial statements of that entity. Employee benefits that are expected
to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have
been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
benefits using the government bond rate that represents expected payment.

93

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
b.

Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date by Moriah War Memorial College Association, and is
therefore shown in the financial statements of that entity. Employee benefits that are expected
to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have
been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
benefits using the government bond rate that represents expected payment.
Contributions are made by the company to an employee Superannuation Fund and are charged
as expenses when incurred. The company has no legal obligation to cover any shortfall in the
fund’s obligation to provide benefits to employees on retirement.
c.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash in hand and in banks net of
outstanding bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within financial liabilities in current liabilities on the statement of
financial position.
d.

Financial Instruments

Recognition and Initial Measurement
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date
accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by
marketplace convention.
The  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus
  

16  

transactions costs where the
instrument is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are expensed to profit or loss
Note
1: Statement
significant
policies
(cont)
immediately.
Financialofinstruments
areaccounting
classified and
measured
as set out below.
d.

Financial Instruments (cont)

Our Finances

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or
the
asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant
  
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities
are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to
another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Classification and Subsequent Measurement
i.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method.
e.

Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of Goods and
Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is included as a
current asset or a current liability in the Statement of Financial Position.
94
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST

Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is included as a
current asset or a current liability in the Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
f.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of
past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that
outflow can be reliably measured.
g.

Borrowing Costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in income in the period in which they are incurred.
h.

Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
to changes in presentation for the current financial year.
i.

Going Concern

The  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  
17  
The directors of the company have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  
  notwithstanding the limited net assets in the company. The Company, as required, receives

support from Moriah War Memorial College Association to cover any shortfall in operating
expenditure
over revenue
received.
Note
1: Statement
of significant
accounting policies (cont)
j.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
  
historical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the entity. There are no key estimates or judgements indentified in the
current or previous year.
The financial report was authorised for issue on 29 April 2013 by the Board of Management.
Note 2: Income Tax

The Company is exempt from liability to pay income tax under the provisions of the Income
Tax Assessment Act.
Note 3: Revenue
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Note 4: Remuneration of directors

No remuneration was paid to any of the Directors.

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  2012  
$  
  
8,108,680  
263,672  
  
8,372,352  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

2011  
$  
  
8,180,069  
322,860  
  
8,502,929  
  

Our Finances

  
  
  
Tuition  fees  
Compulsory  charges  
  
Total  gross  fees  
  
Less:  
Discount  &  allowances  
Subsidies  
  
Net  fees  charged  
  
Jewish  Communal  Appeal  
Donations  
Total  other  revenue  

  
(278,982)  
(1,501,688)  
  
6,591,682  
  
1,059,330  
152,211  
1,211,541  

(328,458)  
(1,161,152)  
  
7,013,319  
  
1,012,986  
218,000  
1,230,986  
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Net  fees  charged  
  
Jewish  Communal  Appeal  
Donations  
Total  other  revenue  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  

6,591,682  
  
1,059,330  
152,211  
1,211,541  

7,013,319  
  
1,012,986  
218,000  
1,230,986  

  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
188,278  

2011  
$  
  
71,405  

  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
188,278  

2011  
$  
  
18  
71,405  

Note 4: Remuneration of directors

No remuneration was paid to any of the Directors.
Note 5: Auditor’s remuneration

This cost has been borne by Moriah War Memorial College Association.
Note 6: Cash and Cash Equivalents
  
  
  
Cash  at  bank  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

Note 7: Trade and Other Payables
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
The  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  
Loans  from  associated  entities  
  
  
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  

    

Note 8: Dividends

No dividends have been paid or will be paid.
Note 9: Members Funds

The Company is limited by guarantee and does not have any share capital. Were the company
to be wound up, the Articles of Association state that each member is required to contribute a
maximum of $10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company. At 31
December 2012 the number of members was 1,855 (2011: 1,941).
Note 10: Contingent Liabilities

Our Finances

The Company is liable by virtue of existing cross guarantees for the debts incurred by the
Moriah College Building Fund, the Moriah War Memorial College Association and the Moriah
War Memorial Fund, which are secured through registered mortgages over various College
properties, both freehold and leasehold.
The Moriah War Memorial Jewish College Association Limited has provided unlimited
guarantees and indemnities to Westpac Banking Corporation in relation to the debts of the
Moriah War Memorial College Association.
Note 11: Events Subsequent to Balance Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operation of the Company, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Company in future years.
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The  Moriah  War  Memorial  Jewish  College  Association  Limited  
Notes  to  the  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31  December  2012  
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Note 12: Related Party Disclosures

The Directors of Moriah War Memorial College Association during the financial year were:
Mr G Friede
Mr M Schneider
Mr R Kaye
Dr S Morris
Mr S Jankelowitz
Mr O Freedman
Mr A Ryba (resigned May 2012)
Mrs L Ehrlich (appointed May 2012)
Mrs T Ende
Mr J Fridman

Mr M Friedgut*
Mr A Gelman
Mr R Goot AM SC (appointed May 2012)
Mrs J Lowy
Dr S Roberts
Mrs M Saunders-Weinberg*
Mr G Sher (appointed May 2012)
Mrs T Solsky
Mrs M Sonnabend (appointed May 2012)
Mr S Wilkenfeld

*Did not stand for re-election in May 2012
The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year.
Fees (and other revenue) were received by the Company from the Directors of the Company
and Director related entities under normal terms and conditions.
There are spouses of Directors of the Company who are employed by the College in the
ordinary course of its activities.
In 2011 Mrs Linda Kugel received or become entitled to receive a benefit, by reason of a
contract made by the Company or a Related Corporation with the Directors or with a firm of
which she is a member or a director, or with a Company in which she has a substantial financial
interest undertaken in the normal course of business at or less than competitive rates. The
amounts paid to the Company related to the Director are shown below:
2011  -  Related  Party  Transactions    
Company  providing  services  

Services  provided  

Related  Director  

  
Network  Printing  

  
Printing  services  

  
Mrs  L  Kugel  

Total  
$  
30,692  

During the normal course of business, loans are made to and from Moriah War Memorial
College Association and the Kehillat Moriah Incorporated. These loans are free of interest and
are payable on demand. As at 31 December 2012, there was a Nil balance on loans between the
two entities. As at 31 December 2012, there was a loan payable to Moriah War Memorial
College Association amounting to $188,278 (2011: $71,405).

Our Finances

A management fee of $608,262 has been received by Moriah War Memorial Jewish College
Association Limited from Moriah War Memorial College Association. This fee has been
calculated on the basis of an agreed formula between the entities.
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The following remuneration has been paid in aggregate to the key management personnel of
the company during the year.
Key  Management  Personnel  Remuneration    
  

Salary  

Non-cash  benefit  

$  

$  

$  

$    

2012          

289,890  

13,500  

26,090  

329,480  

2011                

470,257  

18,527  

38,917  

527,701  

  

Superannuation                                       Total  

Non-cash benefit relates to motor vehicles provided to key management personnel.
Note 13: Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated
to fund operations. The finance committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is
in line with this objective.
The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk
management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.
The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. Management
effectively manages the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and responding to
changes in these risks and in the market. There have been no changes to the strategy adopted
by management to control the capital of the entity since the previous year.
Note 14: Company Details

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:

Our Finances

The Moriah War Memorial Jewish College Association Limited
The Henry Roth Administration Building
Queens Park Road
Bondi Junction NSW 2022
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Directors’ declaration
Directors’ Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

The directors of the Association declare that:
1.

89 to
to 20,
98, are in accordance with
The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 10
the Corporations Act 2001:

a   comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;; and
b   give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 December 2012 and of
the performance for the year ended on that date of the association;; and
2.

In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is
signed for and on behalf of the Directors by:

_____________________
G. FRIEDE
President

_______________________
S. JANKELOWITZ
Honorary Treasurer

Our Finances

Dated this 29th day of April 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

For the year ended 31 December 2012

  
  
Profit  before  income  tax  
Income  tax  expense  
Profit  after  income  tax  
  
Other  comprehensive  income  
  
Total  comprehensive  income  for  the  year  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

  2012  

2011  

  

$  
  
-  
-  
-  
  
-  
  
-  

$  
  
-  
-  
-  
  
-  
  
-  

Our Finances

  

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

Our Finances

As at 31 December 2012
  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
  
Current  assets  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  
Total  current  assets  
Total  assets  
Net  assets  
Equity  
Issued  Capital  
Total  equity  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
  
-  
-  
-  
-  
  
-  
-  

$  
  
  
-  
-  
-  
-  
  
-  
-  

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies

This financial report is a special purpose financial report prepared for use by the trustees. The
trustees have determined that it is not a reporting entity.

The Trust Funds are domiciled in Australia.
Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the following Australian Accounting
Standards.
AASB 101:
AASB 110:
AASB 1031:

Presentation of Financial Statements
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Materiality

Note 2: Trust Liabilities and Right of Indemnity

The trustees act solely as trustee of the trusts and liabilities have been incurred on behalf of that
trust in the trustees capacity as trustee.
Liabilities incurred on behalf of the trust are not recognised in the financial report when it is
not probable that the trustee will have to meet any of those trust liabilities from its own
Moriah  College  Building  Fund  and  Moriah  War  Memorial  Fund  Trustee    
4  
resources. When it is probable that the trustees will have to meet some trust liabilities a liability
for the Deficiency in Trust Right of Indemnity is brought to account. Details of the trust
liabilities, the offsetting right of indemnity and any deficiency in the right of indemnity are
disclosed
by wayLiabilities
of note to the
financial
Note
2: Trust
and
Right statements.
of Indemnity (cont)

  
  
Current  liabilities  
Financial  liabilities  
Other  liabilities  
  
Total  current  liabilities  
  
Non-current  liabilities  
Financial  liabilities    
Payables  
  
Total  non-current  liabilities  
  
Total  liabilities  
  
Rights  of  indemnity  for  liabilities  incurred  on  behalf  of  the  
trustees  for  Moriah  College  Building  Fund  and  Moriah  
War  Memorial  Fund  not  recorded  in  the  financial  
statements  of  the  trustees  were:  

  
  
  
4  
5  
  
  
  
  
4  
5  
  
  
  
  
  

2012  
$  
  
1,882,000  
2,089,677  
  
3,971,677  
  
  
12,021,735  
10,055,186  
  
22,076,921  
  
26,048,598  

2011  
$  
  
1,882,000  
939,142  
  
2,821,142  
  
  
12,829,323  
13,917,355  
  
26,746,678  
  
29,567,820  

26,048,598  

29,567,820  

Our Finances

Liabilities of the Trustees for Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund
not recorded in the financial statements of the trustees were:

The assets of the trust, which lie behind the right of indemnity, are not directly available to
meet any liabilities of the trustees acting in its own right. The assets of the trust were sufficient
to discharge all liabilities of the trust at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
Note 3: Capital and leasing commitments

On 15 February 2011 the Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund exchanged contracts
for the acquisition of freehold property comprising the Moriah College site (incorporating the
existing three separate titles of land at York Road and Queens Park Road, Queens Park) which
were leased by the Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund. The property is being
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The assets of the trust, which lie behind the right of indemnity, are not directly available to
meet any liabilities of the trustees acting in its own right. The assets of the trust were sufficient
to discharge all liabilities of the trust at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
Note 3: Capital and leasing commitments

On 15 February 2011 the Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund exchanged contracts
for the acquisition of freehold property comprising the Moriah College site (incorporating the
existing three separate titles of land at York Road and Queens Park Road, Queens Park) which
were leased by the Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund. The property is being
acquired from the New South Wales State Property Authority for an acquisition price of
$27,000,000. Under the terms of the contract, an instalment payment/ deposit of $6,750,000
was paid on exchange of contracts and completion will occur on the third anniversary (ie 15
February 2014). All rent payments under the existing leases have been abated from 15 February
2012, pending completion taking place. On completion, the existing leases of the premises will
be surrendered. If the contract does not proceed to completion, (that is the contract is
terminated), for whatever reason, the deposit of $6,750,000 paid by the Trustees shall then be
applied to the rent that would otherwise have been payable under the existing leases and the
leases will remain in force for the balance of the original terms.
Capital commitment due in 2014 year

$23,609,747

A review of the facilities at the Queens Park campus has highlighted significant structure issues
relating to both the Main Awning and the Rammed Earth Wall outside the Design and
Technology Kitchen.
The Entity has committed funds for the construction of the Baronga Play Space Awning and
related remedial Rammed Earth Wall works at the Queens Park Campus. Construction
Moriah  College  Building  Fund  and  Moriah  War  Memorial  Fund  Trustee    
commenced late December 2012 and is expected to be completed in April 2013. The
anticipated cost of the works, including all ancillary fees is approximately $900,000.

5  
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Note 4: Financial liabilities
  

  

2012  

2011  

  
Current  
Westpac  Banking  Corporation  
Bank  Overdraft  
Loan  No.  13  
Loan  No.  17  
Loan  No.  21    
Loan  No.  23  
  
  
Non  Current  
Loan  No.  13  
Loan  No.  17  
Loan  No.  18  
Loan  No.  21  
Loan  No.  23  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
  
1,050,000  
100,000  
340,000  
216,000  
176,000  
1,882,000  
  
  
295,198  
4,229,991  
3,963,363  
1,947,098  
1,586,085  
12,021,735  

$  
  
  
1,050,000  
100,000  
340,000  
216,000  
176,000  
1,882,000  
  
  
393,056  
4,562,470  
3,955,051  
2,159,551  
1,759,195  
12,829,323  

Loan 13 commenced in 1995, being repayable over 20 years.
Loan 17 commenced in 2006 being for the acquisition of Lot 1, DP 701512, (DOCS), being
repayable over 20 years with the first principal repayments commencing 2012.
Loan 18 commenced in 2012 being for the acquisition of the Queens Park Road campus from
the New South Wales State Property Authority. The loan is repayable in 2014.
Loan 21 commenced in 2002, being for construction of the infill renovations of the High
School on the Queens Park Campus being repayable over 20 years.
Loan 23 commenced in 2002, being for Lot 22, DP 879582 (TAFE) being repayable over 20
years.
Loans and bank overdraft are secured by a registered first mortgage over all properties, both
freehold and leasehold, currently owned by the Moriah College Building Fund, Moriah War
Memorial Fund and Moriah War Memorial College Association.
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Note 5: Payables and other liabilities
  

  

  2012  

2011  

Loans and bank overdraft are secured by a registered first mortgage over all properties, both
freehold and leasehold, currently owned by the Moriah College Building Fund, Moriah War
Memorial Fund and Moriah War Memorial College Association.
Note 5: Payables and other liabilities
  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
Current  
Accruals  
  
  

  
  
  
  

$  
  
2,089,677  
2,089,677  

$  
  
939,142  
939,142  

  
  
  
  

  
  
10,055,186  
10,055,186  

  
  
13,917,355  
13,917,355  

Non-current  
Loan  from  associated  entity  
  

Note 6: Standby arrangements and unused credit facilities
  
  
  
Overdraft  facility  ±  fully  utilised  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
1,050,000  

2011  
$  
  
1,000,000  

Note 7: Events after the balance sheet date
Moriah  College  Building  Fund  and  Moriah  War  Memorial  Fund  Trustee    

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operation of the Trust, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Trust in future years.

6  

Note 8: Related party disclosures

The Trustees of Moriah College Building Fund during the financial year were:

  

Mr P Simons, Former Chair, Resigned 19 July 2012
Mr R Goot AM SC, Chair
Mr R N Simons, OAM
Mr R Gavshon
Mr D Goulburn
Mr G Einfeld, OAM, Appointed 25 May 2012
The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year:
An interest free loan of $10,055,186 (2011: $13,917,355) has been provided by Moriah War
Memorial College Association. These funds have been provided to allow the Trust Funds to
continue to meet their continuing financial obligations.
Note 9: Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the Trust to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated
to fund operations. The Trustee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line
with this objective.

Our Finances

Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Trustees on a regular basis.
7KH7UXVW·VFDSLWDOFRQVLVWVRIILQDQFLDOOLDELOLWLHVVXSSRUWHGE\ILQDQFLDODVVHWV0DQDJHPHQW
effectively manages the Trust·VFDSLWDOE\DVVHVVLQJWKH7UXVW·VILQDQFLDOULVNVDQGUHVSRQGLQJWR
changes in these risks and in the market. There have been no changes to the strategy adopted
by management to control the capital of the Trust since the previous year.
Note 10: Trust details

The registered office of the Trust is:
  

Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund
c/- Moriah College
Queens Park Road
Bondi Junction NSW 2022
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Trustees·GHFODUDWLRQ
Trustees’ Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

The trustees declare that the trustees are not a reporting entity and that this special purpose
financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined in Note
1 to the financial statements.
The trustees declare that:
1.

present
fairly
trust’s
the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 1103
to to
6, 107,
present
fairly
the the
trust·V
financial position as at 31 December 2012 and its performance for the year ended on
that date in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the
financial statements;;

2.

in the trustees·RSLQLRQWKHUHDUHUHasonable grounds to believe that the trust will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the trustees of the trust.

_______________________________________
Robert Goot AM SC
Trustee

Our Finances

Dated this 29th day of April 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Trustees of Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial
Fund

We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report,
of Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund (the “Funds”), which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information to the financial report and the statement by the Trustee.
Responsibility of the Trustees for the financial report

The Trustee of the Funds is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report and have determined that the accounting policies used and described in
Note 1 to the financial report, which form part of the financial report, are appropriate to
meet the requirements of the Funds and the needs of the Trustees. This responsibility
includes such internal controls as the Trustee determine are necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial report to be free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards which require us to
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement.

Our Finances

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
report, whether due to fraud or error.

Grant  Thornton  Australia  Limited  is  a  member  firm  within  Grant  Thornton  International  Ltd.  Grant  Thornton  International  Ltd  and  the  member  firms  are  not  a  worldwide  partnership.  Grant  Thornton  Australia  Limited,  together  
with  its  subsidiaries  and  related  entities,  delivers  its  services  independently  in  Australia.  

Liability  limited  by  a  scheme  approved  under  Professional  Standards  Legislation
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9

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Trust’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Trustee, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion
Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the applicable independence requirements
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.
Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War
Memorial Fund presents fairly, in all material respects, the Fund’s financial position as at 31
December 2012 and of its performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 of the financial report.
Basis of accounting and restriction on distribution and use

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which
describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has been prepared for the purpose of
complying with the trust deed. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for
another purpose. Our report is intended solely for Moriah College Building Fund and
Moriah War Memorial Fund and should not be distributed to parties other than Moriah
College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund.

Our Finances

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

A J Archer
Partner - Audit & Assurance
Sydney, 29 April 2013
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
  

Notes  

  

  

Revenue  from  operating  activities  
Total  revenue  
  
Audit  fees  
Bank  fees  
Merchant  Fees  
Borrowing  expenses  
Depreciation  
Interest  
Legal  and  professional  fees  
Rent  adjustment  
Amortisation  expense  
Other  expenses  
Total  expenditure  
  
Profit/(Loss)  from  operating  activities  
  
Profit/(Loss)  for  the  year  
  
Other  comprehensive  income:  
  
Total  comprehensive  income  /  (loss)  for  the  year  
  

2  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  

2011  

$  

$  

5,849,543  
5,849,543  
  
(10,000)  
(192)  
(35,079)  
(109,242)  
(1,542,849)  
(1,947,815)  
(3,718)  
-  
(115,442)  
(123,333)  
(3,887,670)  
  
1,961,873  
  
1,961,873  
  
-  
  
1,961,873  
  

2,463,150  
2,463,150  
  
(5,000)  
(3,882)  
(4,741)  
(71,329)  
(1,542,849)  
(1,747,385)  
(49,756)  
216,056  
(115,442)  
(666,401)  
(3,990,729)  
  
(1,527,579)  
  
(1,527,579)  
  
-  
  
(1,527,579)  
  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

As at 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Current  assets  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  
Trade  and  other  receivables  
Financial  assets  
Other  current  assets  
  
Total  current  assets  
  
Non-current  assets  
Property,  plant  and  equipment  
Financial  assets  
  
Total  non-current  assets  
  
Total  assets  
  
Current  liabilities  
Financial  liabilities  
Other  liabilities  
  
Total  current  liabilities  
  
Non-current  liabilities  
Financial  liabilities    
Payables  
  
Total  non-current  liabilities  
  
Total  liabilities  
  
Net  assets  
  
Equity  
Retained  earnings  
  
Total  equity  

Note  
  
  
  
4  
5  
6  
7  
  
  
  
  
8  
6  
  
  
  
  
  
  
9  
11  
  
  
  
  
9  
11  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  

2011  

$  
  
  
394,739  
37,384  
-  
9,993  
  
442,116  
  
  
45,039,583  
6,750,000  
  
51,789,583  
  
52,231,699  
  
  
1,882,000  
2,089,677  
  
3,971,677  
  
  
12,021,735  
10,055,186  
  
22,076,921  
  
26,048,598  
  
26,183,101  
  
  
26,183,101  
  
26,183,101  

$  
  
  
286,822  
25,966  
4,773  
23,614  
  
341,175  
  
  
46,697,873  
6,750,000  
  
53,447,873  
  
53,789,048  
  
  
1,882,000  
939,142  
  
2,821,142  
  
  
12,829,323  
13,917,355  
  
26,746,678  
  
29,567,820  
  
24,221,228  
  
  
24,221,228  
  
24,221,228  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes of Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For year ended 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2011  
Loss  for  the  year  
Total  comprehensive  income  
  
Balance  at  31  December  2011  
  
Balance  at  1  January  2012  
Profit  for  the  year  
Total  comprehensive  income  
  
Balance  at  31  December  2012  
  

Retained  
Earnings  
$  
  
25,748,807  
(1,527,579)  
(1,527,579)  
  
24,221,228  
  
  
1,961,873  
1,961,873  
  
26,183,101  
  

Total  
$  
  
25,748,807  
(1,527,579)  
(1,527,579)  
  
24,221,228  
  
  
1,961,873  
1,961,873  
  
26,183,101  
  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
  
  
  
Cash  flows  from  operating  activities  
Receipts  from  donations  and  bequests  
Occupation  fee  
State  Government  Interest  Subsidy  
Other  income  
Receipts/(payments)  in  the  course  of  operations  
Interest  paid  and  costs  of  finance    
Net  cash  provided  by  operating  activities  
  
Cash  flows  from  investing  activities  
Payment  for  deposit  on  freehold  property  
Net  cash  used  in  investing  activities  
  
Cash  flows  from  financing  activities  
Proceeds  from  borrowings  
Repayment  of  borrowings  
Loans  to  associated  entities  
Net  cash  provided  by/(used  in)  financing  activities  
  
Net  increase  in  cash  and  cash  equivalents  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  beginning  of  financial  year  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  end  of  financial  year  

Notes  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
15  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4  

  2012  
$  
  
  
4,292,417  
1,465,524  
37,056  
3,251  
(119,186)  
(896,615)  
4,782,447  
  
  
-  
-  
  
  
-  
(832,000)  
(3,842,530)  
(4,674,530)  
  
107,917  
(763,178)  
(655,261)  

2011  
$  
  
  
1,253,175  
1,100,000  
82,077  
52,789  
303,661  
(1,747,385)  
1,044,317  
  
  
(6,750,000)  
(6,750,000)  
  
  
4,000,000  
(1,770,859)  
3,849,822  
6,078,963  
  
373,280  
(1,136,458)  
(763,178)  

Our Finances

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
For the year ended 31 December 2012
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies

The financial report is a special purpose financial report prepared to satisfy the requirements of
the trust deed to prepare financial statements. The trustees have determined that the trusts are
not reporting entities.
The Trust Funds are domiciled in Australia.
Basis of preparation

The financial report of trust funds has been prepared in accordance with the following
Australian Accounting Standards:
AASB 101:
AASB 110:
AASB 1031:
  

Presentation of Financial Statements
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Materiality

Future change in Accounting Standards

The AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Company has considered all
pending Australian Accounting Standards issued up to the current reporting date and believe
that they have no significant impact on future financial statements.
Reporting basis and conventions

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs
modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, and financial assets and financial
liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.
Significant accounting policies



a.

Amalgamation

The financial report represents the amalgamation of 3 trust funds being 1951 Trust, 1959 Trust
and the 1974 Trust. The assets and liabilities of all trusts have been included in this financial
report.
b.

Property, plant and equipment

Each
of property,
plantand
andMoriah
equipment
is carriedFund
at cost or fair value less, where
Moriahclass
College
Building Fund
War Memorial
applicable,
accumulated
depreciation
impairment
losses.
Notes to theany
financial
statements
for the year and
ended
31 December
2012

6

	
  

Property	
  
Note 1: Statement
of significant
policies (cont)
Freehold
land and buildings
are shown accounting
at cost, less subsequent
depreciation for buildings and

Our Finances

impairment losses.
b.

Property, plant and equipment (cont)
Plant	
  and	
  equipment	
  

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis (being cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses).
Depreciation	
  

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives to the trust commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

	
  

&ODVVRIIL[HGDVVHW

Buildings
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Plant and equipment

'HSUHFLDWLRQUDWH
2.5%
20%

Depreciation	
  

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives to the trust commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

	
  

&ODVVRIIL[HGDVVHW
Buildings
Plant and equipment

'HSUHFLDWLRQUDWH
2.5%
20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.
An assets’ carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets’
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.
These gains or losses are included in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold,
amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained
earnings.
c.

Leases

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership
of the asset, but not the legal ownership that are transferred to the trust funds, are classified as
finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts
equal to the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the
reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful
lives or the lease term.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with
the lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight line basis.
d.

Financial assets
Recognition	
  and	
  initial	
  measurement	
  

Financial assets are recognised when the trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within
Moriah
College
Building Fund
and Moriah convention.
War Memorial Fund
7
timeframes
established
by marketplace
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument
is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments
Note
1: Statement
significant
accounting
policies
(cont)
classified
as at fair valueofthrough
profit or
loss are expensed
to profit
or loss immediately.
Financial
assets
are
classified
and
measured
as
set
out
below.
	
  
d.

Financial assets (cont)
Classification	
  and	
  subsequent	
  measurement	
  
Available-‐for-‐sale	
  financial	
  assets	
  

Our Finances

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as
such or that are not classified in any of the other categories. They comprise investments in the
equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable
payments.



Fair	
  value	
  

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.
e.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual
agreements of the instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at
fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial liabilities.
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Fair	
  value	
  

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.
e.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual
agreements of the instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at
fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial liabilities.
Other	
  financial	
  liabilities	
  

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.



f.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other shortterm highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the
Statement of Financial Position.
g.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking
into account any discounts allowed.
Contributions (including donations) received or receivable are recognised as revenue when the
trust obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, when it is
probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the entity and the
amount of the contribution can be measured reliably.
Occupation fee is recognised in revenue when the services are delivered.
Government grants are recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary
to match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate when there is
reasonable assurance that the trust will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the
grants will be received.
h.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
Moriah College
8
intended
use orBuilding
sale. Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund
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All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they
are incurred.
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Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (cont)
i.
Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial position are
shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
j.

Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current
financial year where required by accounting standards or as a result of changes in accounting
policy.
k.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
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expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the trust.

j.

Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current
financial year where required by accounting standards or as a result of changes in accounting
policy.
k.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the trust.
Ȃ Ǥ The Trustees assess impairment at each reporting date by

evaluating conditions specific to the Funds that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in use
calculations are performed in assessing the recoverable amounts.
The financial report was authorised for issue on 29 April 2013 by the Trustees.

Note 2: Revenue
  
Operating  activities  
  
Occupation  fee  
Building  fund  levy  
H.  and  A.  Rabinovitch  -  donation  
Capital  appeals  
Sponsorship,  ticket  sales  and  sundry  income  
Other  donations  
State  Government  interest  subsidy  
Total  operating  income  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

  
     
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
1,465,524  
15,900  
62,000  
3,961,921  
16,163  
255,000  
73,035  
5,849,543  

2011  
$  
  
1,100,000  
3,360  
59,000  
796,175  
157,539  
265,000  
82,076  
2,463,150  


Note 3: Income tax expense

The
income
ofBuilding
the Trust
funds
exempt
from
Income
Tax, under the provisions of Section 23
Moriah
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of
the
Income
Assessment
Act.
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Note 4: Cash and cash equivalents
  
  
Cash  at  bank  
  
  
Reconciliation  of  cash  
  
Cash  at  the  end  of  the  financial  year  as  shown  in  the  
cash  flow  statement  is  reconciled  to  items  in  the  
balance  sheet  as  follows:  
  
Cash  and  cash  equivalents  
Bank  overdrafts  
  

Note  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
9  
  

  2012  

2011  

$  
394,739  
394,739  
  

$  
286,822  
286,822  
  

  
  
394,739  
(1,050,000)  
(655,261)  

  
  
286,822  
(1,050,000)  
(763,178)  

  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
Current  
Other  Debtors  
GST  Receivable    
  

  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
36,742  
642  
37,384  

$  
  
20,592  
5,374  
25,966  

  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
Current  
Loan  ±  at  amortised  cost  
  
  
Non-current  
Deposit  paid  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
-  
-  
  
  
6,750,000  

$  
  
4,773  
4,773  
  
  
6,750,000  
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Note 5: Trade and other receivables

Note 6: Financial assets
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Other  Debtors  
GST  Receivable    
  

  
  
  

36,742  
642  
37,384  

20,592  
5,374  
25,966  

  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
Current  
Loan  ±  at  amortised  cost  
  
  
Non-current  
Deposit  paid  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
-  
-  
  
  
6,750,000  
6,750,000  

$  
  
4,773  
4,773  
  
  
6,750,000  
6,750,000  

  

  

  2012  

2011  

  

  

  

  

$  
  
9,993  
9,993  

Note 6: Financial assets


Note 7: Other current assets

Moriah
Current  College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund
  
Capitalised  borrowing  costs    
  
Notes
to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012

$  

10   
23,614  
23,614  
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Note 8: Property, plant and equipment
  2012  

2011  

  

  

  
  
Lot  1,  DP  701512,  (DOCS)  at  cost  
Less  provision  for  Amortisation  
  
  
Lot  22,  DP  879582  (TAFE)  at  cost  (including  
Improvements)  
Less  provision  for  Amortisation  
  
  
Lot  1,  Primary  School  
Building  Costs  &  Improvements  at  cost  
Less  Provision  for  Depreciation  
  
  
Rose  Bay  Campus  at  cost*  
  
Rose  Bay,  Building  Costs  and  Renovations  
Less  Provision  for  Depreciation  
  
  
Queens  Park  Campus  
Improvements  High  &  Middle  School  at  cost  
Less  Provision  for  Depreciation  
  
  
Randwick  Campus  
John  I.  Einfeld  AM  Preschool  Improvements  at  cost  
Less  Provision  for  Depreciation  
  
  
Total  Property  Plant  &  Equipment  

  
  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
8,503,830  
(602,839)  
7,900,991  
  

$  
  
8,503,830  
(517,802)  
7,986,028  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

3,040,370  
(355,637)  
2,684,733  
  
  
16,386,887  
(3,676,913)  
12,709,974  
  
189,839  
  
294,577  
(254,836)  
39,741  
  
  
39,492,158  
(17,977,853)  
21,514,305  
  
  
815,950  
(815,950)  
-  
  
45,039,583  

3,040,370  
(325,232)  
2,715,138  
  
  
16,386,887  
(3,126,521)  
13,260,366  
  
189,839  
  
294,577  
(242,725)  
51,852  
  
  
39,492,158  
(16,997,508)  
22,494,650  
  
  
815,950  
(815,950)  
-  
  
46,697,873  

*The remaining lots at Rose Bay have been retained and are being used as the site for the
Moriah College preschool - Saunders Family Campus, which commenced operation during the
financial year.
Note 9: Financial liabilities
  
  
Current  
Westpac  Banking  Corporation  
Bank  Overdraft  
Loan  No.  13  
Loan  No.  17  
Loan  No.  21    
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Loan  No.  23  
  
  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

$  
  
  
1,050,000  
100,000  
340,000  
216,000  
176,000  
1,882,000  
  

$  
  
  
1,050,000  
100,000  
340,000  
216,000  
176,000  
1,882,000  
  

*The remaining lots at Rose Bay have been retained and are being used as the site for the
Moriah College preschool - Saunders Family Campus, which commenced operation during the
financial year.
Note 9: Financial liabilities
  

  

  
  
Current  
  
Westpac  Banking  Corporation  
  
Bank  Overdraft  
  
Loan  No.  13  
  
Loan  No.  17  
  
Loan  No.  21    
  
Loan  No.  23  
  
  
  
  
  
Non  Current  
  
Loan  No.  13  
  
Loan  No.  17  
  
Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund
Loan  No.  18  
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Loan  No.  21  
  
Loan  No.  23  
  
  
  

2012

  2012  

2011  

$  
  
  
1,050,000  
100,000  
340,000  
216,000  
176,000  
1,882,000  
  
  
295,198  
4,229,991  
3,963,363  
1,947,098  
1,586,085  
12,021,735  

$  
  
  
1,050,000  
100,000  
340,000  
216,000  
176,000  
1,882,000  
  
  
393,056  
4,562,470  
11
3,955,051  
2,159,551  
1,759,195  
12,829,323  

Note 9: Financial liabilities (cont.)



Loan 13 commenced in 1995, being repayable over 20 years.
Loan 17 commenced in 2006 being for the acquisition of Lot 1, DP 701512, (DOCS), being
repayable over 20 years with the first principal repayments commencing 2012.
Loan 18 commenced in 2012 being for the acquisition of the Queens Park Road campus from
the New South Wales State Property Authority. The loan is repayable in 2014.
Loan 21 commenced in 2002, being for construction of the infill renovations of the High
School on the Queens Park Campus being repayable over 20 years.
Loan 23 commenced in 2002, being for Lot 22, DP 879582 (TAFE) being repayable over 20
years.
Loans and bank overdraft are secured by a registered first mortgage over all properties, both
freehold and leasehold, currently owned by the Moriah College Building Fund, Moriah War
Memorial Fund and Moriah War Memorial College Association.
Note 10: Standby arrangements and unused credit facilities
  
  
  
Overdraft  facility  ±  fully  utilised  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  2012  
$  
  
1,050,000  

2011  
$  
  
1,050,000  

  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
Current  
Accruals  
  
  

  
  
  
  

$  
  
2,089,677  
2,089,677  

$  
  
939,142  
939,142  

  
  
  
  

  
  
10,055,186  
10,055,186  

  
  
13,917,355  
13,917,355  

Non-current  
Loan  from  associated  entity  
  

Our Finances

Note 11: Payables and other liabilities

Note 12: Events after the balance sheet date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operation of the Fund, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the
Fund in future years.
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Note 13: Capital and leasing commitments

On 15 February 2011 the Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund exchanged contracts
for the acquisition of freehold property comprising the Moriah College site (incorporating the
existing three separate titles of land at York Road and Queens Park Road, Queens Park) which
were leased by the Trustees of the Moriah College Building Fund. The property is being
acquired from the New South Wales State Property Authority for an acquisition price of
$27,000,000. Under the terms of the contract, an instalment payment/ deposit of $6,750,000
was paid on exchange of contracts and completion will occur on the third anniversary (ie 15
February 2014). All rent payments under the existing leases have been abated from 15 February
2012, pending completion taking place. On completion, the existing leases of the premises will
be surrendered. If the contract does not proceed to completion, (that is the contract is
terminated), for whatever reason, the deposit of $6,750,000 paid by the Trustees shall then be
applied to the rent that would otherwise have been payable under the existing leases and the
leases will remain in force for the balance of the original terms.
Capital commitment due in 2014 year $23,609,747
A review of the facilities at the Queens Park campus has highlighted significant structure issues
relating to both the Main Awning and the Rammed Earth Wall outside the Design and
Technology Kitchen.
The Entity has committed funds for the construction of the Baronga Play Space Awning and
related remedial Rammed Earth Wall works at the Queens Park Campus. Construction
commenced late December 2012 and is expected to be completed in April 2013. The
anticipated cost of the works, including all ancillary fees is approximately $900,000.


Note 14: Related party disclosures

The Trustees of Moriah College Building Fund during the financial year were:


Mr P Simons, Former Chair, Resigned 19 July 2012
Mr R Goot AM SC, Chair
Mr R N Simons, OAM
Mr R Gavshon
Mr D Goulburn
Mr G Einfeld, OAM, Appointed 25 May 2012
The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year:

Our Finances

An interest free loan of $10,055,186 (2011: $13,917,355) has been provided by Moriah War
Memorial College Association. These funds have been provided to allow the Trust Funds to
continue to meet their continuing financial obligations.
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Note 15: Cash flow information
  

  

  2012  

2011  

  
Reconciliation  of  Cash  Flow  from  Operations  with  
Net  deficit  for  the  year  
Net  Profit/(Deficit)  
Non-cash  flows  in  profit  
   Depreciation  
   Amortisation  
Changes  in  assets  and  liabilities  
   (Decrease)/Increase  in  receivables  
   Decrease  in  other  assets  
   Increase  in  payables  
Cash  flows  provided  by  operations  
  

  

$  

$  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
1,961,871  
  
1,542,849  
115,443  
  
(11,418)  
18,394  
1,150,535  
4,782,447  
  

  
(1,527,579)  
  
1,542,849  
115,442  
  
24,892  
(29,396)  
918,109  
1,044,317  
  


Note 16: Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated
to fund operations. The Trustee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line
with this objective.
Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Trustees on a regular basis.
The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. Management
effectively manages the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and responding to
changes in these risks and in the market. There have been no changes to the strategy adopted
by management to control the capital of the entity since the previous year.
Note 17: Funds details

The registered office of the Funds are:
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Moriah College Building Fund and Moriah War Memorial Fund
The Henry Roth Administration Building
Queens Park Road
Bondi Junction NSW 2022
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Trustees’ Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

The trustees have determined that the trust is not a reporting entity and that this special
purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies
described in Note 1 to the financial statements.
The trustees declare that:
1.

the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 112
1 toto13,123,
present
fairly
thethe
trust’s
present
fairly
trust’s
financial position as at 31 December 2012 and its performance for the year ended on
that date in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the
financial statements;;

2.

in the trustees’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the trust will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Trustees.

_______________________________________
Robert Goot AM SC
Trustee

Our Finances

Dated this 29th day of April 2013
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